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1. Chair’s statement  
 

I write this annual report statement as interim Chair of Cambridge University 
Hospitals (CUH), having taken up the role on 01 November 2016. 
 
My thanks must go to my predecessor, Jane Ramsey, who stepped down at the end 
of October 2016 after leading the Trust on a journey of improvement that began in 
September 2015. The Trust was placed in special measures due to concerns 
regarding our financial position and after the Care Quality Commission (CQC) rated 
the Trust ‘inadequate’. Since then, a lot of hard work has gone into addressing the 
issues identified and we have made good progress. In January this year the CQC 
improved the Trust’s rating to ‘good’ and we were removed from special measures, 
which is a considerable achievement in such a short time. An achievement mainly 
of superb teams across the hospital. 
 
Once again, the CQC has rightly recognised the care provided by our staff as 
‘outstanding’ and the improved overall rating reflects their tireless efforts to 
improve our services for our patients. I would like to thank everyone at 
Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie, on behalf of myself and the Board, for the dedication 
and commitment they bring to our patients every day.  
 
We acknowledge that this improvement is only the first step in a much longer 
journey for the Trust, and are determined to build on the progress we have made 
over the coming months and years. We are very clear that, whilst the rating is 
important, what is really important is continuing high quality and improving care for 
patients. 
 
The past year has not been easy. The NHS is under more pressure than I can 
remember, with ever increasing demand for services creating pressure against 
budgets. 

 
Despite our excellent record on safety and outcomes we have also seen new 
challenges materialise around capacity and a number of patients have had to 
remain in hospital with us well beyond the date when they are fit to be discharged. 
This has led to us cancelling planned operations for reasons of patient safety, as 
beds were needed for emergency admissions. However, we recognise and are sorry 
for the delays this caused for some of our patients. Also, since our performance 
affects our finances, this has meant we have not received income for those 
operations, and that has been an extra challenge for us. 

 
The Trust continues to have well-documented financial challenges, which the Board 
and organisation have been addressing. After continued strict cost controls and 
developing a detailed financial recovery plan, our staff have successfully delivered 
£50.4m in savings and this has enabled us to achieve our forecast deficit of £53.1m 
which is £3.2m ahead of our plan for 2016/17. 

 
Our objective for the next financial year is to repeat this achievement, as we have 
set ourselves another ambitious Cost Improvement Programme target of £49m and 
thereby achieve a planned deficit of £42m as part of our on-going aim to eliminate 
the underlying deficit we are carrying. Eliminating the deficit will take us beyond 
2017/18. 
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As ever, we acknowledge that the Trust cannot address all the issues it faces alone. 
We have been pleased to have the support of our partners and stakeholders 
throughout the year. This has ensured that patients see the right person as soon as 
possible, with no long waits for treatment, and are sent home from hospital at a 
time that is right for them. 

 
We continue to engage with our partners across the local health system, working as 
part of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan, on the wider picture of how services can be improved across primary care, 
community care and social care, as well as in our hospitals. We also continue to 
work closely with our partners on the Cambridge Biomedical Campus and as a 
member of Cambridge University Health Partners to develop research, education, 
and innovation in healthcare that will lead to the treatments of the future. 
 
2016 marked the 250th anniversary of Addenbrooke’s Hospital. Events throughout 
the year celebrated the achievements of the hospital and its staff, and were great 
opportunities to strengthen our relationship with the city, staff, patients, our local 
community and our partners; this will be the lasting legacy from our anniversary 
year. 
 
Looking to the future, it is important to recognise that everything we do is focused 
on improving the quality, safety and experience of care for our patients. Working 
with our staff and local partners we are developing a new strategy for the 
organisation, CUH Together, as we need to change the way we do things; becoming 
more innovative and developing more cost effective ways of delivering services for 
our patients on a continuous basis, rather than having to face cost savings year 
after year. 
 
Our aim is to build on the progress we have made so far that has enabled our 
rating of ‘good’ and become an ‘outstanding’ organisation, and it is intended  that 
our strategy will take us there. 
 
We have identified four main areas under which all development and improvement 
will sit: 
 
• Improving patient journeys  
• Working with our communities  
• Strengthening the organisation  
• Contributing nationally and internationally.  

 
I look forward to working on this together with staff, patients and our partners to 
strengthen the organisation further and deliver a sustainable future for CUH. 
 
To summarise, the Trust has made excellent progress in 2016/17 but the year has 
also been one of challenge, not just for CUH but for its partners in the local and 
national health and social care economy. Like other NHS organisations we are 
subject to considerable external pressures, but as we continue our improvement 
journey our aim is to realise much more than a passed inspection. It is to explore 
on-going ways to improve our quality of care and patient experience, and look 
forward to the future as a global leader in healthcare with our partners.  
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Such improvement could not have happened without a great deal of commitment 
and hard work. I would like to take this opportunity to express my personal thanks 
to our staff, patients and local partners, local MPs Heidi Allen, Daniel Zeichner and 
Lucy Frazer, stakeholders, and the people of Cambridgeshire for their continuing 
support and dedication in moving our organisation forward. 

 
 

 
 

Mike More 
CUH Chair 
(Interim Chair November 2016 to April 2017; Chair from April 2017) 
 



Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
 

 
10 

2. Performance report 
 
 Overview 
 
2.1 Purpose of the overview 

 
The overview is intended as a short summary to understand the organisation, its 
purpose, the key risks to the achievement of its objectives, and how it has 
performed during the year. 
 

2.2 Statement from the Chief Executive  
 
First and foremost, CUH is about patients. It is a local hospital for people within its 
district general hospital catchment area, as well as a national and regional centre 
for patients requiring specialist treatment in a number of specialties. This year has 
been one of improvement and achievement for CUH and its staff, together with its 
patients and partners, against a background of change for the NHS, our local health 
and care system, and opportunities to develop research, teaching and innovation in 
the Cambridge cluster.  
 
In early 2017 the Trust’s overall rating with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
was improved from ‘Inadequate’ to ‘Good’ and the Trust was removed from Special 
Measures. This was a result of a tremendous effort from staff throughout the 
organisation, working with our partners, and their commitment was reflected in the 
CQC rating of our care for our patients as ‘Outstanding’. We are committed to 
continuing to do more to improve the quality of our care and live our values of 
Together – Safe, Kind, Excellent.    
 
As well as quality improvements, we have seen significant progress around financial 
performance. The Trust delivered £50.4m of savings which enabled us to achieve a 
deficit of £53.1m, £3.2m ahead of our plan, and improved from the £84.3m deficit 
last year. For the coming year, the Trust has another ambitious cost improvement 
target of £49m to help us achieve a planned deficit of £42m, by continuing to focus 
on good management, innovation, creativity and engaging with stakeholders.  
Our performance on waiting times has also improved. Cancer waiting times targets 
have remained on track throughout the year and progress has also been 
maintained in Referral to Treatment times.  Considering the increase in demand for 
our services, this is a particularly significant achievement. This has been a 
challenging year with respect to increasing demand for our emergency services and 
the difficulty in discharging patients back into the community. This impacted on the 
number of beds available in the hospital and led to the cancellation of some 
planned operations. As a result of a large amount of work throughout the 
organisation and with system partners, the Trust has been able to maintain the 
95% performance standard with respect to the four hour Emergency Department 
target throughout the last two weeks of the financial year. This performance has 
continued into the new financial year and we now need to ensure that these good 
results are made sustainable.  
 
This year has seen improvements for the Trust in the National Staff Survey, with 
the overall engagement score increasing for the second successive year. The Trust 
also remains above the national average as a place that our staff would recommend 
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both to work and to be treated. However, there are a number of areas where we 
will continue to work with staff to improve their experience, particularly in relation 
to discrimination and equality and diversity.  
 
In longer term planning, we have defined the outline of a five year strategy for the 
organisation, in collaboration with internal and external stakeholders. There are 
four strategic programmes of work: improving patient pathways, working with our 
communities, strengthening the organisation, and contributing nationally and 
internationally. As we move into the year ahead, we are focusing on shaping and 
delivering the strategy with our staff, through the top 100 leaders in the 
organisation, and investing widely in staff education, development and training.  
We will continue to build on the progress made this year in quality, performance 
and finance, and work with our partners locally and nationally on research, training, 
education, and innovation in healthcare that will lead to the treatments of the 
future. Our leading role in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP) will continue, as will our commitment to working as part 
of Cambridge University Health Partners and the Cambridge Biomedical Campus to 
drive the major contribution of Cambridge to UK life sciences.   

 

 
 
Roland Sinker 
CUH Chief Executive 
25 May 2017 
 

2.3 Purpose and history 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH), including both 
Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie hospitals, was one of the first foundation trusts to be 
authorised under the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) 
Act 2003, and came into being in July 2004.  
Our constitution defines our principal purpose as ‘the provision of goods and 
services for the purposes of the health service in England’.  
The Trust has its foundation in Addenbrooke’s Hospital, which opened in October  
1766 in Trumpington Street, Cambridge, as one of the first provincial teaching 
hospitals in the country. This year we marked the 250th anniversary at a reception 
at the Fitzwilliam Museum opposite our original site. By the 1950s, the hospital was 
experiencing difficulty accommodating the expansion generated by the introduction 
of the NHS, and moved to Hills Road. It was officially opened by Her Majesty Queen 
Elizabeth II in 1962.  
Today, CUH has over 1,000 beds and 9,000 members of staff. We are one of the 
largest and best known trusts in the country. The ‘local’ hospital for our community, 
delivering care through  Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie, CUH is also a leading 
national centre for specialist treatment; a government-designated comprehensive 
biomedical research centre; a partner in one of six academic health science centres 
in the UK – Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP); and a university 
teaching hospital with a worldwide reputation.  
Building on these different elements, CUH’s vision is to be one of the best academic 
healthcare organisations in the world. 
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Our priorities focus on a quality service, which is all about people – patients, staff 
and partners. Our values – ‘Together – safe kind excellent’ – are at the heart of 
patient care, defining the way we work and behave. 
We are grateful to Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust (ACT) for its financial support 
and the fundraising efforts of everyone within the Trust, and in the wider local 
community, who raise charitable funds which help us to provide improved services 
for our patients. Our fundraising efforts received a huge boost from a special dinner 
held at Trinity College in September 2016 to mark our 250th anniversary and we are 
very grateful to the organisers. 
 

2.4 Key risks 
Key risks are identified by the Board of Directors using the board assurance 
framework (BAF). At the end of the year under report, the two most significant 
risks to achieving the organisation’s objectives which have been identified by the 
Board of Directors are firstly, insufficient capacity and demand management to 
deliver safe, timely and appropriate patient care and secondly that the  Trust 
Estates Strategy is not aligned to the Trust Strategy and Clinical Services Strategy 
resulting in poor, compromised or delayed investment decisions which may result in 
statutory and regulatory compliance failures preventing delivery of services . 
The BAF provides the Board of Directors with assurance that there is in place a 
sound system of internal control to safeguard public and private investment, the 
Trust’s assets, patient safety and service quality. 
The design, content and use of the BAF were reviewed during 2016/17 to ensure 
the Board’s attention was focused on its principal risks and on actions in hand to 
address gaps in control and assurance. 
Each Executive Director reviews the risks against their portfolio once per month or 
more often if required. Risks are also reviewed in divisional meetings and at a trust-
wide meeting of senior managers. Each risk on the BAF is assigned to a board 
assurance committee. The review of the BAF risks is included in the terms of 
reference of the board assurance committees. Each committee reviews the risks 
regularly in their meetings. The BAF is presented each month by the Chief 
Executive to the Board of Directors. 
During the year the Audit Committee changed its process for reviewing risk, to 
require Executive Directors to present to the Committee on the totality of the risk 
portfolio within their remit, and to answer questions about the controls and 
assurances together with mitigating actions being taken to manage those risks.  
The processes outlined ensures that the BAF is a living document, representing the 
issues of greatest concern to the Board of Directors. 

 
Table 01 Board assurance framework (BAF) 
The top two ’red’ risks identified in the 2016/17 BAF as reviewed by the Board of 
Directors on 12 April 2017 were as follows: 
 
Risk theme 1  
Insufficient capacity and demand management to deliver safe, timely and appropriate 
patient care. 

Principal risks 
 
Key controls 

 
Board assurance 

 
Overcrowding in the 
Emergency Department 

 
ED pressures Action Plan.   
 

 
Monthly Integrated Board report 
on relevant indicators and other 
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(ED) 
 
Insufficient adult and 
paediatric bed and theatre 
capacity to deliver required 
clinical activity resulting in a 
poor care environment for 
patients (eg: outliers): lack 
of isolation facilities, a poor 
patient experience, missed 
national performance 
standards and targets and 
reduced income. 
 
 
Vulnerability heightened by 
population growth, an 
ageing demographic and 
limited control over 
community provision. 
 
Proposed budget reduction 
of c£15m in local adult 
social care provision in 
2016/17,  risking delaying 
inpatients’ transfer of care 
into the community (DTOC).  
   
System responsiveness is 
inadequate.  
 

Patient Flow Programme Board in 
place with fortnightly meetings 
approved at Board on 21 Oct 2015 
 
Assistance from the Improvement 
Emergency Care Programme Team 
in developing plans and clinical 
engagement 
 
Monthly A&E Delivery Board in 
place 
 
 
 
 
Representation from external 
partners in support of 4 hour 
standard performance and 
reduction in DTOC numbers to 
deliver Trust capacity.     
 
SAFER bundle launched Trust 
wide. 
 
24/7 active management of 
capacity and activity through the 
Ops centre and on-call 
management team. 
 
Escalation calls with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and local 
system as required. 
 
Some Hinchingbrooke capacity 
now being realised. 
Activity plans for five years’ ahead 
developed by divisions and co-
ordinated through business 
planning.  Capacity requirement 
forecasting in place.   
 
Weekly CCG-led group overseeing 
implementation of system-
resilience plans to manage 
emergency pathways. 
 
Escalation Policy.  
 
DTOC delays reported and 
monitored each week with 
attribution to specific councils and 
CCGs. 
 
Initiatives underway to increase 
sheltered housing, supply of 
residential and nursing places – 
eg. Healthy Towns Vanguard. 
 
Additional domiciliary and interim 
care purchased to support 
discharge of DTOC 
 
Expansion of paediatric bed base. 
 
East of England Repatriation Policy 
revised and recirculated July 2016.   
 
Internal professional Standards re-
launched July 2016. 

targets affected by capacity 
pressures.  Reviewed by Finance 
and Performance and Quality 
Committees. 
 
On-going support from Emergency 
Care Improvement Programme. 
  
A&E Delivery Action Plan 
 
Work commissioned on increasing 
community rehabilitation capacity, 
re-ablement and continuing care. 
 
 
Patient Flow Programme Board in 
place, non-elective length of stay 
being driven by ward discharge 
targets. 
 
Regular assessment of escalation 
triggers across the system. 
 
Sustainability and transformation 
Programme.  
 
 
Red and Green Tools on eHospital 
being used by all wards and 
monitored by Divisions.  
 
Launch of C3 – command, control 
and capacity. The purpose is to 
support divisions to release IP bed 
capacity as early as possible 
within the day. Constraints to 
discharge will be identified and 
assessed through the senior 
resources panel consisting of  
Medical Director, Chief Nurse and 
Chief Operating Officer.  
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Work with Medical Director, 
Divisional Directors and Clinical 
Directors on clinical criteria for 
discharge (CCD) to ensure timely 
discharge of patients by nursing 
teams and that agreed parameters 
have been met.  
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Risk Theme 2  
Trust Estates Strategy is not aligned to the Trust Strategy and Clinical Services Strategy 
resulting in poor, compromised or delayed investment decisions which result in statutory 
and regulatory compliance failures preventing delivery of services 

Principal risks 
 
Key controls 

 
Board assurance 

 
The Trust takes short-term 
estates decisions that 
compromise the longer-term 
Trust strategy.  
 
Investment decisions do not 
deliver long term value. 
 
Non-compliance with 
statutory and regulatory 
estate requirements (water 
management, fire safety 
including A Block, 
ventilation, electrical 
infrastructure, asbestos, 
health and safety) resulting 
in harm to patients, visitors 
or staff and/or statutory 
notices being given to the 
Trust. 
 
Energy infrastructure 
resilience fails resulting in 
service closure.  
 

 
Director of Strategy, 
Transformation and Major Projects 
developing Trust Strategy and 
Clinical Services Strategy  
 
Investment Committee review all 
material investments above 
individual delegated authority 
limits. 
 
Capital programme approved 
annually by Trust Board 
 
Capacity Steering Group 
scrutinises space allocation. 
 
Capital Advisory Board prioritise 
capital programme advised by sub 
groups considering equipment, 
estates and IT. 
 
Compliance dashboard reporting 
 
EPRIC returns provide comparative 
performance measures 
 
Carter Model Hospital benchmarks 
identify potential outliers subject 
to data validation 
 
Hospital Technical Memorandum 
compliance considered through 
Authorising Engineer 
 
External regulatory reviews 
 

 
Finance and Performance 
Committee to receive quarterly 
estates report 
 
Essentia Ltd commissioned to 
review current investment plans, 
provide high level assessment of 
forward investment strategy, 
assess capital development 
management in the context of 
developing a five year capital 
strategy and to provide guidance 
on requirements for robust capital 
management going forward 
 
Capacity Steering Group, 
Investment Committee and 
Capital Advisory Board provide 
oversight of capital developments 
 
Compliance dashboard and other 
estates performance metrics 
reported quarterly to Finance and 
Performance Committee and 
compliance dashboard presented 
to Quality Committee 
 
Authorised engineer assurances 
 
External regulatory review and 
reporting reported through 
compliance team 

 

 
2.5 Going concern statement  

The Trust has considered the situation with regard to ‘going concern’ and after 
making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that CUH will have 
access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 
This assessment is based on the fact that there remains the anticipation of the 
provision of services in the future. All of the Trust’s principal contracted 
commissioners have signed the NHS standard contract for the provision of services 
at CUH for 2017/18. The existence of these contracts and the contractual obligation 
of the commissioners to pay for the services provided means that the directors 
have a reasonable expectation that adequate financial resources are available.  
In relation to the forecast deficit position and its impact on the Trust’s cash flow, 
the Department of Health has been providing the Trust with on-going cash support 
in the form of a working capital facility and the directors expect that this support 
will continue throughout 2017/18. 
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It is for these reasons that the directors continue to adopt the ‘Going Concern’ basis 
in preparing the accounts. Further details are set out in Note 1.2 of the financial 
statements. 

 

 Performance analysis 
 

2.6 Performance management approach 
The Trust’s approach is based on our improvement plan with clear priorities, 
objectives and metrics. A process is in place to ensure staff are clear about the 
priorities, they can be used for reporting to our commissioners and regulators, and 
a subset can be identified that provides a clear and simple quality message to our 
patients and the wider public through our quality account. 
Our five priorities (well-led, safe, effective, caring and responsive) remain the key 
headings in our quality account. The improvement plan correlates with the 
integrated performance report prepared for the Board of Directors, our Quality 
Account and individuals’ objectives.  
The key indicators used in this process cover leadership and accountability, 
strategy, quality improvement, well-led, safe, effective, caring, responsive, 
operational capability and financial recovery.  
The Board of Directors will use this information to improve the quality of care and 
enhance productivity through the regular monthly divisional Board meetings, which 
monitor performance and follow-up on action plans. 

 
2.7 Performance analysis for the year  

 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection and improvement plan 
CUH was placed in special measures by Monitor in September 2015, after the Trust 
was rated ‘Inadequate’ by the CQC following a comprehensive inspection of all 
services. In February 2016 the CQC returned to the Trust for an interim inspection 
of areas rated inadequate in September 2015. Following the interim inspection the 
Trust’s rating was changed from ‘Inadequate’ to ‘Requires improvement’ due to the 
significant improvements demonstrated by the Trust since the previous inspection.  

 
Key findings from the February 2016 CQC inspection 
 
• The issue of high levels of nitrous oxide in the delivery suite, which was raised 

during the CQC inspection in April 2015, had been addressed through the 
installation of a nitrous oxide scavenging system. Monitoring had shown this to 
be effective. Other equipment within the unit was all serviced and had been 
appropriately maintained.  

• Midwifery staffing levels had been reviewed, which led to an increase of nine 
midwifes and six health care support workers in the unit.  

• New leadership within the outpatients department had a clear view of the risks 
within the department and a strategy for addressing these. A new governance 
and management structure gave full oversight of the Trust’s improvement plan.  

• Governance in maternity had improved with a clear view of the unit’s risks and 
key performance data now being collected. However, there was no long term 
plan in maternity to manage capacity and demands on services.  
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• Neonatal early warning scores were still not being consistently completed or 
recorded.  

• The outpatients department had risk assessed and reviewed the records of all 
patients  with an outstanding appointment to ensure patients were seen in a 
timely way based on relative clinical risk. However, there continued to be a 
backlog of appointments within outpatients.  

• There was a general improvement in referral to treatment times (RTT) and 
against other waiting time standards. However, the Trust was still failing to 
meet agreed RTT targets, some diagnostic test waiting times and was just 
below the national standard on one measure of cancer waiting times.  

• There was on-going cancelled surgery though the number was on a downward 
trajectory and represented improved performance since the CQC inspection in 
April 2015.  

 
The CQC raised four areas where the Trust must improve:  
• Compliance with mandatory training, including safeguarding, for maternity staff  
• Completion, recording and response to neonatal early warning observations  
• Feedback to staff on incidents in their area or that are relevant to them in their 

work  
• Awareness among all staff of their responsibilities under Duty of Candour.  

 
The CQC also recommended that the Trust should improve in the following three 
areas:  
• Provision of information technology for the community midwifery teams 
• Provision of consultant hours on the delivery suite in relation to national 

guidance 
• Collection of data in relation to delayed induction of labour, and acting on this 

data 
 

In September 2016 the CQC returned to the Trust and undertook a full 
comprehensive re-inspection of all services. Following this inspection the Trust was 
rated ‘Good’. As a result of the improved overall rating and improvements within 
the overall plan the Trust hosted a CQC summit in January 2017 and was 
subsequently taken out of special measures on 23 January 2017. 

 
Key findings from the September 2016 CQC inspection 
 
The services provided by the Trust were rated ‘Good’ overall. However, the CQC 
raised areas where CUH must improve (three of which were raised as requirement 
notices under the Health and Social Care Act Regulations 2014): 
• Secure storage of medicines (requirement notice under Regulation 12 HSCA 

(RA) Regulations 2014 Safe care and treatment) 
• Audit (and actions taken following audit) of end of life care services 

(requirement notice under Regulation 17 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Good 
governance) 

• Documentation of resuscitation decisions, specifically in relation to our own 
policy and the legal framework of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (requirement 
notice under Regulation 11 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Need for consent)  

• Responding to complaints 
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The report also highlighted areas where the Trust should take action to improve, 
including: 
• Environment and staffing in the emergency department relating to caring for 

children 
• Staffing levels in the specialist palliative care team 
• Mandatory training and safeguarding training 
• Delayed discharges and discharges that occur between the hours of 10pm and 

7am in the critical care and intensive care units 
• Implementing the actions from the Trust’s safeguarding review  
• Consultant hours in maternity 
• Referral to treatment time performance including for cancer services and 

reducing the number of cancelled operations 
• The response rate for the Friends and Family Test 
• The risk of confidential information leaks 
• Diversions of high risk deliveries in maternity services 
• Time for end of life patients to be discharged to their preferred place of care 
• Checking and safety testing of equipment 
 
The CQC also highlighted areas of outstanding practice within CUH: 
• The weekly ‘music and movement’ classes on ward J2, which help meet the 

holistic needs of patients during their long-term recovery 
• The outstanding facilities of the teenage cancer unit 
• The mobile phone application called “Choose Well”, which offers guidance on 

waiting times and hospital services across Cambridge in order to improve the 
patient experience and offer choices in health care 

• The development of a crowd prediction modelling tool to enable the Trust to 
understand and map patient flow through the emergency department 

• The Charitable Trust initiative of setting up a trauma ICU centre in Burma 
• The initiative for ‘Family Facetime’ to enable mums on the Obstetric Close 

Observation Area (OCOA) who are too unwell to visit their baby on the neonatal 
intensive care unit to receive a video link via Facetime with their baby. 

• The bereavement follow up scheme 
 

Table 02 
Summary of the CQC’s findings from the interim inspection in February 
2016 

 
 



Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
 

 
19 

Table 03 
Summary of the CQC’s findings from the full comprehensive re-inspection in 
September 2016 

 
 

This is a substantial improvement over a short period of time for which our team 
have rightly been applauded. 

 
Improvement plan 
Following submission to NHS improvement (then known as Monitor) in October 
2015, a comprehensive improvement plan, encompassing all of our CQC quality 
improvement actions along with Monitor undertakings was driven forward 
throughout the organisation. The plan set out our five thematic priority areas for 
improvement which developed into our existing CUH Together Strategy for our 
forward journey. 
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CUH Together 

 
 
CUH Together combines all future CUH improvement activities under our four 
strategic programmes. Successful implementation will require the development and 
embedding of a single approach to improvement across the organisation, beginning 
in the first quarter of 2017/18 with a small number of pilot improvement teams 
focussed on specific areas under the four programmes.  
 
In support of CUH Together, through organisational development programme work 
we have co-designed with CUH staff agreed ways of working that will guide our new 
Improvement Teams: 

- Choose to Improve 
- Pull together as a team 
- Make good and timely decisions 
- Be trusted and accountable 
- Be open and learn from our mistakes 

 
The Chief Nurse and the senior nursing leadership team are working to align the 
nursing, midwifery and allied health professionals’ strategy and priorities to the 
CUH Together strategy. 
 
The behaviours underpinning these will co-exist with our Trust values, which remain 
Together - Safe, Kind and Excellent. 
 

 Patient Safety Improvement Plan 2016/17 
 

The Patient Safety Improvement Plan (PSIP) is a programme designed to deliver 
continuous clinical quality improvement initiatives. Key aspects of the programme 
were intended to be led by the new clinical quality improvement team; however, 
due to the dissolution of this team the implementation of this programme was 
curtailed. Nonetheless, the following aspects of the programme have been 
progressed by the safety and quality support team over 2016/17. 
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Learning and Improving from safety data:  
Risk Management 
In the last 12 months the continued implementation of our QSiS electronic risk 
management system has been successfully achieved with the following new 
modules now live: risk register; clinical audit; serious incidents; and actions. A risk 
management improvement plan is in progress to ensure we continue to develop our 
risk management systems and processes to enhance safety learning. 
 

Serious Incident investigations 
The serious incident process has been reviewed and an improvement 
programme is underway. Milestones achieved in 2016/17 are: a new policy for 
incidents requiring investigation, including serious incidents; a new root cause 
analysis (RCA) training programme has created 70 RCA trained staff capable of 
leading serious incident investigations; QSiS aligned to national definitions of 
serious incidents; SI action plan module live on QSiS; executive led serious incident 
decision making and report sign-off; and improved oversight of and compliance 
with duty of candour regulations. The remaining serious incident improvement 
programme milestones will be implemented by March 2018. 

 
Reducing avoidable mortality 
From April 2017, NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts must collect and publish, on a 
quarterly basis, specified information on deaths, including those that are assessed 
as more likely than not to be due to problems in care, and evidence of learning and 
action that is happening as a consequence of this information. 
In 2016 the trust has been preparing for this national launch date with the 
formation of a Mortality Surveillance Committee. In 2017/18 this group will 
implement a new mortality surveillance policy ensuring all deaths are reviewed 
using the structure judgement review methodology. This will be supported by a 
training programme and a central electronic database to collate information to 
support patient safety improvement. 

 
Improving clinical effectiveness: 
Deteriorating Patient 
The Recognise and Respond Committee oversees all aspects of care relateing to the 
deteriorating patient. In 2016 it ensured the successful implementation of the 
National Early Warning Scoring (NEWS) systems via the Rapid Respond Team. 

 
Reducing mortality from Sepsis 
The Sepsis Action Group is a workstream that reports to and is supported by the 
Recognise and Respond Committee. Phase one of the sepsis programme 
commenced in 2016 and consisted of the implementation of the ‘sepsis six’ care 
bundle in the Emergency Department (pilot site). Over 2016/17 the pilot area has 
been used to develop functions within Epic to both alert staff to the possibility of 
sepsis and then to guide staff to implement the six elements of the sepsis care 
bundle.  
The ED has achieved 76% (February 2017) compliance with the sepsis care bundle 
and 100% for screening of all patients for sepsis at the point of triage. Considering 
the context of the operational pressures.  This is a commendable performance by 
the ED team. 
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Phase two of the sepsis programme will begin in 2017/2018. This consists of rolling 
out the sepsis six bundle to inpatient areas across the Trust, using the sepsis Epic 
order set and Epic reporting functions. Phase two will be supported by the 
appointment of a sepsis nurse to lead the project in collaboration with funded time 
for the sepsis Clinical Lead.  
 

Focussing on the Patient Safety Improvement Plan for 2017/18 
The Patient Safety Improvement Plan (PSIP) is a continuous programme of 
improving clinical effectiveness, reducing harm and creating a mature patient safety 
culture. In the next 12 months the clinical quality improvement team will be re-
invested in and will lead the clinical quality improvement aspects of the PSIP going 
forward.  
The PSIP priorities for 2017/18 will be to continue the work begun in the last 12 
months (as outlined above) and will also implement a new initiative, the National 
Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures.  
 
The three key Patient Safety Improvement Plan priorities for 2017/18 are: 

• National Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures (NatSSIPs) 
• Mortality 
• Sepsis care bundle 

 
Recovery Project Management Office (PMO) 
To support the recovery approach the Trust continues to have in place a single PMO 
to oversee recovery across all five domains inspected by the CQC. The key benefits 
of this are: 
• alignment across all domains of the Trust's recovery, assuring that the 

interdependencies are accounted for 
• robust governance arrangements, including clear roles and responsibilities 
• risk management and strategic alignment 
• plan development, detailed plans and rigorous standardised reporting 
• clear coordination and a good engagement process 
• providing challenge and support 
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Table 04 
Overview of the PMO governance process  

 
 

 Financial performance  
 
The Trust’s financial results for 2016/17 were better than planned, with a deficit for 
the financial year of £53.1m (plan £56.3m).  The Trust is currently rated within 
segment 3 of NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework, which represents 
an improvement from its previous rating of 4 and reflects the fact that the Trust is 
no longer in special measures.  The plan included a very ambitious cost 
improvement plan of £49m, which the Trust overachieved by delivering £50.4m of 
savings.  £43.6m (86.5%) of these savings have a recurrent benefit, with £6.8m 
(13.5%) being delivered non-recurrently.   
The Trust’s deficit continues to be the result of a number of challenges, both local 
to the organisation and reflected nationally.  However, during 2016/17 the Trust 
also benefitted from £18.2m of Sustainability and Transformation Fund income, 
which is non-recurrent in nature and is earned throughout the year as a result of 
the achievement of certain key targets.  The Trust also returned to Payment by 
Results (rather than block contracts) for 2016/17, which means it was largely paid 
for the clinical activity undertaken during the year. 
 
 
 

6

Overview of PMO governance process

1. Identify potential work stream and determine quality improvement and 
consider any additional buy-in from stakeholders.

2. Draft workbook (in line with guidance in right hand table) and complete 
QIA sheet whilst including any relevant financial phasing.

3. Obtain formal sign off of the workbook (detail to the right).

4. Provide workbook to the PMO (pmo@addenbrookes.nhs.uk) for review 
and formal feedback.

5. Address feedback received from the PMO, detailing the changes made to 
the documentation on the feedback form received from the PMO to facilitate 

more efficient secondary review upon return to PMO.

7. If approved by QIA Committee the scheme will progress to “signed-off” 
on the Quality Tracker. Workbooks not approved will be returned with 

comments to the Project Leads.

6. Once workbook has been approved by the PMO it will be presented to the 
QIA Committee for approval.

Level of detail of workbook to be dictated by level of quality 
improvement (governance cannot legislate for materiality but local 
judgement to be used).

Documentation 
required Sign off required by

Full workbook
Project brief with full 
workbook including 
QIA and financial 
phasing (if 
applicable).

- Clinical Lead (if applicable)
- Executive Sponsor

Condensed
workbook
Project brief, QIA and 
financial risk.

- Clinical Lead (if applicable)
- Executive Sponsor

Action Log - Clinical Lead (if applicable)
- Executive Sponsor

The commissioning team and divisional head of finance should be 
sighted on schemes if there is additional income.
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Financial control has remained a strong focus throughout the year and has 
concentrated on the following areas: 

• Short-term cost control measures – these have been the centralisation and 
robust scrutiny of the majority of Trust expenditure, with inbuilt quality and 
safety safeguards 

• Enhanced cost improvement programme (CIP) governance and delivery, to 
ensure that in-year savings are maximised 

• Cash management – making sure that the Trust is using its cash most 
effectively 

 
These measures have been effective in significantly improving the financial position 
of the Trust and this success has been reflected in the Regulator’s decision to take 
the Trust out of special measures during the year. 
 
Operational performance  
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Compliance with the emergency 
department 4-hour standard ≥95% 90.2% 83.4% 

There were 111,067 attendances to the Major A&E department on site in 2016/17, 
1.9% growth on 15/16. We have also treated 38,881 patients who attended the 
local Minor Injuries Units. There is a nationally mandated target to see 95% of 
patients within four hours. During 2016/17 our performance against this standard 
deteriorated to 83.4% across the year, but recovered to 94.1% by year end (March 
data).  

 

60.0%

65.0%

70.0%

75.0%

80.0%

85.0%

90.0%

95.0%

100.0%

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

A
pr

-1
5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n-

15
Ju

l-1
5

A
ug

-1
5

S
ep

-1
5

O
ct

-1
5

N
ov

-1
5

D
ec

-1
5

Ja
n-

16
Fe

b-
16

M
ar

-1
6

A
pr

-1
6

M
ay

-1
6

Ju
n-

16
Ju

l-1
6

A
ug

-1
6

S
ep

-1
6

O
ct

-1
6

N
ov

-1
6

D
ec

-1
6

Ja
n-

17
Fe

b-
17

M
ar

-1
7

At
te

nd
an

ce
s 

Emergency Department Four Hour Standard (Minor Injury 
Units managed by CUH from July 2015) 

Total attendances (all Types) % In 4 hours (all Types)



Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
 

 
25 

Deterioration in performance was first noted from Quarter 4 2015/16, and 
continued at this level throughout most of the year; there was a brief improvement 
in August 2016, followed by a more sustained improvement in March 2017.  Across 
Quarter 1 and 2 attendances saw a 6% growth trend on the previous year, which 
started to slow from October 2016. Within our Type 1 Major A&E department we 
have seen much higher growth within more complex patient groups: 

• Ambulance arrivals are up 6%  
• Over 85 years attendances are up 10%  
• Mental health attendances are up 15%  
• Paediatrics attendances are up 10%  

 

Admissions from the Emergency Department with a Length of Stay (LOS) ≥1 day 
have grown by 2.6%. However, for the over 85 year old population with LOS ≥1 
day we have seen a growth of 9.2%. In January 2017, we saw the highest number 
of over 85 year olds admitted via the Emergency Department that we have 
recorded (611).  

The chart below shows the correlation in the deterioration of the 4 hour 
performance with the increase in bed days lost due to Delayed Transfers of Care 
(DTOC). With the growing admission rates amongst the elderly population, the 
Trust has experienced significantly increased numbers of bed days lost which have 
been 54.2% higher than in 2015/16. These factors impact on the ability to 
discharge patients from the hospital, increasing occupancy, and preventing new 
patients from accessing hospital beds from the Emergency Department.  
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2016/17 has been a challenging year for the Emergency pathway and delivery of 
the 4 hour standard, with significant periods within Q3 and Q4 spent in internal 
critical incident status due to compromised flow within the organisation. The year 
ended with a stepped improvement in performance due to an organisational priority 
focus on the emergency pathway, which included: compliance with Internal 
Professional Standards through additional Consultant and junior doctor resources, 
protection of the Medical Decisions Unit to ensure space to place patients from the 
Emergency Department within the following 24 hours; and improved early 
escalation with positive response from specialities across the organisation.  
Going into 2017/18 the challenge is to make this performance improvement 
sustainable, with additional work on the emergency pathway to include: key 
interactions and leadership within the Operations centre and patient flow across the 
wards, use of safer and red/green metrics to ensure every patient has an accurate 
Clinically Fit Date (CFD) set, and increasing the proportion of pre-noon  discharges 
to promote capacity across the wards early on within the day.  
Other developments within the emergency pathway include: the delivery of a 
primary care stream within the Emergency Department from mid-May (in line with 
the national directive), promotion to GPs to the increase the use of ambulatory 
care, a focused effort of increasing the use of Joint Emergency Team (JET) and 111 
as real alternatives for patients rather than attending the Emergency Department; 
and lastly a DTOC remedial action plan with the CCG, County Council and CPFT to 
reduce the number of DTOC patients within the Trust to no more than 2.5% of the 
bed base. 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Patients waiting less than 18 weeks 
from GP referral ≥92% 89.4% 90.5% 

We recognise the importance to patients of being treated in a timely manner 
following referral, and the right within the NHS Constitution for patients to receive 
treatment within 18 weeks. In 2016/17 we have treated 15000 more patients 
within 18 weeks than in 2015/16, representing a 16% increase. The number of 
patients waiting over 18 weeks has reduced by 17% during the course of 16/17. 

The Trust commenced 2016/17 with an RTT Improvement plan anticipating a Trust 
aggregate recovery to 92% in September 2016. The recovery trajectory was 
exceeded until July 2016, when it became apparent that despite ongoing 
improvements in some of the most challenged specialties, other services who had 
been performing well against the 92% standard had started to see increasing 
waiting times.  

Most significantly these risks related to:  
• Neurosurgery as a consequence of essential maintenance in Neuro theatres 
• Unexpected medical staff shortfalls in Gynaecology; and an inability to 

recruit readily to posts within Allergy, Pain Management and Oral surgery 
impacting non-admitted pathways particularly.  

• Lower than planned available capacity at Hinchingbrooke NHS Trust (ENT 
and Orthopaedics). 
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This reversing trend led to a revised Improvement Plan from September 2016 with 
an agreed trajectory of March 2017. This recovery trajectory was achieved until 
January 2017 when the impact of winter pressures from urgent care and Delayed 
Transfers of Care led to high levels of elective cancellations because of insufficient 
bed capacity. This has driven up the number of admitted patients waiting more 
than 18 weeks in Quarter 4. 
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The Trust anticipates this will delay recovery to 92% until the start of Quarter 2 
2017/8, and we are maintaining the focus on reducing waiting times with specialty 
level action plans and bi-weekly monitoring meetings. 
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Patients seen within 62 days of 
urgent cancer referral (with 
reallocation for late referral*) 

≤85% 81.6% 86.6% (at 
Feb-17) 

*reallocations for late referrals are agreed with referring Trusts as per the NHSI/NHSE National Cancer 
Breach Allocation Guidance April 2016 

We recognise the importance for patients to have rapid access for diagnosis and 
treatment where cancer is suspected. 

Cancer waiting times require 3 broad standards to be achieved: 
• Patients referred with suspected cancer by their GP are to be seen within 2 

weeks of referral. 
• Patients referred with suspected cancer by their GP, or a National Screening 

Service, to receive treatment within 62 days of referral. 
• Patients to receive treatment for cancer within 31 days of a decision to treat.  

The Trust has reported strong performance against the Cancer Standards in 
2016/17 meeting all standards on an annual basis. We have reported 3% more 
patients on cancer pathways in 2016/17 to month 11. 

Sustaining these standards remains challenging. We continue to work with referring 
Trusts within our Cancer Network to improve the timeliness of referrals to CUH as 
the Cancer centre; and also to proactively pursue ongoing actions that arise from 
monthly root cause analyses of delays patients have experienced.  
 
Further information regarding operational performance during 2016/17 is included 
in the quality account (chapter 4). 
 

2.8 Environmental matters, social, community and 
human rights issues 
The activities and policies of  CUH in the areas of social, environmental, community 
and human rights are outlined in chapter 3, specifically within the equality and 
diversity report and sustainability and climate change report. 
 

2.9 Significant events after the balance sheet date 
On 10 April 2017, Dr Mike More was appointed by the governors as substantive 
Chair of the Trust. 

 

2.10 Associate arrangements 
During the reporting period the Trust was engaged in arrangements with 
associates. The Annual Report and Accounts reports the investment of the Trust 
with each associate.  
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3. Accountability report  
 
 Directors report  
 
3.1 Board of Directors  

The Board of Directors comprises full-time Executive and part-time Non-Executive 
Directors, the latter chosen because of their knowledge, areas of relevant expertise, 
and experience. All directors meet the fit and proper persons test. The role of the 
Board of Directors is to provide effective and proactive leadership of the NHS 
Foundation Trust; to set the strategic aims of the Trust, ensuring the quality, safety 
and effectiveness of the services provided, and ensuring that the Trust is well-
governed in every aspect of its activities. 
The description below of each of the current director’s expertise and experience 
demonstrates the balance, completeness and relevance of the skills, knowledge and 
expertise that each of the directors bring to the Foundation Trust. 
The Board of Directors met 12 times during the year under review(2015/16 18 
times) 
 

3.2 Board and committee effectiveness 
The performance of the Board of Directors is reviewed collectively as part of an 
independent board evaluation process; and individually, with each board director 
undertaking performance appraisal with either the Chief Executive (executive 
directors) or Chair (Chief Executive and non-executive directors). The Chair is 
appraised by the Senior Independent Director and the Lead Governor. 
 

3.3 Trust Chair  
 
Ms Jane Ramsey – Trust Chair (until 31 October 2016)  
Jane Ramsey left the Board of Directors with effect from 31 October 2016. Further 
details of her expertise and experience can be found in our Annual Report 2015/16.  

 
Dr Michael More, CBE – Non-Executive Director, interim Chair (from 
1 November 2016), Vice Chair and Senior Independent Director 
(until 31 October 2016)  
Areas of special interest / responsibility: strategic planning and liaison with 
external bodies  
 

Mike was appointed by the Council of Governors as substantive Chair of CUH on 10 
April 2017 (after the end of the year covered by this report). Mike became Interim 
Chair of CUH on 1 November 2016, following the resignation of Jane Ramsey.He 
joined the CUH Board of Directors in September 2013 bringing extensive experience 
from health, police, transport as well as local government. He was chief executive 
for Westminster City Council until the end of 2013. Mike began his career at the 
National Audit Office in 1981. He was senior auditor at Cambridgeshire County 
Council in 1986 moving on to a number of increasingly high-level positions at the 
council including Head of Finance. Mike was appointed as the Director of Resource 
Management of Suffolk County Council in 1999, and progressed to the position of 
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Chief Executive in 2002 joining Westminster City Council as Chief Executive in April 
2008. 

Mike’s non-executive roles have included non-executive director on the Joint 
Venture Board for the University Campus Suffolk, plus positions as chair for the 
Prince’s Trust for Suffolk and the East of England Regional Chief Executives’ Group. 
He was also chair of the Central London Resilience Panel which includes all agencies 
including health and manages emergency planning, and of the London Prevent 
Panel. 

Mike also held a representative role on the Olympic Games Transport Board, 
overseeing the overall transport consequences of hosting the Games in London. He 
had an active interest in developing the Health and Well-Being Board in central 
London and continues an interest in the integration of health and social care. 

He is also Group Board member and Chair of the Audit Committee of L&Q Housing 
Association, one of the largest and most successful Housing Associations in the UK. 

Mike holds a PhD from the University of Hull. 
 
3.4 Non-Executive Directors 

 
Dallas Ariotti MBE – Interim Associate Non-Executive Director (until 
31 May 2016)  
Dallas Ariotti left the Board of Director with effect from 31 May 2016. Further 
details of her expertise and experience can be found in our Annual Report 2015/16.  

 
Dr Michael Knapton – Non-Executive Director  
Areas of special interest / responsibility: Member of Quality, Remuneration & 
Nomination and Workforce and Education Committees and Governor/Director 
Working Group on Communications and Engagement, NED lead for sustainability 
and end of life care. 
 
Mike combines a high-profile portfolio of board-level positions with thirty years’ 
experience as general practitioner in Cambridge and associate medical director of 
the British Heart Foundation. Mike holds an MA in physiology from the University of 
Cambridge, a bachelor of medicine & bachelor of surgery (MB BChir) and is a fellow 
of the Royal College of General Practitioners. 
 
Mike's career began at Cambridge University Hospitals, volunteering at Old 
Addenbrooke’s site in 1977, as a clinical student in 1980 and a junior doctor at 
Cambridge University Hospitals from 1982 to 1986, moving into local general 
practice as GP principal in 1987 at the surgery in Harston. He has also worked at 
Addenbrooke's as a GP tutor, as well as a spell as cardiology assistant from 1997 to 
2003. He joined Cambridge City Primary Care Group 1999 as PEC chairman and by 
2005 was appointed medical director of Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire 
Primary Care Trust. 
 
Mike's additional roles include treasurer roles for Cambridge Medical Society, and 
past Chairman of the East Anglian Faculty of the Royal College of General 
Practitioners. He is also a trustee for Genetic Alliance UK, a national charity of over 
150 patient organisations supporting people affected by genetic conditions. 
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Professor Patrick Maxwell – Regius Professor of Physic - Non-
Executive Director 
Areas of special interest/responsibility: Member of Audit, Major Projects and 
Strategy, Remuneration, Research and Quality Committees and member of the 
CUHP Board 
 
Patrick is the head of the University of Cambridge, School of Clinical Medicine – 
CUH is the major teaching hospital for the University. He is also the Regius 
Professor of Physic – one of the oldest professorships at the University, founded by 
Henry VIII in 1540 and appointed by the Queen. Patrick holds a Wellcome Trust 
senior investigator award for his research on oxygen sensing. At CUH Patrick has a 
special interest in quality, patient safety, audit and public engagement. 

Patrick undertook postgraduate clinical and research training in nephrology and 
general medicine at Guy's Hospital and in Oxford. He was appointed as university 
lecturer and then reader at the University of Oxford. In 2002 he moved to the 
Professorship of Nephrology at Imperial College, followed by the Chair of Medicine 
at University College London in 2008. 

Patrick is a member of the board of Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP) – 
a partnership between the University and the NHS. 

Patrick was elected a fellow of the Academy of Medical Sciences in 2005. 
 
Professor Sharon Peacock CBE – Non-Executive Director 
Areas of special interest/responsibility: Member of Audit, Remuneration and 
Quality Committees and Governor/Director Working Group on Scrutiny and 
Performance. 
 
Professor Sharon Peacock CBE FMedSci joined the Trust as a Non-Executive 
Director on 1 October 2015.  

  
Sharon comes with a wealth of clinical and managerial experience. She is a National 
Institute for Health Research Senior Investigator, an Honorary Senior Research 
Fellow in the Department of Medicine at the University of Cambridge, and currently 
divides her research group and activities between the Wellcome Trust Sanger 
Institute where she is an honorary faculty member, and the Cambridge Biomedical 
Campus. 

  
From 2003 to 2009 Sharon held the role of Head of Bacterial Diseases Research at 
the Wellcome Trust Major Overseas Programme in Thailand, based at the Mahidol-
Oxford Tropical Medicine Research Unit. 

  
Sharon has served on numerous advisory and funding panels for a range of 
organisations including the Medical Research Council, the Wellcome Trust and the 
Department of Health. 
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Shirley Pointer – Non-Executive Director ; and Senior Independent 
Director (from 1 November 2016) 
Areas of special interest/responsibility: Chair of Remuneration and Workforce 
and Education Committees, member of Finance and Performance and Major 
Projects and Strategy and Governor/Director Working Group Communications and 
Engagement. 
 

Shirley Pointer joined the Trust as a Non-Executive Director on 1 December 2015.  

Shirley has worked in both the public and private sectors and is a highly respected, 
experienced leader and senior executive with extensive experience in the areas of 
people, organisational capability and change. In addition to her role at CUH Shirley 
is a CQC Inspection Specialist Adviser and also works as an independent consultant. 

Shirley joined CUH from the Department of Health where she was the HR Director. 
She has also held senior leadership roles in the Department for Communities and 
Local Government, the Department for Innovation, Universities and Skills and the 
Department for Trade and Industry.  

Prior to joining the Civil Service Shirley spent 20 years in the private sector, 
primarily in financial services. Latterly she was the HR Director for Abbey National 
Retail Bank (now Santander). She also has non-executive experience gained in the 
charity sector as a trustee of the Whitehall and Industry Group, an organisation 
whose primary purpose is to build understanding and co-operation between the 
public, private and voluntary sectors. 

Shirley brings extensive experience of working with senior leadership teams 
delivering transformational change. Her focus is to create successful organisations 
through authentic leadership underpinned by robust governance and management 
practices 

 
David Parfrey – Interim Non-Executive Director (from 1 March 
2017) 

Areas of special interest/responsibility: Chair of Audit Committee 

David Parfrey is an experienced finance director who joined the Trust on an interim 
basis to chair the Audit Committee meeting in March 2017, during the period when 
Dr Mike More was acting as Interim Chair 
 
 
Dr Andrew Richards CBE – Non-Executive Director 
Areas of special interest / responsibility: Chair of Major Projects and Strategy 
and member of Audit, Finance and Performance, Remuneration and Research 
Compliance Committees and Governor/Director Working Group on Communication 
and Engagement. 
 

Dr Andy Richards CBE was appointed to the Board in May 2014. His experience in 
business and bio-technology, coupled with his well-established links within 
Cambridge, is a significant support to the Trust in realising its ambition as a global 
healthcare leader. 
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A Cambridge graduate with a PhD in chemistry, Andy is currently Chairman of 
Arecor, Congenica, Abcodia and Babraham Bioscience Technologies (the Babraham 
Campus). He is a Director of Silence Therapeutics plc, Ieso Digital Health, Sensiia, 
and Cancer Research Technology (commercial arm of CR-UK)  

His early career spanned positions with ICI (now AstraZeneca) and PA Technology, 
and he was a founder and executive director of Chiroscience. Since 1999 he has 
founded and invested in new mainly Cambridge-based healthcare companies, with 
more than 25 innovative ventures over the last 17 years. These include companies 
such as Vectura, Arakis, Cambridge Biotechnology Ltd and Geneservice. Andy is 
also a founder member of the Cambridge Angels investors’ group and a Trustee of 
the British Science Association. 
 
Dr Peter Southwick – Non-Executive Director 
Areas of special interest / responsibility: Chair of Finance and Performance, 
member of Audit, Major Projects and Strategy, Remuneration, Quality and 
Workforce and Education Committees. 
Peter brings a wealth of experience to the CUH board from his high profile 
management and board positions for large and complex multi-national 
organisations in the steel sector. He held senior positions in Inland Steel Company 
and with Mittal Steel where in 1998 he was Executive Vice-President of Operations, 
President and CEO in 2000, the Corporate Director of Quality and Technology in 
2003.  

Peter’s current non-executive roles combine both the private sector with public 
sector and charity roles; he is a board member of the NanoSteel Company, 
chairman of Hills Road Sixth Form College, and a Trustee of the Bas Breakwell 
Charitable Trust.  

Peter was a former non-executive director of NHS Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough PCT, a lay member of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and board member of H2Gen Innovations – a 
company of engineers and business leaders specialising in hydrogen production and 
gas purification products. 

Peter holds a PhD in metallurgy from the University of Cambridge.  
 

3.5 Executive directors 
 
Roland Sinker – Chief Executive 
Areas of responsibility include: accounting officer, responsible for running the 
Trust’s business, ensuring its obligations and targets are met within a framework of 
prudent and effective systems of internal control 

 
Roland started as Chief Executive of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust in November 2015. Previously he was the Acting Chief Executive 
at King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, and spent 2009 to 2015 as their 
Chief Operating Officer.  

Coming from a legal and management consultancy background, Roland served as 
Strategy Director at King’s between 2005 and 2008, and was the former 
Programme Director for King’s Health Partners, the Academic Health Sciences 
Centre created between King’s College London, King’s College Hospital, Guy’s & St 
Thomas’ and South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trusts 
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Dr Jag Ahluwalia – Medical Director 
Areas of responsibility include: professional medical governance; medical 
revalidation clinical outcomes; infection control; research and development; 
information technology; pharmacy; clinical networks; GP liaison; undergraduate 
education; post- graduate education 
 
Jag became Medical Director for the trust in 2008. In this role Jag is responsible for 
the leadership of nearly 600 consultants who care for patients across a range of 
different clinical specialties. He has a particular focus on professional standards, 
infection control, IT, pharmacy, R&D, postgraduate medical education and junior 
doctor’s working conditions and safeguards.  

 
Jag has worked for the NHS since qualifying in 1986, completing the GP training 
programme before changing paths into newborn intensive care. Following training 
in Cambridge and Melbourne Jag was appointed as a consultant neonatologist at 
the Trust in 1996.  

 
Director for Neonatology between 1998 and 2003, Jag was also lead clinician for 
Norfolk, Suffolk and Cambridgeshire Neonatal Network from 2004 until 2008. He 
was an elected senior officer of the British Association of Perinatal Medicine until 
2008. Jag was also a member of the NHS regulator Monitor’s Medical Advisory 
Group as well as co-chair of the East of England Medical Director’s Forum until 
2016. He was also vice chair (NHS Employers side) for the first year of the 
consultant contract negotiations.  

 
Iain Alexander – Interim Chief Finance Officer (CFO) (until 30 June 
2016) 
 
Iain Alexander left the Trust on 30 June 2016. Further details of his expertise and 
experience can be found in our annual report 2015/16. 
 
Evelyn Barker – Interim Chief Operating Officer (COO) (until 20 
January 2017) 
 
Evelyn Barker left the Trust on 20 January 2017. Further details of her expertise 
and experience can be found in our annual report 2015/16. 
 
Bill Boa – Interim Chief Finance Officer (CFO) (from 28 July 2016 to 
17 March 2017) 
Areas of responsibility include: financial strategy, financial planning, financial 
management, estates and facilities, commissioning and contracting and statutory 
accounts.  

 
Bill is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He 
has worked as Director of Finance for a number of organisations in most sectors of 
the NHS, latterly as an interim and in consultancy/advisory roles, and worked for 
the Trust in that capacity,  
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Adrian Goodchild – Acting Chief Finance Officer (CFO) (from 1 July 
to 27 July 2016) 
Adrian was acting Chief Finance Officer from 1 July to 27 July 2016.  
 

 
Sam Higginson – Chief Operating Officer (COO) (from 13 March 
2017) 
Areas of responsibility include: clinical and operational services, performance 
management and emergency planning 
Sam joined Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as Chief 
Operating Officer in March 2017. Previously he was Director of Strategic Finance for 
NHS England and between 2010 and 2013 was Director of Strategic Development 
at University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 
Sam started his career as a management consultant before working on health 
spending issues at HM Treasury. He then joined the NHS where over the last ten 
years he has undertaken various strategy, finance and delivery roles. 

 
Ann-Marie Ingle – Chief Nurse  
Areas of responsibility include: nursing and midwifery strategy and standards, 
executive lead for quality and safety and patient experience, safeguarding children 
and vulnerable adults, professional lead for allied health professionals, and 
executive lead for psychological medicine services 

Ann-Marie has over 25 years’ experience in the NHS at ward and board level and a 
background in critical care and nurse education. Ann-Marie leads the nurses at CUH 
in providing patient care which reflects the Trust’s values – safe, kind and excellent. 
She is also responsible for nursing and midwifery education and training so our staff  
have the opportunity to develop professionally and our patients get the best 
possible care. She is also the professional lead for allied health professionals (AHPs) 
including physiotherapists and occupational therapists. Ann-Marie has led on quality 
and safety and the Trust’s quality improvement plan since 2015. 

 
Jonathan Rowell – Acting Chief Finance Officer (from 18 March 
2017)  
Areas of responsibility include: financial strategy, financial planning, financial 
management, estates and facilities, commissioning and contracting and statutory 
accounts.  
 
Jonathan has been at the Trust since May 2013, working as Deputy Chief Finance 
officer. He has spent his entire career in the NHS, having started as a graduate 
trainee in the East of England in 1998. Prior to joining CUH, he was Associate 
Director of Finance at King’s College Hospital in South London. He has a degree in 
Economics and is a qualified accountant. 
The Chief Finance Officers portfolio covers all aspects of the finances of the 
hospital, including procurement and commercial services. He leads all aspects of 
Financial management, planning and control. The role also includes responsibility 
for the hospital’s estate – including capital developments and facilities 
management. 
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Julie Smith – Acting Chief Operating Officer (COO)  
Julie Smith, Acting Director of Operations, was Acting Chief Operating Officer from 
21 January 2017 to 12 March 2017 
 

David Wherrett – Director of Workforce  
Areas of responsibility as director of workforce include: human resources 
(including medical staffing); organisational development and design, health and 
safety, recruitment, employee relations, occupational health, pensions and 
voluntary services 
David Wherrett is the Trust’s director of workforce, joining CUH in April 2014. He 
leads on all aspects of the Trust’s workforce agenda including human resources, 
staff health and wellbeing, medical staffing, learning and development, temporary 
staffing and volunteering.  

 
David has worked in human resources for over 20 years in 
various organisations. He has spent the majority of his recent career in the NHS, 
working primarily in hospitals. His primary focus is to ensure that the CUH 
workforce is best able to deliver safe, high quality care for patients and carers  
 
Mark Turner, Director of Major Projects, Strategy and Transformation, and Mark 
Friedman, Director of Recovery, attended meetings of the Board of Directors during 
2016/17 in a non-voting capacity. 
 

 

3.6 Board advisors 
 
The following individuals served as Board advisors during 2016/17 
 

 
• Sir Ron Kerr CBE – Board Advisor  

 
• Rebekah Ley – Acting Director of Corporate Affairs (from February 2017) 

 
• Kate Lancaster – Director of Corporate Affairs (until 30 January 2017) 
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3.7 Register of Interest 
At the time of their appointment, all directors are asked to declare any interests on 
the register of directors’ interests. 
This register is reviewed on a quarterly basis and maintained by the director of 
corporate affairs. The register is available for inspection by members of the public. 
Anyone who wishes to see the register of directors’ interests should make enquiries 
to the Director of Corporate Affairs at the following address: 
Director of Corporate Affairs, Box 146, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 0QQ 
or telephone 01223 256256. 
 

3.8 Appointment of Chair and Non-Executive Directors 
The Council of Governors has the responsibility for appointing the Chair and the 
other Non-Executive Directors in accordance with the constitution and in line with 
relevant legislation.  
Candidates are nominated by the Council of Governors’ Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, who (except in the case of the Regius Professor of 
Physic) select and approve Non-Executive Directors.  
This committee must comprise one public, one patient, one staff and one partner 
organisation governor. It is chaired by the Chair of the Trust for Non-Executive 
Director appointments only, and by a governor for all its other functions including 
the appointment of the Trust Chair.  
Non-Executive Director appointments are normally for a term of three-years. 
Following this term and subject to satisfactory appraisal, a Non-Executive Director 
is eligible for consideration by the council of governors for a further uncontested 
term of office of three-years. Following that period, and as long as the individual’s 
term as a Non-Executive Director has not exceeded nine years, they are able to 
apply for a further three year term of office through a process of open competition. 
When undertaking its nomination responsibilities, the committee reviews the 
structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) 
required of the Board of Directors compared to its current position and makes 
recommendations for change when appropriate.  
The removal of a Non-Executive Director requires the approval of three-quarters of 
members of the Council of Governors. Details of the criteria for disqualification from 
holding the office of a director can be found in paragraph 10.11 of the constitution. 
Disclosures of the remuneration paid to the Chair, Non-Executive Directors, Chief 
Executive  and senior managers are given in the remuneration report at 3.22.  
 

3.9 Non-Executive Directors’ expenses 
CUH is committed to reimbursing expenses incurred on Trust business to the Chair 
and Non-Executive Directors at rates set by the Council of Governors.  
The full policy is available from the Director of Corporate Affairs.  
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3.10 Attendance at board meetings 2016/17 
 
Meeting dates 
2016: 13 April, 11 May, 25 May, 8 June, 13 July , 14 September, 12 October, 9 
November, 14 December 
 
2017: 11 January, 8 February, 8 March 
 

Table 05 
Attendance at Board Meetings 2016/17 

 
Name Title Attendance 
Jane Ramsey Trust Chair 6/7 
Mike More Trust Chair 12/12 
Jag Ahluwalia Medical Director 11/12 
Ian Alexander Interim Chief Finance Officer 4/4 
Dallas Ariotti Interim Associate Non-Executive 

 
2/3 

Bill Boa Interim Chief Finance Officer 7/7 
Evelyn Barker Interim Chief Operating Officer 10/10 

Adrian Goodchild Acting Chief Finance Officer 1/1 
Sam Higginson Chief Operating Officer 0/0* 
Ann-Marie Ingle Chief Nurse 7/12 

Mike Knapton Non-Executive Director 11/12 
Patrick Maxwell Non-Executive Director 10/12 
David Parfrey      Interim Non-Executive Director  1/1 
Sharon Peacock Non-Executive Director 11/12 
Shirley Pointer Non-Executive Director 11/12 
Andy Richards Non-Executive Director 11/12 

Jonathan Rowell Acting Chief Finance Officer 0/0* 
Roland Sinker Chief Executive Officer 10/12 

Julie Smith Acting Chief Operating Officer 2/2 

Peter Southwick Non-Executive Director 11/12 

David Wherrett Director of Workforce 11/12 
 

* There were no Board meetings during the period between the individual taking 
up their post and the reporting year end. 
 
 

3.11 Audit Committee 
Membership of this committee is made up of Non-Executive Directors and was 
chaired by Dr Michael More until 1 November 2016, when he became Interim Chair 
of CUH. Dr Andy Richards chaired the meeting of the Audit Committee on 25 
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January 2017 and Mr David Parfrey chaired the meeting of the Audit Committee on 
22 March 2017, during the process of recruitment for the substantive Chair of CUH.  

 
 
 

The committee’s primary role is to oversee the governance and assurance process 
and the effectiveness of risk management systems and the control environment, 
including the Trust’s financial systems and annual financial statements. It considers 
any matters concerning the external auditors, and also the adequacy of our internal 
audit arrangements.  
The committee’s terms of reference are available on request from the Director of 
Corporate Affairs. 

 

Table 06 
Attendance at Audit Committee meetings 2016/17  

Name Title Attendance* 
Mike More Non-Executive Director 3/3 

Dallas Ariotti Interim Associate Non-Executive 
Director 

1/1 

Andy Richards Non-Executive Director 5/5 

Peter Southwick Non-Executive Director 5/5 

Patrick Maxwell Non-Executive Director 4/5  

Sharon Peacock Non-Executive Director 2/3 

David Parfrey Interim Non-Executive Director 1/1 

 
Dr Mike Knapton and Shirley Pointer attended one meeting in their capacity as Non-
Executive Directors. Jane Ramsey attended one meeting in her capacity as Trust 
chair. 
 

Meeting dates 
23 May 2016, 27 July 2016, 28 September 2016; and 25 January and 22 March 
2017. 

 
Significant issues 
The Audit Committee met on 17 May 2017 to consider financial statement for the 
period for the period 2016/17. The Audit Committee reviewed the financial 
statements and identified no significant issues with the statements.  

 
External auditors 
During 2015/16 following a tender process, the Council of Governors appointed 
Mazars Limited as external auditors for three years from 1 April 2016.  
Mazars Limited, CUH’s external auditor, reports to the Council of Governors through 
the Audit Committee. Mazars Limited accompanying report on the financial 
statements is based on its examination conducted in accordance with the audit 
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code for NHS Foundation Trusts as issued by NHS Improvement. Their work 
includes a review of our internal control structure for the purposes of designing 
their audit procedures.  
The external audit process is subject to annual review by the Trust in terms of 
competency efficiency and the relationship between the Trust and its auditors. The 
audit committee meets with the external auditor without any Trust employees 
(including executive directors) present at every meeting, to improve its knowledge 
of their contribution.  
Non-audit work may be performed by the external auditors where the work is 
clearly audit-related and the external auditors are best placed to do that work. For 
such assignments the Audit Committee approved protocol is followed which ensures 
all such work is properly considered. The processes in place ensure auditor 
objectivity and independence is safeguarded. 

 
Audit Fees 
The statutory audit fee, including quality account and whole of government 
accounts and others is included in note 3.1 to the accounts. 
 
Internal auditors 
RSM, CUH’s internal auditors, are responsible for undertaking the internal audit 
functions on behalf of the Trust. The Head of Internal Audit reports to each meeting 
of the Audit Committee on the audit activity undertaken.  
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically.  
 

3.12 Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the 
Board of Directors 
The work of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee is described under 
section 3.22. 
 
There is also a Governors’ Nomination and Remuneration Committee which 
identifies and nominates non-executive directors as described in 3.8  
 

3.13 Cost statement 
CUH has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements as set out in 
HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector information guidance during 2016/17. 
 

3.14 Better payment practice code 
The performance of the Trust against the better payment practice code in 2016/17 
was:   
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 Non-NHS 
Number of invoices paid in year                102,906 
Number paid within 30 days                        19,411 
%paid within 30 days                                   18.9% 

 
 
NHS 
Number of invoices paid in year                    3,021 
Number paid within 30 days                            136 
%paid within 30 days                                      4.5% 

 
3.15 Quality strategy 

 
With input from the Council of Governors, the Board of Directors agreed a five year 
quality strategy in 2013 which aims to ensure every patient receives the safest, 
highest quality care personalised to their needs.  
 
The focus is on ensuring that our patients have the best clinical outcomes, delivered 
with compassion in a safe environment, resulting in the best possible experience. 
The quality strategy outlines the approach everyone in our hospital will take to 
improve quality between now and 2018. It builds on our strengths and 
complements our governance, risk and safety infrastructure, and also addresses 
those areas where we know we could improve. It outlines our priorities, and sets 
out what success will look like in 2018, together with the framework for delivery 
and the methodology for measuring our progress. 

 
In line with our work on revisiting the Trust strategy, plans are in place to review 
and update our quality strategy, ensuring it continues to reflect our strategic vision.  
This will then continue to drive our annual quality account priorities and measures. 
 
Details of our quality performance in 2016/17 and the priorities we have set 
ourselves for 2017/18 are provided in our quality report at section 4.  This also 
includes the detail of external reviews and audits of the services we provide. 
 

3.16 Income statement  
CUH has met the requirement of Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended 
by the Health and Social Care Act 2012) that the Trust’s income from the provision 
of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England must be 
greater than its income from the provision of goods and services for any other 
purposes. Other income which the Trust has received has had no impact on its 
provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England. 
 

3.17 Statement regarding disclosure to auditors 
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the auditors are unaware. The directors have taken all of the steps that they ought 
to have taken as directors to be aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the auditors are aware of that information 
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3.18 Patient care  
 
Improvements in patient/carer information 
In 2016/17, we continued to manage the process of review and approval of patient 
information leaflets and procedure specific consent forms, increasing the 
membership of our Trust Reader Panel who review all new patient information 
leaflets. A quarterly audit of the availability of patient information leaflets in clinical 
inpatient and outpatient departments has been introduced to monitor the 
implementation of and compliance with the Trust’s patient information policy. This 
provides the opportunity to regularly monitor that relevant information is provided 
for patients, that Trust leaflets are developed correctly, to ensure that best practice 
is followed and to identify areas where improvements may be required. 
 
The accessible information standard  
In July 2016 it became mandatory for every organisation providing adult health and 
social care services to be compliant with the NHS Accessible information standard. 
The accessible information standard directs and defines a specific, consistent 
approach to identifying, recording, flagging, sharing and meeting individuals 
information and communication support needs by NHS and adult social care service 
providers. 
A steering group, chaired by the Assistant Director of Nursing, oversaw the 
implementation and is now working to embed the standard into every practice. Key 
stakeholders sit on the steering group along with patient governor representatives. 
The group have also worked with local charities and patient groups to understand 
patient perspectives of using CUH services.  
Modifications were made to the electronic patient record system to ensure that our 
staff can record patients' communication needs. The system then supports teams 
by flagging and assisting the sharing of the information to those involved in the 
patient’s care.  
Alongside these changes the group have overseen a number of initiatives aimed at 
enhancing patient experience whilst in the hospital. This includes the ‘clinic calling 
spot’ so that patients know where staff will stand when calling them into clinic and 
can sit in a location where they can best hear.  
The steering group are continuing to focus on embedding the changes and ensure 
that the communication and information needs of our patients are met.  
 
Information on complaints handling 
The Trust welcomes patient feedback and aims to make the complaints process 
accessible and responsive. The information from complaints investigations is used 
to make improvements to treatment and the patient’s experience of the care 
provided. In 2016/2017 CUH received 508 formal complaints, a small reduction on 
the previous year’s total of 519.  The overall rate of complaints, at 0.05% of 
activity, remains below the Trust target of 0.1% of activity.  Of the total number of 
complaints received, investigated and closed over the year, 263 complaints were 
upheld or partially upheld after investigation. 
The Trust aims to respond to complaints within 30 working days.  More complex 
cases often take longer to investigate and respond to and in those cases the 
complaints team communicate with complainants in order to negotiate an extended 
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timeframe for response.  We responded to 96% of complaints within 30 days or 
with an agreed extension to this timeframe.  
The main subject of the complaints received is consistently clinical care.  This 
category encompasses aspects of a patient’s medical or nursing care at the Trust.  
Within this category, delays or failure in treatment and delays or failure to diagnose 
are commonly identified.   
The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) is the second stage in 
the complaints procedure.  Complainants may take their case to the PHSO if they 
consider that attempts at local resolution have failed, and the PHSO will decide 
whether to re-investigate. Six cases were investigated by the PHSO in 2016/17, 
compared with 15 in 2015/16.  Over the year, three cases were upheld or partially 
upheld and the Trust implemented action plans to remedy the deficits identified by 
the PHSO.   
In addition to formal complaints, the Trust receives and responds to a larger 
volume of feedback through the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 
encompassing enquiries, comments, concerns and compliments. There has been a 
decrease of 4% in PALS activity over the year: 7,238 cases were dealt with 
compared with 7,544 in 2015/16.  Problems with communication and delays or 
cancelled appointments are most commonly identified via PALS feedback. The PALS 
team aim to turn round cases within ten working days, and this target was met in 
88% of cases.  
Emphasis is placed on identifying learning and all feedback and outcomes are 
captured and analysed, then reported internally to enable staff to implement 
learning outcomes. The main Trust-wide forum for consideration of complaints and 
PALS cases is the quarterly Patient Experience Committee meeting.  The detailed 
report to this committee provides information on trends and themes, and this 
information is subsequently provided in summary form to the Quality Committee of 
the Board. Over the past year, examples of actions implemented as a result of 
patient complaints include communication training for maternity staff, improved 
patient information, and a trial of allowing partners to stay with women on 
maternity wards. 
 

3.19 Stakeholder engagement 
 
ACTIVE (Children and Young People’s Board at CUH) 
The group is thriving with quality children and young person engagement,  
evidenced by currently 55 young members who are aged 8-18 with 18 new 
members joining in this period. We have on average 16 young people at each whole 
group meeting. We have had multiple events and planning sessions that have been 
well supported by young people,; for example a stall in the ATC was supported by 
12 young people in March 2017. 

 
Group activity includes a variety of projects that are young person led with themes 
that are staff and young person initiated. We have spent time looking at clinical 
environments and suitability for children with PLACE (clinical environment) 
assessments and working with staff on other Active projects such as the distraction 
toy project, plasma screen in outpatients project, leaflets for children with PEG, 
ideas for a children's week and the Fabchangeday 2016. Much activity was focused 
on fundraising and shopping for appropriate toys for distraction boxes. There has 
been a strengthening of the group input into research including studies for CEDAR 
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and psychological impacts of chronic disease. Active long term volunteer Hilary 
Stokes stepped down after four years of wonderful service and a process of finding 
new volunteers has taken place securing two new members of the team to support 
meetings. 

 
ACTIVE has worked in partnership with patient experience and equality and 
diversity teams, Taking Note at Addenbrooke's, the cleft palate team, PPI working 
group, and the sustainability theme has created a broad range of focus for the 
group meetings and projects. There has also been a broadening awareness of 
ACTIVE in external partnership work with student nurses from  Anglia Ruskin 
University,research work with  Cambridge University , and the local community with 
local events such as the Big Weekend, and animation workshops in the Science 
Festival and at a local primary school and cake stalls in  sixth form centres. This 
has been communicated more widely on the Facebook page, ACTIVE at Cambridge 
University Hospitals and new links for the 'Teens in Hospital' project by ACTIVE to 
improve young people communication and care on adult wards is on the 
Mefirst.org.uk website. 

 
Patient experience 
Ten focus groups have been held throughout the year, where recent patients/carers 
are invited to a give their opinions on key issues relating to either the Trust 
broadly, or specific departments. Governors are invited to attend to hear the views 
first hand. 
The Patient Experience Committee, which monitors the activities relating to patient 
experience, has governor representation to ensure that the views of members and 
the public are heard . 
The Patient Experience Committee reviews the quarterly patient experience data. 
This includes complaints and concerns, local and national patients survey results, 
focus group activity, patient partnership groups and other sources of feedback that 
have taken place in the quarter.  
The aim is to enable easy identification of themes, along with areas for 
improvement and put in place a plan to address these so we continue to improve 
our patients’ experience.  
During the year we were able to purchase additional electronic feedback devices for 
paediatrics, using an ACT funding award, which has enabled us to consolidate our 
patient feedback in these areas. 
 
Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP) Academic 
Health Science Centre 
 
Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP) is one of six Academic Health Science 
Centres in England whose mission is to improve patient healthcare by bringing 
together the NHS, industry and academia.  
 
By inspiring and organising collaboration, CUHP aims to ensure patients reap the 
benefits of the world class research, clinical services and partnerships with the Life 
Sciences Industry which are based in Cambridge and the surrounding area. 
 



Annual Report 2016/17   
 

 
 

 
45 

 

The Partners are the University of Cambridge, Cambridge and Peterborough NHS 
Foundation Trust, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and 
Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
The last year has been a busy one for the organisation as it has worked to ensure 
Cambridge remains at the forefront of the changing face of clinical science, 
education and healthcare. CUHP has helped to ensure a range of scientific 
disciplines work together on health questions. Physicists, mathematicians and 
engineers are now working with clinicians and industry to develop new and more 
effective treatments. To this end, a new Executive Director, Malcolm Lowe-Lauri, 
was appointed to drive the re-designation of the organisation with the NIHR and to 
develop a new strategy. 
 
CUHP has supported CML, the developer for much of the Biomedical Campus, with 
its work to market the site. From developing education packages to explaining how 
Cambridge is the capital of UK life sciences, CUHP has understood its key role 
between its partners and others to drive forward both new medicines and 
technology for health and also economic success for the region. This is part of a 
programme of work for the next five years. 
 
Academic Health Science Centres (AHSC) were designated by the Department of 
Health from 2009 as they looked to identify outstanding clinical and academic 
partnerships in England. There are currently six such centres. CUHP was set up as a 
Company Limited by Guarantee in 2009 to discharge the AHSC role. It was 
reaccredited in 2014 by the National Institute for Health Research.  
 
The Chairman and the Chief Executive of CUH are Directors of CUHP, as are the 
Chairs and Chief Executives of Papworth Hospital NHS FT and Cambridge and 
Peterborough NHS FT, the Vice-Chancellor of the University of Cambridge, the 
University Registrary and the Regius Professor of Physic.  There are also three 
further Directors with both clinical and academic responsibilities, one linked with 
each of the NHS Trusts.   
 
For more information on CUHP see http://www.cuhp.org.uk/ 

 
Consultation with local authorities covering the membership 
area 
Cambridgeshire County Council adopted alternative governance arrangements with 
effect from May 2015 and the health overview and scrutiny functions are now 
exercised by the Cambridgeshire Health Committee. The Trust has worked closely 
with the Committee during the reporting period.  
 
Education and training 
CUH is a teaching hospital for medical undergraduates and postgraduates, nurses 
and students in other clinical professions. Patient-centred teaching is one of our 
core activities and is central to our vision to be one of the best academic healthcare 
organisations in the world. We are the teaching hospital for the University of 
Cambridge through the School of Clinical Medicine and the Postgraduate Medical 
Centre which provide the infrastructure and support to facilitate the education, 
training and continuing development of postgraduate professionals in hospital 
medicine, general practice and dentistry. Further information on education and 
training of our staff is given in the Quality Report 

http://www.cuhp.org.uk/
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Research and development  
CUH works strategically in partnership with other NHS organisations, universities, 
research councils, research charities and industry to provide an outstanding 
infrastructure that builds research capacity and supports excellence in clinical 
research that will benefit patients. Further information on research and 
development is given in the Quality Report.  

 
 
3.20 Trust membership  

The membership 
The membership of CUH is split into three constituencies: patient, public and staff.   
 
Public membership 
Any person who is sixteen years or over and who lives within our membership area 
is eligible for public membership.  
 
Table 07 
The membership areas  
 
Braintree District Council Bumpstead electoral wards 
Cambridge City Council All wards 
East Cambridgeshire District 
Council 

All Wards 

East Hertfordshire District Council Buntingford; Braughing and Mundens and 
Cottered electoral wards 

Forest Heath District Council All Saints; Exning; Severals and St Mary’s 
electoral wards 

North Hertfordshire District 
Council 

Ermine; Royston Palace; Royston Meridian 
and Royston Heath electoral wards 

South Cambridgeshire District 
Council 

All wards 

St Edmundsbury District Council Withersfield; Haverhill North; Haverhill South; 
Haverhill East; Haverhill West and Kedington 
electoral wards 

Uttlesford District Council Ashdon; Clavering; Debden and Wimbish; 
Littlebury, Chesterford and Wenden Lofts; 
Newport; Saffron Walden Audley; Saffron 
Walden Castle; Saffron Walden Shire; The 
Sampfords; Takeley and Thaxted and the 
Eastons electoral wards. 

 
Patient membership 
Any individual who has been a patient at any of the Trust’s hospitals from 05 July 
1948, or who has been a carer of a patient who meets that criterion, is eligible for 
patient membership, regardless of where they live, as long as they are aged sixteen 
years or over. 
 
Staff membership 
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All staff at CUH with contracts of at least twelve months, or contracts with no fixed 
term, are automatically members unless they choose to opt out. The Trust greatly 
values the contribution employees of other companies on campus make to the 
organisation and for this reason staff membership includes all employees of 
companies based on the campus who provide services to CUH, once the employees 
have worked on site for twelve months. 
 
Membership numbers 
At 31 March 2017 there were 19,173 members (2016: 20,530); patients 4,820 
(5,076); public 5,382 (5,610); staff members 8,971 (9,817).  
 
Membership strategy 
Our membership strategy was produced in support of our application for NHS 
Foundation Trust status in March 2004 and a revision was approved by the Council 
of Governors in September 2016.  The revision sets out our vision for a 
representative, active and engaged membership, grouped around five key areas: 
 
 

• Maintaining and continuing to build a representative membership of 
our constituencies 

Work is on-going to target hard-to-reach groups identified through reporting on the 
membership database, according to age, ethnicity, gender and socio-economic 
groupings; with a view to improving diversity within the membership.  
 

• Ensuring members are informed and that their views are valued and 
listened to 

Members are informed of opportunities to speak with governors via the annual 
Members Matter newsletter, on the main website, through regular email 
communications with active members and at all Trust events with which governors 
are directly involved, such as the annual members’ meeting, Medicine for Members 
lecture series and care of the patient environment inspection events. Members 
wishing to make contact with governors can do so by contacting the Foundation 
Trust membership office: 
 
Email: governors@addenbrookes.nhs.uk or foundation.trust@addenbrookes.nhs.uk  
 
Telephone: 01223 256 256 
 
Post: NHS Foundation Trust Membership Office 
Box 146 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Cambridge Biomedical Campus 
Hills Road 
Cambridge 
CB2 0QQ 

 
• Increasing the proportion of total membership who wish to be more 

actively involved and promote more effective, more modern and 
more timely communication with members 

mailto:governors@addenbrookes.nhs.uk
mailto:foundation.trust@addenbrookes.nhs.uk
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New ways of reaching out to current and future members are being explored and 
deployed, including engagement via digital channels and social media.  Digital 
channels provide timely communications at less cost than more traditional 
channels, and a drive to increase the number of email addresses held for members 
who wish to go digital is on-going. Members are encouraged to update their 
personal profile and let the Foundation Trust Office know what interests them and 
how to contact them in order to update them on their chosen interest areas. 
 

• Ensuring a high level of interest/participation and attracting high 
quality candidates for the annual governor elections 

A comprehensive communications and engagement plan has generated renewed 
interest from the staff, public and patient bodies in standing for election for the 
Council of Governors. The message “give back to your hospital” was received well 
and resulted in triple the number of candidates to vacancies standing. 
A ‘Meet the candidates’ event is held each year to enable members to come and 
meet the new governor candidates prior to casting their vote. These are tagged 
onto an existing lecture date to encourage further participation from members who 
might not otherwise be interested in elections in order to maximise election turn-
out. The lectures are always introduced and chaired by a governor, giving members 
further visibility on who represents them on the Council of Governors.   
 

• Aligning engagement activities with other local health bodies and 
campus partners to have a constituent-centred approach  

The Cambridge Biomedical Campus combines world-class biomedical research, 
patient care and education on a single site. Expansion will grow the already 12,000 
strong community of healthcare professionals and research scientists into one of 
the leading biomedical centres in the world by 2020. Collaborating, sharing 
activities and aligning public engagement programmes with campus partners will 
enrich our members’ experience of CUH Foundation Trust membership. 

 
3.21 Council of Governors  

The Council of Governors is composed of 19 elected governors (eight patient, seven 
public and four staff), nine appointed governors and one advisor. The council is 
chaired by the CUH chair. Julia Loudon was elected lead governor from 01 July 
2016 for a two year term 

 
Patient governors  
Table 08 
The table below shows patient governors, representing and elected by the patient 
members of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 
Mr Daryl Brown Resigned from the Council of 

Governors in February 2017. The 
arising vacancy will be filled in the 
planned governor elections in May 
2017.  

Mr Tony Coad Elected in 2014 for a three-year term 
Miss Ruth Greene Elected in 2016 for a three-year term 
Mrs Elizabeth Howe Stood down from the Council of 

Governors with effect from 1 July 
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2016. 
Dr Fred Jacobsberg Re-elected in 2014 for a three-year 

term 
Dr Julia Loudon Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 
Mr Tony Roberts Re-elected in 2014 for a three-year 

term 
Mr Harry Richardson Elected in 2016 for a three-year term 
Dr Louisa Wood Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 

 

Public governors  
Table 09 
The table below shows public governors, representing and elected by the public 
members of the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
Mrs Dawn Chapman  Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 
Mr Nick Cork Resigned from the Council of 

Governors in September 2016. The 
arising vacancy will be filled in the 
planned governor elections in May 
2017. 

Mrs Anna Gallop Elected in 2014 for a three-year term 
Mrs Wendy Menon Re-elected in 2016 for a second three-

year term 
Mr Carlos de la Riva Elected in 2014 for a three-year term 
Professor Patrick Smith  Re-elected in 2015 for a second three-

year term 
Mr Lorne Williamson Elected in 2014 for a three-year term 

 
Staff governors 
Table 10 
The table below shows staff governors, representing and elected by the staff 
members of the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
Mrs Elizabeth Hunt Stood down from the Council of 

Governors with effect from 1 July 
2016. 

Mr Roberto Gherseni Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 
Mr Peter Lester Re-elected in 2014 for a three-year 

term 
Dr Fraz Mir Elected in 2015 for a three-year term 
Ms Valerie Freestone Elected in 2016 for a three-year term 

 
Governor elections 2016 
In 2016, two patient governors, one public governor and one staff governor were 
elected for a three year term by members of the Foundation Trust from the Trust’s 
eleventh main elections, which closed at noon on Wednesday 6th April 2016. These 
elections were ‘first past the post’ and Electoral Reform Services acted as returning 
officer and independent scrutineer. 
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Table 11 
Governor Election Turnout by constituency 2015 and 2016 
 
Constituency  2015 2016 
Patient Constituency 36.5% 31.8% 
Public Constituency 29.3% 28.1% 
Staff Constituency 18.2% N/A  

 
The staff constituency election in 2016 was uncontested. 
 
Partnership governors 
Table 12 
Partnership governors, representing and appointed by external 
organisations to the council of governors 

 
Anglia Ruskin University  Professor Ruth Taylor Appointed in July 2014 

for a three-year term. 
Cambridge Biomedical 
Campus Research 
Organisations 

Dr John Wells Appointed by Cancer 
Research UK to represent 
research organisations 
on the biomedical 
campus site in July 2013 
for a three-year term 
and re-appointed in 2016 
 

Cambridge City Council Cllr Margery Abbott Appointed by Cambridge 
City Council in July 2016 
until June 2017. 

Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Mrs Maureen Donnelly Term ended July 2016. 
No new nomination was 
received from the CCG 
during the reporting 
period. 

Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Mr Stephen Legood Appointed as partnership 
governor in February 
2015 for three years to 
represent 
Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

Cambridgeshire County 
Council  

Cllr Tony Orgee Appointed by 
Cambridgeshire County 
Council in June 2016 for 
the remainder of the life 
of the Council (to May 
2017) 

Papworth Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Professor John Wallwork Re-appointed as 
partnership governor in 
February 2017 for a 
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second three year term 
to represent Papworth 
Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust  

University of Cambridge Professor Andrew Lever Re-appointed by the 
School of Clinical 
Medicine, University of 
Cambridge, in July 2010 
for a three year term. 
Reappointed in July 2013 
and again in July 2016  

University of Cambridge Dr Jonathan Nicholls Term ended December 
2016. No new 
nomination was received 
from the University 
during the reporting 
period. 

 
Advisors 
Advisors are individuals who are appointed by the board of directors with the 
agreement of the Council of Governors to advise the Council of Governors. The 
Board of Directors can select up to four advisors and recommend them to the 
Council of Governors for appointment. The Council of Governors shall make the 
final decision as to whether to appoint those recommended. Advisors have no 
voting rights and act in an advisory capacity only when carrying out their functions 
relating to the Trust.  
 
 
 
 
 
The current advisor is:  

   
Roger Quince Chair of West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust  

 
Register of governors’ interests 
All governors are asked to declare any interests on the register of governors’ 
interests at the time of their appointment or election. The register is reviewed and 
maintained by the Director of Corporate Affairs. It is available for inspection on the 
Trust website and any enquiries should be made to the Director of Corporate Affairs 
at the following address: 
 
Director of Corporate Affairs, Box 146, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation trust, Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road, Cambridge CB2 0QQ 
or telephone 01223 256256. 
 
Governor expenses 
Governors participating in events like council meetings whose expenses are not 
paid by another organisation are entitled to claim reasonable expenses. Expenses 
are reimbursed at rates agreed by the Council of Governors, who have adopted 
HMRC approved amounts. Expenses to be reimbursed include: 
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Travel by car, motor cycle or bicycle; public transport on a like for like basis on 
provision of a receipt; receipted costs for caring arrangements at previously agreed 
rates of up to £10 per hour; expenses for a companion required to enable the 
individual to participate; costs for interpretation. Governor expenses are reported in 
the remuneration report, 3.22. The full policy is available from the Director of 
Corporate Affairs, address as above. 

 
Table 13 
Attendance at Council of Governors’ meetings 2016/17 

Name Title Attendance (out 
of 6  unless 
stated) to 31 
March 2017 

Ms Jane Ramsey Trust Chair (resigned 31 
October 2016) 

3 out of 4 

Dr Mike More Interim Chair (with effect 
from 1 November 2016) 

2 out of 2 

Ms Margery Abbott Partnership Governor 5 out of 5 
Mr Daryl Brown Patient Governor  1 out of 5 
Mrs Dawn Chapman Public Governor 6 out of 6 
Mr Tony Coad Patient Governor 6 out of 6 
Mr Nick Cork Public Governor 1 out of 3 
Mrs Maureen Donnelly Partnership Governor 1 out of 1 
Cllr Robert Dryden Partnership Governor 0 out of 1 
Ms Valerie Freestone Staff Governor 5 out of 5 
Mrs Anna Gallop Public Governor 4 out of 6 
Mr Roberto Gherseni Staff Governor 6 out of 6 
Ms Ruth Greene Patient Governor 4 out of 5 
Cllr Roger Hickford Partnership Governor 0 out of 1 
Mrs Elizabeth Howe Patient Governor 1 out of 1 
Ms Elizabeth Hunt Staff Governor 1 out of 1 
Mr Fred Jacobsberg Patient Governor 5 out of 6 
Mr Stephen Legood Partnership Governor 1 out of 6 
Mr Peter Lester Staff Governor 6 out of 6 
Prof Andrew Lever Partnership Governor 4 out of 6 
Dr Julia Loudon Patient Governor 6 out of 6 
Mrs Wendy Menon Public Governor 6 out of 6 
Dr Fraz Mir Staff Governor 3 out of 6 
Dr Jonathan Nicholls Partnership Governor 5 out of 5 
Mr Tony Orgee Partnership Governor 2 out of 5 
Mr Harry Richardson Patient Governor 4 out of 5 
Mr Carlos de la Riva Public Governor 4 out of 6 
Mr Anthony Roberts Patient Governor 4 out of 6 
Prof Patrick Smith Public Governor 5 out of 6 
Prof Ruth Taylor Partnership Governor 3 out of 6 
Prof John Wallwork Partnership Governor 0 out of 6 
Dr John Wells Partnership Governor 6 out of 6 
Mr Lorne Williamson Public Governor 6 out of 6 
Dr Louisa Wood Patient Governor 3 out of 6 
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There were six meetings of the Council of Governors during 2016/17. The Chief 
Executive, Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors also attended. 
 
Governor activities 
All governors and directors are invited to attend the two Governor/Director Working 
Groups on Scrutiny and Performance and Communications and Engagement which 
meet quarterly. The groups continue to ensure that the views of members, patients 
and the wider local community are brought directly to the directors, and also to 
ensure that governors are up-to-date on key issues of concern and interest. 
All governors and directors attend one or both of these groups. Governor access to 
papers is via the secure governors’ extranet where clicking on an event in the 
calendar brings up all associated documentation. In addition, governors are alerted 
to upcoming events through a weekly digest which is emailed with Trust news, 
wider NHS news, relevant national policy initiatives and press coverage for the 
preceding week. All headlines are linked through to the extranet for further 
information. 
As well as a code of conduct, all governors on appointment/election are expected to 
sign up to the fact that they have read and will abide by our policy for governor 
communication with members and the public.  The emphasis is, as always, on 
encouraging interaction, listening and capturing views, speaking on behalf of 
members and thereby being able to influence opinions and decisions before 
feeding-back to members and the public. 
To aid this two-way communication process, governors attend community groups 
throughout the local area on request to speak on issues of interest or concern. They 
‘host’ focus groups led by the patient experience team which not only gives them 
an opportunity to hear patient views on certain key issues, but enables them to 
feedback information on Trust decisions. Many governors and members use PLACE 
visits (Patient-Led Assessments of the Care Environment) to talk personally to 
patients/visitors and inspect the care surroundings. Similarly, the ‘Fifteen Steps’ 
initiative is used to enable governors to be involved first-hand in the patients’ 
experience of first entering a ward area. The governors and the membership office 
have dedicated mailboxes to allow members/public to contact governors directly 
and these are advertised in the ‘Members Matter’ newsletter, the CUH website and 
when out and about at events.  Governors also continue to host the quarterly 
‘Medicine for Members’ lecture series which this year saw the wide-ranging subjects 
of tinnitus, psychological medicine, allergic diseases and Duchenne muscular 
dystrophy discussed. All these give potentially wide access to a variety of patient, 
public and staff opinion on a variety of issues. 
Governor representatives attended the annual NHS providers’ conference in order 
to network with governors from other Trusts and to share good practice. A record of 
governor ‘activity’ is kept centrally and evaluative responses from any such 
attendances are noted for the communications and engagement governor/director 
working group.  
The Senior Independent Director (SID) is key to ensuring open interaction and 
dialogue between members, governors and directors.  The Lead Governor and the 
SID work closely together. The Lead Governor attends and reports to all public 
Board meetings.  Governors meet informally with non-executive directors on a 
quarterly basis, in order to be briefed directly at the highest level on Trust issues, 
priorities and developments as they arise, to enable them to fulfil their duty to hold 
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the non-executive directors to account. Governors are actively involved in the 
development of the annual plan and the Trust’s quality account.  

  
3.22 Remuneration report 

 
 
Annual statement on remuneration 
In 2016/17, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee maintained its overview 
of Executive Directors’ salaries, following the principles established for Executive 
and senior salaries in 2015/16 (from the external review commissioned in that 
year).   
During 2016/17 the Trust engaged a number of time-limited external consultants as 
part of the organisational ‘turnaround’ agenda.   The Committee paid particular 
attention to these arrangements.  The Committee also worked in partnership with 
its regulators on these arrangements.   
 

Senior managers remuneration policy 
CUH is aware of recent public attention given to the levels of remuneration of senior 
managers within the NHS. CUH has always strived to operate with openness and 
transparency when reviewing and setting the pay levels for senior management and 
we will continue to do this going forward. 
To determine Board of Director level salaries the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee may use one or more of the following: 
 

• Benchmarking data surveyed confidentially amongst CUH’s peer group. 
• NHS Employers’ annual salary survey of NHS Chief Executives and Executive 

Directors. 
• IDS NHS Boardroom pay report and other benchmark information. 
• NHS and other relevant advertised jobs databases. 
• The prevailing market position, including the ability to recruit and retain 

individuals.  
 

Other than for the Medical Director, amendments to annual salary are decided by 
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee on the basis of the size and 
complexity of the job portfolio. Annual salary is inclusive of other payments such as 
bonus, overtime, long hours, on-call, standby, etc. With the exception of a 
temporary arrangement for the Chief Executive, additional payments do not feature 
in executive directors’ remuneration. The Trust has no plans to introduce 
performance related pay. The Medical Director’s salary is in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of service of the consultant contract 2003 plus a responsibility 
allowance determined by the Committee payable for the duration of office. 
Chief Executive and Executive Director performance is measured against objectives 
set at the beginning of the financial year and agreed by the Committee. 
There are no special contractual compensation provisions for the early termination 
of Executive Directors’ contracts. Early termination by reason of redundancy is 
subject to the normal provisions of the ‘Agenda for Change: NHS terms and 
conditions of service’ handbook (section 16); or, for those above the minimum 
retirement age, early termination by reason of redundancy or ‘in the interests of 
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the efficiency of the service’ is in accordance with the NHS Pension Scheme.  
Employees above the minimum retirement age who themselves request termination 
by reason of early retirement are subject to the normal provisions of the NHS 
Pension Scheme.  
Pay awards agreed nationally for other staff groups working at CUH, including staff 
on agenda for change contracts and medical and dental staff, are determined by 
the Department of Health/NHS Pay Review Body, which looks at salaries and pay 
conditions across the NHS.   
 

Annual report on remuneration  
Duration of contracts, notice periods and termination payments 
Table 14 
Executive Director contractual terms  
 
Executive director  Date in post Unexpired term notice 
Chief Executive  16.11.15 Permanent Six months 
Chief Nurse 01.03.14  Permanent  Six months 
Chief Operating Officer 13.03.17 Permanent  Six months 
Medical Director  01.04.08 1 year Six months  
Chief Finance Officer  18.03.17 Acting N/A 
Director of Workforce  01.04.14 Permanent  Six months  

 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee  
 
Membership of the committee comprises Non-Executive Directors and the Chair 
with the Chief Executive in attendance. 
 
The Committee met six times during 2016/17.  For two of the meetings the 
Committee was chaired by the Trust Chair (Jane Ramsey).  Following her departure 
in October 2016 the Committee was chaired by a nominated Non-Executive Director 
(the Senior Independent Director – Shirley Pointer). 
 
The role of the Committee is to: 

• Review the structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge and 
experience) of the Board of Directors compared to its current position and make 
recommendations for change when appropriate. It also considers succession 
planning arrangements for directors and other senior executives and is 
responsible for identifying and nominating for the approval of the Board, 
candidates to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise (nomination 
responsibility). 

• Review the remuneration, allowances and other terms and conditions of office of 
Executive Directors. It also sets the objectives for Executive Directors and 
reviews their performance as part of the appraisal process (remuneration 
responsibility). 

 
Membership of the Committee 
Dr Michael Knapton – current  
Professor Patrick Maxwell – current  



Annual Report 2016/17   
 

 
 

 
56 

 

Dr Michael More – current 
Shirley Pointer – current 
Professor Sharon Peacock – current 
Dr Andrew Richards – current 
Jane Ramsey – up to 31 October 2016  
Dr Peter Southwick – current 

 
Table 15 
Attendance at committee meetings 

Name Title Attendance 
out of 6 
unless 
otherwise 
stated 

Jane Ramsey Trust Chair 2 (out of 3) 
Dr Michael Knapton Non-Executive Director 2 
Professor Patrick Maxwell Non-Executive Director 4 
Dr Michael More Non-Executive Director 6 
Shirley Pointer Non-Executive Director 4 
Professor Sharon Peacock Non-Executive Director 5 
Dr Andrew Richards  Non-Executive Director 6 
Dr Peter Southwick Non-Executive Director 4 

 

Fair Pay multiple - Subject to Audit 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the 
remuneration of the highest paid director in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.  The banded remuneration of the 
highest paid Executive Director in Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust in the financial year 2016/17 was £250,000 to £255,000. This was 11.24 
times (year ended 31 March 2016, 17.04 times) the median remuneration of the 
workforce, which was £22,458 (year ended 31 March 2016, £22,352). 
 
In 2015/16 this calculation was based on amounts paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers 
for the services of Iain Alexander as Interim Chief Finance Officer.  This 
arrangement came to an end in June 2016 and so for 2016/17 the highest paid 
Executive Director was the Chief Executive.  



Annual Report 2016/17   
 

 
 

 
57 

 

Statement of directors’ remuneration - Subject to Audit 
The Trust’s Remuneration and Nomination Committee oversees pay arrangements 
for posts whose salary is not determined through national term and conditions.  
This includes but is not limited to the Executive Directors of the Trust (both voting 
and non-voting executive Board members).  The Committee is mindful of 
discharging its obligations in respect of salaries above £142,500 (the former salary 
of the Prime Minister),including as set out in the Department of Health letter to 
Trusts in June 2015.  It considers each new post and the process to be followed on 
an individual basis. The Governors’ Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
establishes remuneration for Non-Executive Directors. 
Table 16 
Statement of remuneration 2016/17 - Subject to Audit 
 
Name of 
senior 
manager 

Job title (and 
period of 
office if 
relevant) 

Salary & 
fees (in 
bands of 
£5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

All 
taxable 
benefits 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
 
£s 
(nearest 
£100) 

Other 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
£s  
(nearest 
£100) 

All 
pension-
related 
benefits 
(in bands 
of £2.5k) 
£000s  
(Band of 
£2.5k) 

Total 
(bands 
of £5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band 
of £5k) 

Mr Roland 
Sinker 

Chief Executive  250 - 255 10,200  
- 
 

292.5- 295 550 - 
555 

Dr Jag 
Ahluwalia 1 

Medical Director  70 - 75  
- 
 

135,000 127.5– 130 335 - 
340 

Ms Evelyn 
Barker 2 

Chief Operating 
Officer to 20 
January 2017 

 
See Note 2 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 

Mr Iain 
Alexander 2 

Interim Chief 
Finance Officer 
to 30 June 2016 

 
See Note 2 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 

Mr Jonathan 
Rowell 

Acting Chief 
Finance Officer 
from 18 March 
2017 

  0- 5  
- 
 

 
- 
 

47.5-50 50 - 55 

Ms Ann-Marie 
Ingle 

Chief Nurse 150 -155  
- 
 

 
- 
 

175 – 177.5 330 - 
335 

Mr David 
Wherrett 

Director of 
Workforce 

140 -145  
- 
 

 
- 
 

107.5 - 110 250 - 
255 

Mr Sam 
Higginson  

Chief Operating 
Officer from 13 
March 2017 

5 - 10  
- 

 
- 

55 – 57.5 60 - 65 

Ms Julie 
Smith 

Acting Chief 
Operating 
Officer from 21 
January 2017 to 
12 March 2017 

15 - 20  
- 

 
- 

250-252.5  265 - 
270 
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Name of 
senior 
manager 

Job title (and 
period of 
office if 
relevant) 

Salary & 
fees (in 
bands of 
£5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

All 
taxable 
benefits 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
 
£s 
(nearest 
£100) 

Other 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
£s  
(nearest 
£100) 

All 
pension-
related 
benefits 
(in bands 
of £2.5k) 
£000s  
(Band of 
£2.5k) 

Total 
(bands 
of £5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band 
of £5k) 

Mr Bill Boa2 Interim Chief 
Finance Officer 
from 28 July 
2016 to 17 
March 2017 

 
See Note 2 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Mr Adrian 
Goodchild 

Acting Chief 
Finance Officer 
from 1 July 
2016 to 27 July 
2016 

5 - 10  
- 

 
- 

77.5-80 85-90 

Ms Jane 
Ramsey 3 

Chair to 31 
October 2016 
 
 
 

30 - 35    5,700 
 

 
 
 

 
- 
 

35 – 40 
 
 
 

Professor 
Sharon 
Peacock 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 - 15  
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 - 15 

Mrs Shirley 
Pointer 

Non-Executive 
Director from 

10 - 15  
2,300 

 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

15 - 20 

Dr Michael 
Knapton 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 -15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Dr Peter 
Southwick 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 -15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Dr Michael 
More 

Chair from 1 
November 2016 
and Non-
Executive 
Director to 31 
October 2016 

35 - 40  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

35 - 40 

Dr Andy 
Richards 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 - 15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Prof Patrick 
Maxwell 4  

Non-Executive 
Director  

See note 4 - - -  

Ms Dallas 
Ariotti 

Non-Executive 
Director to 31 
May 2016 

0 - 5 - - - 0 - 5 

Mr David 
Parfrey 

Interim Non-
Executive 
Director from 1 
March 2017 

0 - 5 - - - 0 - 5 

Mr Mark 
Friedman2 

Director of 
Recovery 

See Note 2 - - - - 
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Name of 
senior 
manager 

Job title (and 
period of 
office if 
relevant) 

Salary & 
fees (in 
bands of 
£5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

All 
taxable 
benefits 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
 
£s 
(nearest 
£100) 

Other 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
£s  
(nearest 
£100) 

All 
pension-
related 
benefits 
(in bands 
of £2.5k) 
£000s  
(Band of 
£2.5k) 

Total 
(bands 
of £5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band 
of £5k) 

Mr Mark 
Turner 5 

Director of 
Major Projects, 
Strategy & 
Transformation 

 
See Note 5 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Note 1: Other remuneration for the Medical Director relates to his contract as a 
Neo-Natal Consultant. 
 
Note 2:Directors paid through a third party organisation – the values stated below 
are those paid to the third party organisation and do not necessarily reflect the 
amounts paid by those organisations to the individuals involved - the values 
included here are net of VAT.  
 
Name Band of £5k 

 
Ms Evelyn Barker 255 – 260 
Mr Iain Alexander 85 – 90 
Mr Bill Boa 235 – 240 
Mr Mark Friedman 540 - 545 

 
 
Note 3:The taxable benefit for Ms Jane Ramsey relates to her hospital 
accommodation benefit as agreed by Council of Governors and incurs tax and 
national insurance. 
 
Note 4: Prof Patrick Maxwell is the Regius Professor of Physic of the University of 
Cambridge. He is employed and paid by the University of Cambridge. The Trust paid 
£14k in 2016/17 to the University of Cambridge in recognition of his time spent at 
Board meetings. 
 
Note 5: Mr Mark Turner is seconded from NHS Improvement and his salary 
recharged to the Trust. As such, he is subject to the terms and conditions of his 
employing organisation. NHS Improvement was paid in the band £125-130k for Mr 
Turner’s services in 2016/17.  
 
Table 17 
 
Statement of remuneration 2015/2016 - - Subject to Audit 
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Name of 
senior 
manager 

Job title (and 
period of 
office if 
relevant) 

Salary & 
fees (in 
bands of 
£5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

All 
taxable 
benefits 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
 
£s 
(nearest 
£100) 

Other 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
£s  
(nearest 
£100) 

All 
pension-
related 
benefits 
(in bands 
of £2.5k) 
£000s  
(Band of 
£2.5k) 

Total 
(bands 
of £5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

Mr Roland 
Sinker 

Chief Executive 
from 
16/11/2015 

90 - 95 8,900 
 

 
- 
 

360.0 -
362.5 

460 - 
465 

Dr Keith 
McNeil 

Chief Executive 
to 15/09/2015 

275 -280  
- 
 

 
- 
 

52.5 -55.0 330 -335 

Dr Jag 
Ahluwalia 

Executive 
Medical Director  

215-220  
- 
 

 482.5 -
485.0 

700 -705 

Ms Evelyn 
Barker 

Chief Operating 
Officer from 
29/07/2015 

175 -180 #  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

175 -180 

Mrs 
Frances 
Cousins 

Chief Operating 
Officer to 
28/07/2015 

60 -65  
- 
 

 
- 
 

15.0 - 17.5 75 - 80 

Mr Iain 
Alexander 

Chief Financial 
Officer from 
02/11/2015 

150 -155 #  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

150 -155 

Mr 
Jonathan 
Rowell 

Chief Financial 
Officer from 
15/09/2015 to 
01/11/2015 

5 -10  
- 
 

 
- 
 

85.0 - 87.5 90 - 95 

Mr Paul 
James 

Chief Financial 
Officer to 
14/09/2015 

170 -175  
- 
 

 
- 
 

207.5 -
210.0 

380 -385 

Ms Ann-
Marie Ingle 

Chief Nurse 150 -155  
- 
 

 
- 
 

32.5 -35.0 185 -190 

Mr David 
Wherrett 

Director of 
Workforce plus 
Chief Executive 
Officer from 
16/09/2015 to 
15/11/2015 

140 -145  
- 
 

 
- 
 

0.0 2.5 140 -145 

Ms Jane 
Ramsey 

Chair 55 -60  
- 
 

 
9,700 
*** 

 

 
- 
 

65 -70 

Ms Dallas 
Ariotti 

Non-Executive 
Director from 
01/06/2015 
 

10 -15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Professor 
Sharon 
Peacock 

Non-Executive 
Director from 
01/10/2015 

5 -10  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

5 -10 

Mrs Shirley 
Pointer ** 

Non-Executive 
Director from 

- -5  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

0 - 5 
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Name of 
senior 
manager 

Job title (and 
period of 
office if 
relevant) 

Salary & 
fees (in 
bands of 
£5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

All 
taxable 
benefits 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
 
£s 
(nearest 
£100) 

Other 
(total to 
the 
nearest 
£100) 
£s  
(nearest 
£100) 

All 
pension-
related 
benefits 
(in bands 
of £2.5k) 
£000s  
(Band of 
£2.5k) 

Total 
(bands 
of £5k) 
£000s  
 
(Band of 
£5k) 

01/12/2015    
Dr Michael 
Knapton 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 -15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Dr Peter 
Southwick 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 -15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Dr Mike 
More 

Non-Executive 
Director 

15 - 20  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

15 -20 

Dr Andy 
Richards 

Non-Executive 
Director 

10 - 15  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

10 -15 

Dr Pat 
Troop 

Non-Executive 
Director to 
30/09/2015 

5 - 10  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

5 -10 

Ms Lynne 
Berry 

Non-Executive 
Director to 
31/05/2015 

0 -5  
- 
 

 
- 
 

 
- 
 

0 -5 
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Table 18 
Statement of directors’ pension benefit - - Subject to Audit 

          

Name and title 

Real 
increase / 
(decrease) 
in pension 
at pension 

age 

Real 
increase / 
(decrease) 
in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 

age 

Total 
accrued 
pension 

at 
pension 
age at 

31 
March 
2017 

Lump 
sum at 
pension 

age 
related to 
accrued 
pension 

at 31 
March 
2017 

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 
31 March 

2016 

Real 
increase / 
(decrease) 

in cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value 

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value at 
31 March 

2017 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

                    

  
  

(bands of 
£2500) 

(bands of 
£2500) 

(bands 
of 

£5000) 
(bands of 
£5000)         

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

  Mr Roland Sinker 12.5-15 0-2.5 30-35 - 158 183 341 - 
  Chief Executive                 
  Dr Jag Ahluwalia 5-7.5 15-17.5 75-80 230-235 1429 196 1625 - 
  Medical Director                  
  Ms Ann-Marie Ingle  7.5-10 17.5-18 35-40 115-120 580 175 755 - 
  Chief Nurse                 
  Mr David Wherrett 5-7.5 0-2.5 45-50 130-135 777 114 891 - 
  Director of Workforce                  
  Mr Sam Higginson 2.5-5 0-2.5 20-25 - 198 30 228 - 
  Chief Operating Officer from 13/03/2017                 
  Ms Evelyn Barker - - - - - - - - 
  Interim Chief Operating Officer to 20/01/2017                 
  Ms Julie Smith 10-12.5 25-27.5 30-35 80-85 338 192 530 - 
  Acting Chief Operating Officer from 21/01/2017 to 12/03/2017                 
  Mr Jonathan Rowell 0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 55-60 261 44 305 - 
  Acting Chief Finance Officer from 18/03/2017                 
  Mr Adrian Goodchild  2.5-5  0-2.5 25-30 65-70  406  55 462 - 
  Acting Chief Finance Officer from 01/07/2016 to 27/07/2016       

 
        

  Mr Bill Boa - - - - - - - - 
  Interim Chief Finance Officer from 28/07/2016 to 17/03/2017                 
  Mr Iain Alexander - - - - - - - - 
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Chief Finance Officer to 30/06/2016                 
  

           
           



 Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
64 

 

 
Statement of directors’ and governors’ expenses 
Directors and governors are reimbursed for expenses incurred on Trust business in 
accordance with agreed Trust policies. Where applicable, these are subject to 
income tax and national insurance in accordance with HMRC legislation and 
guidance. 
 
Table 19 
Governors’ expenses  
 

Name Mileage 
(Car/Cycle)  

Rail/bus 
Travel  

Meals/Subsistence 
and parking 

Other Total 
2016/17 

Total 
2015/16 

Margery Abbott £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A 

Daryl Brown  £158.40 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £158.40 £722.45 

Tom Bygott  N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 £0.00 

Dawn Chapman £509.40 £0.00 £121.50 £0.00 £630.90 £276.70 

Tony Coad £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Nick Cork  £0.00 £151.25 £8.80 £0.00 £160.05 £550.65 

Jane Coston N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 £0.00 

Carlos de la Riva  £39.52 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £39.52 £27.36 

Maureen Donnelly  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Robert Dryden  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Valerie Freestone  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A 

Anna Gallop £360.00 £0.00 £48.90 £175.00 £583.90 £539.00 

Roberto Gherseni  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Ruth Greene  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A 

Elizabeth Howe  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Roger Hickford  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Liz Hunt  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Fred Jacobsberg  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Stephen Legood  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Peter Lester £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Julia Loudon £1,588.95 £0.00 £218.70 £0.00 £1,807.65 £706.05 
Andrew Lever  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Wendy Menon  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Fraz Mir  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £44.10 

Ciara Moore  N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 £0.00 

Jonathan Nicholls  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Tony Orgee £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A 

Eric Revell  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £202.50 

Harry Richardson £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A 

Tony Roberts £291.60 £0.00 £48.60 £0.00 £340.20 £133.20 

Patrick Smith £472.50 £0.00 £94.50 £0.00 £567.00 £400.75 

Ruth Taylor  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 
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Brian Walker  N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 £46.35 

John Wallwork  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

John Wells   £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Lorne Williamson  £136.08 £39.80 £93.60 £9.12 £278.60 £123.12 

Louisa Wood  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

 
 

Table 20 
Directors’ expenses  
 

Name 
Mileage 

Car/Cycle 
Rail and 

bus Travel Taxis Hotels 
Meals & 
parking 

Total – 
2015/16 

Total – 
2016/17 

Jag Ahluwalia £120.42 £214.80 £24 £0.00 £25.50 £262.50 £384.72 

Iain Alexander £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 
Dallas Ariotti £0.00 £188.50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £1,160.70 £188.50 
Evelyn Barker £0.00 £182.50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £31.50 £182.50 
Lynne Berry N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £10.00 N/A 
Bill Boa £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A £0.00 
Frances Cousins N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £173.30 N/A 
Ann-Marie Ingle £91.80 £68.50 £0.00 £0.00 £9.30 £201.52 £169.60 
Paul James N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £357.25 N/A 
Mike Knapton £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £7.20 £0.00 

Keith McNeil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £836.80 N/A 

Patrick Maxwell £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 
Mike More £0.00 £445.60 £0.00 £95.00 £0.00 £251.00 £540.60 
David Parfrey £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A £0.00 
Sharon Peacock £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 
Shirley Pointer £0.00 £39.20 £0.00 £0.00 £7.90 £318.15 £47.10 
Jonathan Rowell £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 
Andy Richards  £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 
Jane Ramsey £0.00 1155.15 8.00 £0.00 £0.00 £2,129.90 1163.15 

Roland Sinker £0.00 £53.30 £168.
00 

£432.00 114.74 £41.00 £768.04 

Julie Smith £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A £0.00 
Peter Southwick £164.16 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £45.90 £633.70 £210.06 
Pat Troop N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A £0.00 N/A 
David Wherrett* £0.00 £89.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £706.50 £89.00 
Sam Higginson £0.00 £32.40 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 N/A £32.40 

 
* 2015/16 includes expenses related to involvement with NHS Employers for which the Trust was reimbursed  

 

 
 
Roland Sinker 
CUH Chief Executive 
25  May 2017 
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3.23 Staff report  

 
Staff numbers 
As of 31 March 2017 the Trust had 14 directors (11 male and 3 female) and 9228 
employees (male 2358 and 6870 female) 
 
Average 
number of 
employees 
(WTE basis) 
 

2016/17 
Total 
Number 

2016/17 
Permanent 
Number 

2016/17 
Other 
Number 

2015/16 
Total 
Number 

2015/16 
Permanent 
Number 

2015/16 
Other 
Number 

Medical and 
dental  

1,273 1,248 25 1,281 1,237 44 

Ambulance 
staff  

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Administration 
and estates  

1,623 1,610 13 1,763 1,594 169 

Healthcare 
assistants and 
other support 
staff  

264 264 0 252 252 0 

Nursing, 
midwifery and 
health visiting 
staff  

3,718 3,718 0 3,614 3,614 0 

Nursing, 
midwifery and 
health visiting 
learners  

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Scientific, 
therapeutic and 
technical staff  

1,107 1,107 0 1,066 1,065 1 

Healthcare 
science staff 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Social care staff  0 0 0 0 0 0 
Agency and 
contract staff 

46 0 46 519 0 519 

Bank staff 586 0 586 0 0 0 
Other 136 136 0 105 105  
Total 8,753 8,083 670 8,600 7,867 733 

 
Recruitment and retention 
 
To support our recruitment and retention strategy the following is in 
place: 
 
• work/life balance schemes to offer opportunities for part time hours and flexible 

working along with comprehensive childcare facilities (two on-site nurseries and 
access to a local discounted holiday play scheme) 

• ‘Advantage’ salary sacrifice scheme offering a wide range of options for staff to 
make tax and NI savings: including on-site nursery fees, childcare vouchers, 
bicycles for work, work-related training, car lease scheme, on-site car parking, 
laptops, phones  

• annual leave purchase scheme  
• eldercare/family support schemes 
• NHS pension scheme 
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• a range of on-site facilities – leisure and social centre (Frank Lee Centre) 
• comprehensive range of staff engagement surveys and many joint working 

initiatives with staff and trade unions 
• occupational health service and Care First counselling service and a range of 

health and well-being initiatives 
• onsite shopping and eating services 
• range of leadership and employee development opportunities along with 

continuous professional development 
• relocation assistance to provide financial support for nurses who move home to 

work at CUH 
• employee referral scheme which offers a monetary incentive for employees to 

refer potential nursing candidates who are successfully employed by CUH 
• exit questionnaire in which leavers are contacted and given the opportunity to 

feed back so that we can improve our employees’ experience at work 
• deposit loan scheme of up to £3,000 of all staff Bands 1 – 6 to cover the first 

month’s rent and deposit for a new property, open to both starters and existing 
staff 

 
 Our role as a local employer 

CUH is an important local employer and always looks for ways to develop its role 
and to work with the local community to develop pathways into employment for 
disadvantaged groups. We offer a range of schemes: work experience, traineeships, 
voluntary worker schemes, apprenticeships and work with the long-term 
unemployed including the Prince’s Trust. We continue to provide a comprehensive 
apprenticeship scheme and are committed to maintaining this. 

 
Information about staff sickness  

 The information in the table below is compiled on a calendar year basis according to 
national requirements. 
 
 2016/17 2015/16 
Total days lost 69,416 61,113 
Total staff years 9,030 8,647 
Average working days lost 
per WTE 

        8        11 

 
 
Equality and diversity 
The Trust uses the NHS equality delivery system (EDS2) as a tool to use as 
evidence of compliance with the public sector equality duty (PSED) to engage with 
the public and staff and agree equality objectives. The Trust’s equality performance 
was rated against the 18 EDS service and workforce equality EDS outcomes by a 
community EDS rating panel on 26 September 2016. Our EDS2 rating summary 
report and EDS improvement plan is published on the Trust’s website  and reported 
in the CEO’s report to the January public Board meeting. 
 
Our patient profile and workforce equality monitoring reports are published on our 
website   

 
Our Workforce Race Equality Standard report and action plan is published on the 
Trust public website  



 Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
68 

 

 
The Trust is not only committed to fulfilling its legislative requirements but to go 
beyond what is legally required and to be an exemplar of best practice. 
 
Disabled employees  
The Trust is a ‘Disability Confident employer and is a signatory of the ‘Mindful 
Employer Charter’ for ‘Employers who are Positive about Mental Health’. 
 

Health and safety 
 
The last 12 months has seen an increase in activity in the management of health 
and safety at CUH due to the strengthening of resource in the department and the 
introduction of a four year Health and Safety Strategy called ‘Safe people, places 
and processes’. This has enabled the department to move to a more systematic and 
proactive approach to improving health and safety at CUH. As a result, a number of 
key milestones have been reached this year including: 
 
• An updated Board approved Health and Safety Policy and signed 
Statement of Intent by the Chief Executive. The documents outline the 
organisation’s commitment and organisational arrangements for health and safety 
at CUH. 
• Placing management of health and safety as a prime responsibility of 
line management from most senior executive to first-line supervisory level 
in accordance with the British Standard OHSAS 18001 and HSE’s model of 
managing health and safety. 
• A revised Health and Safety Risk assessment process that complies with 
legislation and which is used by managers and supervisors to help them proactively 
identify hazards and control risks in order to prevent harm.  
• Two new health and safety training programmes for managers and 
supervisors to assist them in the discharge of their health and safety 
responsibilities and in the completion of health and safety risk assessments so that 
they are suitable and sufficient in accordance with legislation. 
• Increased manager and supervisor resources - a variety of simple and 
easy-to-read handbooks, monthly newsletters and tools to assist managers and 
supervisors in carrying out their health and safety responsibilities. 
• 25 new/updated health and safety policies and procedures including new 
procedures on personal protective equipment, liquid nitrogen, and lifting operations 
and lifting equipment. 
• A Health and Safety culture survey. This will in future be completed on an 
annual basis as part of the Quarter 1 Staff Friends & Family Test, Staff 
Engagement, Values and Behaviour survey. 

 
 
In October 2016 the management of health and safety was audited by the Trust’s 
internal auditors (RSM) who found that the Board can take ‘reasonable assurance’ 
that the controls in place to manage this area are suitable designed and 
consistently applied.  All of the recommendations highlighted in this audit were 
accepted and have been addressed.  
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Occupational health 
Cambridge Health at Work provides a full range of occupational health services to 
CUH staff as well as to private and public sector companies in the local area. 
Through our own team and partnerships with other organisations we are offering a 
greater range of support than ever before. We are becoming one of the biggest 
NHS OH services in the country, currently supporting 16,000 NHS colleagues across 
two Trusts in two counties. We continue to operate below the national average cost 
per capita for occupational health services in the NHS. This is made possible by our 
external income generating contracts.  
 
We are proud to continue to meet the stringent SEQOHS (Safe Effective Quality 
Occupational Health Service) accreditation quality standards. We are delighted to 
have achieved the national CQUIN requirements for staff health and wellbeing this 
year. Through this programme we have developed online information and 
resources, better health promotion and campaigning materials and achieved the 
highest take-up rate for staff flu vaccinations ever at CUH, 75.4%.  We were 
awarded highly commended for our use of social and online media at the NHS 
Employers Flu Fighter Awards. We enabled an improvement in each of the health 
and wellbeing metrics in the national staff survey, October 2016.  
 
We will continue in the year ahead to progress our preventative agenda, reaching 
out to, engaging with, educating and supporting our Trust colleagues to protect and 
improve their health at work. 

 
Counter fraud  
CUH has taken all reasonable steps to comply with the requirements set out in the 
code of conduct for NHS managers, and has a named individual nominated to 
provide the lead local counter fraud specialist function, who is an accredited counter 
fraud specialist. When that specialist is absent, arrangements have been made to 
ensure that specialist assistance is available. 
Under the NHS Standard Contract for 2016-2017, all organisations providing NHS 
services (providers) must put in place and maintain appropriate anti-crime 
arrangements. CUH fully complies with this requirement. 

 
Standards of business conduct and the Bribery Act 
The Bribery Act 2010 has been in force since July 2011. This act creates the 
offences of offering, promising or giving a bribe, requesting, agreeing to receive or 
accepting a bribe, bribing a foreign public official and the corporate offence of 
failing to prevent bribery. We have a clear standard of business conduct policy, 
which includes our zero-tolerance approach to bribery. Our stance is equally strong 
and clear in relation to those associated with or contracting with the Trust, and we 
avoid doing business with any individuals and organisations who fail to demonstrate 
their commitment to operate fairly, openly and honestly. Doing business 
transparently and preventing bribery is important in safeguarding the proper use of 
public money and resources, and a clear stance also provides patients, other 
customers, potential contractors and business partners as well as our governors 
and members with confidence that we will act in a transparent and fair way. This in 
turn protects our trusted position within our community and our reputation as a 
leading national and international centre for specialist treatment, education and 
research.  
CUH has in place a number of procedures for the prevention of bribery, including a 
clear whistle-blowing policy and procedure, and a local counter-fraud specialist. In 
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addition, we keep a publicly-available register of interests for directors, governors 
and staff as well as a hospitality register. All staff have a role to play, but 
individuals with specific responsibility for implementing bribery-prevention 
procedures include the Board of Directors, the Trust Secretary, and our managers, 
both clinical and non-clinical. 
We work closely with colleagues both within and outside the NHS to support a 
concerted effort to promote fair, honest and open operations and to prevent 
bribery, for the ultimate benefit of the patients and public we serve. 

 
Staff survey 
Staff engagement is an important issue for CUH.  CUH continues to carry out a 
rolling programme of internal staff surveys as well as participating in the NHS 
national staff survey.  All of our staff (not a sample) are invited to participate in 
these surveys which help the Trust measure staff engagement and develop plans to 
address key themes.   
Until the 2014 national staff survey our staff engagement score had consistently 
been in the top 20% compared with other acute NHS Trusts.  2014 was a year of 
considerable challenge and change for CUH and this was borne out in the responses 
we received in our staff surveys. The results from the 2015 and now the 2016 
national staff survey are much more encouraging with significant improvements in 
the areas of staff engagement, confidence in reporting concerns and willingness to 
recommend the service.   We have seen significant improvements in the 3 of the 4 
areas set out as priorities for 2015/16.   
Whilst we have seen a significant number of improvements, areas of concern that 
remain include: discrimination at work, bullying and harassment and equal 
opportunities. These will inform the organisation’s staff engagement and experience 
plan 2017-18. 

 

Staff survey response rate 
 2015/16 

(previous 
Year) 

2016/17 
(current 
year) 

 

 CUH CUH Benchmarking 
group (Acute teaching trust) 
average 

Trust improvement 
/deterioration  

Response 
rate 

37.2% 45% 
Above 
average for 
acute trusts 
in England 

42.6% 
 

Increase/decrease in % 
points 
↑7.8%  

 
 
Table 21 
2016 five top ranking (TR) scores (against key findings – KF) 

 
*Period of survey Oct-Dec 2016 2015 

CUH  
score 

2016 
CUH 
Score  

2016 
average 
and best 
score for 
acute 
Trusts 

Trust 
improvement 
/deterioration  
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KF 11 (was 7) Staff who had 
received an appraisal/ 
review in previous 12 
months (high % is better score)  
 

95% 95%  
best 
20% and 
best 
overall 

87%  
best score 
95% 

 
           Unchanged 

KF 15  Staff satisfied with 
the opportunities for flexible 
working patterns   
(high % is better score)           
 

54% 58%  
best 
20% and 
best 
overall 

51%  
best score 
58% 

 
 
         ↑4% 

KF 25 (was 18) Staff who 
had experienced 
harassment/bullying/abuse 
from patients/relatives in 
previous 12 months 
(low % is better score)  
 

24% 23% 27%  
best score 
20% 

 
         
         ↑1% 

KF 18 (was 20) Staff who 
had felt pressure to come to 
work when unwell in the 
previous 3 months*  
(low % is better score)           
 

52% 47%  
best 
20% and 
best 
overall 

56%  
best score 
47% 

    
         
        ↑5% 

KF 22 Staff experiencing 
physical violence from 
patients, relatives or public  
in last 12 months  (low % is 
better score)  

13% 12%  
best 
20% 

15%  
best score 
8% 

  
        ↑1% 

 
Overall Staff Engagement  
*Period of survey Oct-Dec 
2016 

2015 
CUH  
score 

2016 
CUH 
Score  

2016 
average 
and best 
score for 
acute 
Trusts 

Trust 
improvement 
/deterioration  

KF 1 Staff recommendation 
of the Trust as a place to 
work or receive treatment 
(high % is better score) 
 
 
 

82% 83%  
best 20% 

87%  
best score 
95% 

      
     ↑1% 

KF 7  Staff ability to 
contribute to towards 
improvements at work 
(high % is better score) 

69% 74%  
best 20% 

70%  
best score 
77% 

 
      ↑5% 

KF 4 Staff motivation at work  
(score out of 5, higher the score 
the better) 

3.95 3.96  
better 
than 
average  

3.94  
best score 
4.07 

  
     ↑0.01% 
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10 best performing non-specialist trusts across the NHS against the statement “if a friend or 
relative needed care or treatment I would be happy with the standard of care provided by this 
organisation” 
 
Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals FT  91% staff agreed or strongly agreed  
Guys and St Thomas’ FT  89% 
Royal Devon and Exeter FT 85% 
Taunton and Somerset FT  84% 
University College London Hospitals FT 84% 
Derby Teaching Hospitals FT 84% 
Salisbury Ft  83% 
Cambridge University Hospitals FT 83% 
Poole Hospital FT  82% 
University Hospital Southampton 82% 
 
Table 22 
2016 five bottom ranking (BR) scores (against key Findings – KF) 
 

 2015 
CUH 
score 

2016  
CUH 
Score  

2016 average and 
best score for 
acute trusts 

Trust improvement 
/deterioration  

KF20 percentage of staff 
experiencing  
discrimination at work in 
the last 12 months    
(lower % is better score)    

12% 13% 11%  
best score 5% 

      
     ↓ 1% 

KF27 Staff reporting most 
recent experience of 
harassment, bullying or 
abuse   
(high % is better score) 

37% 43%  
 

45% 
best score:57% 

 
    ↑ 6% 

KF 21 Staff who believe 
that the organisation 
provides equal 
opportunities for career 
progression or promotion     
(high is better score)  

83% 85%  87% 
best score 95% 

 
    ↑  2% 

KF 16 (was 5) % Staff 
working extra hours  
(low % is better score)  

76% 72% 
 

72%  
best score: 61% 

 
   ↑ 4% 
 
 

KF 24 percentage of staff 
/ colleagues reporting 
most recent experience of 
harassment, bullying or 
abuse  
(high % is better score) 
 

67% 65% 67%  
best score 77% 

   ↓ 2% 
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Future priorities and targets 
Statement of key priority areas 
Divisions and corporate areas are currently identifying their local priority areas for 
action. From an organisational perspective, the key priority areas will include, but 
not be limited to: 
• Equality of opportunity for career progression, training and development 
• Appraisals – further improvements including; relevance to job role and 
development 
• Reporting most recent experience of harassment, bullying and abuse 
 
Data from staff surveys will also be cross-referenced with information from other 
key sources of staff feedback and patient experience  
 
Monitoring arrangements  
Once the staff engagement action plan has been finalised and communicated, 
progress will be monitored through the Trust’s Workforce Experience Committee 
meetings which reports into the Trust board. 
 
Future priorities and how they will be measured 
Performance will be monitored upon receipt of national staff survey 2017 and local 
staff engagement results to determine levels of improvement. 
 
Table 23 
Analysis of staff costs - Subject to Audit 

 
Employee 
expenses 

2016/17 Total 
£000 

2016/17 
Permanently 
employed 
Total £000 

2016/17 Other  
Total £000 

Salaries and wages 312,946 309,974  2,972 
Social security costs  32,080             0 32,080 
Pension cost – 
defined contribution 
plans employers 
contributions to NHS 
pensions 

 
 
 
 
 39,091 

 
 
 
 
          0 

 
 
 
 
39,091 

Pension costs - 
other 

           0           0           0 

Other post-
employment 
benefits 

 
           0 

 
          0 

 
          0 

Other employment 
benefits 
 

 
           0 

 
          0 

 
          0 

Termination benefits            0           0           0 
Temporary staff – 
external bank 

 
 23,229 

  
23,229 

Temporary staff – 
agency/contract 
staff 

 
   7,620 

  
 7,620 

NHS charitable 
funds staff 

 
            0 

 
          0 

 
         0 
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Total gross staff 
costs 

414,966 309,974 104,992 

Total staff costs 414,966 309,974 104,992 
 

 
Expenditure on consultancy  
 
Information regarding expenditure on consultancy can be found in the accounts. 
 
Off-payroll engagements  
 

For all off-payroll 
engagements as of 31 Mar 
2017, for more than £220 per 
day and that last for longer 
than six months 

2016/17 

Number of 
engagements 

  
Number 

No. of existing engagements 
as of 31 Mar 2017 41 

Of which:   

Number that have existed for less 
than one year at the time of 
reporting 

35 

Number that have existed for 
between one and two years at the 
time of reporting 

4 

Number that have existed for 
between two and three years at 
the time of reporting 

2 

Number that have existed for 
between three and four years at 
the time of reporting 

n/a 

Number that have existed for four 
or more years at the time of 
reporting 

n/a 

Confirmation:   

Please confirm that all existing 
off-payroll engagements, outlined 
above, have at some point been 
subject to a risk based 
assessment as to whether 
assurance is required that the 
individual is paying the right 
amount of tax and, where 
necessary, that assurance has 
been sought. 

Yes 

For all new off-payroll 
engagements, or those that 
reached six months in 
duration, between 01 Apr 
2016 and 31 Mar 2017, for 
more than £220 per day and 
that last for longer than six 
months 
 

2016/17 
Number of 

engagements 
Number 

Number of new engagements, or 
those that reached six months in 
duration between 01 Apr 2016 
and 31 Mar 2017 

16 
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Number of the above which 
include contractual clauses giving 
the trust the right to request 
assurance in relation to income 
tax and national insurance 
obligations 

3 

Number for whom assurance has 
been requested 3 

Of which:   

Number for whom assurance has 
been received 3 

Number for whom assurance has 
not been received 0 

Number that have been 
terminated as a result of 
assurance not being received 

0 

 In any cases where, 
exceptionally: 

n/a 

- the trust has engaged 
without including contractual 
clauses allowing the trust to seek 
assurance as to their tax 
obligations; or 
- where assurance has been 
requested and not received, 
without a contract termination 

please specify the reasons for 
this. 

  
  
For any off-payroll 
engagements of board 
members, and/or senior 
officials with significant 
financial responsibility, 
between 1 Apr 2016 and 31 
Mar 2017 

2016/17 
Number of 

engagements 
Number 

Number of off-payroll 
engagements of board members, 
and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, 
during the financial year. 

2 

Number of individuals that have 
been deemed "board members 
and/or senior officials with 
significant financial 
responsibility".  This figure should 
include both off-payroll and on-
payroll engagements. 

6 

  
In any cases where 
individuals are included 
within the first row of this 
table, please set out: 

  

Details of the exceptional 
circumstances that led to each of 
these engagements. 

Vacancy x 2 + 1 
Sustainability and 
Capacity 

Details of the length of time 
each of these exceptional 
engagements lasted. 

1 - 22 months, 1 – 8 
months, 1 – 19 months 
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Exit packages - Subject to Audit 
Exit packages are accounted for in full in the year of departure.  

 
Table 24 Exit packages 

Reporting of 
other 
compensation 
schemes - exit 
packages 
2016/17 
Exit package cost 
band (including 
any special 
payment 
element) 

N
um

be
r 

of
 c

om
pu

ls
or

y 
re

du
nd

an
ci

es
 

N
um
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r 
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t 
of

 c
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y 
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£0
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s 

N
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r 
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 d
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s 
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N
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r 
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t 
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 d
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s 
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£0
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s 

To
ta

l n
um
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t 
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N
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r 

To
ta

l c
os

t 
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s 

N
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r 
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s 
w
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l p
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m
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N
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r 
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of
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 p
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m
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t 
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en

t 
in
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ed
 in

 e
xi

t 
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ck
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es
 

 

<£10,000 1 9     1 9     

£10,001 - 
£25,000 7 119     7 119     

£25,001 - 50,000 3 129     3 129     

£50,001 - 
£100,000 1 94     1 94     

£100,001 - 
£150,000 0 0     0 0     

£150,001 - 
£200,000 0 0     0 0     

>£200,000 0 0     0 0     

Total 
  12 351 0 0 12 351 0 0 

 
 
 
 
Reporting of 
other 
compensation 
schemes - exit 
packages 
2015/16 
Exit package cost 
band (including 
any special 
payment 
element) 
  N

um
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r 
of

 c
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y 
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 p
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<£10,000 9 62     9 62     

£10,001 - 
£25,000 

6 107     6 107     

£25,001 - 50,000         0 0     

£50,001 - 
£100,000 

        0 0     

£100,001 - 
£150,000 

4 465     4 465     

£150,001 - 
£200,000 

        0 0     

>£200,000         0 0     
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Total 19 634 0 0 19 634 0 0 

 
 

Exit packages: other 
(non-compulsory) 
departure payments - 
2016/17 
  

20
16

/1
7 

Pa
ym

en
ts

 
ag

re
ed

 
N
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r 
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16

/1
7 

To
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£0
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N
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20
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f 
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£0

00
  

Voluntary redundancies 
including early retirement 
contractual costs 

        

Mutually agreed 
resignations (MARS) 
contractual costs 

        

Early retirements in the 
efficiency of the service 
contractual costs 

        

Contractual payments in 
lieu of notice          

Exit payments following 
employment tribunals or 
court orders 

        

Non-contractual payments 
requiring HMT approval*i         

Total 0 0 0 0 

of which:         

non-contractual payments 
requiring HMT approval 
made to individuals where 
the payment value was 
more than 12 months’ of 
their annual salary 

  

        

  
 

 
3.24 Code of governance  
 

The Trust has applied the principles of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance on a comply or explain basis. The NHS Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance, most recently reviewed in July 2014, is based on the principles of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012. The Trust has reviewed our 
compliance with the ‘NHS Foundation Trust code of governance’. As a result of this 
review, we consider that CUH complies with the main and supporting principles of 
the code of governance. This includes the issue of whether or not all of the NEDs 
are independent in accordance with code provision B1.1.  The Board of Directors 
has determined that all of the NEDs are independent in character and judgement. 
This includes the appointed representative of University of Cambridge, Professor 
Patrick Maxwell, the Regius Professor of Physic, notwithstanding the Trust’s 
relationship during this reporting period with the University of Cambridge, School of 
Clinical Medicine and with Cambridge University Health Partners (CUHP). 
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In relation to the more detailed provisions of the code of governance, CUH is 
compliant with the provisions with the following exceptions: 
B.1.2 Following the resignation of the Trust Chair and the appointment of Dr More 
as Interim Trust Chair, the Non-Executive directors excluding the Chair ceased to 
be in the majority on the Board of Directors. As the appointment of Dr More was 
made on an interim basis, it was agreed that it was not appropriate to make an 
additional substantive appointment for a relatively short period of time. However, 
an interim appointment was made on 01 March 2017. Following Dr More’s 
appointment as Chair after the period covered by this report an additional 
substantive Non Executive Director will be appointed. 
B.1.3 The Chief Nurse holds a position of partner governor of Papworth Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust and the chair of Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a 
partner governor of the CUH Council of Governors. During the reporting period the 
Director of People and Business Development of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
NHS Foundation Trust was a partner governor on the CUH council of governors.  

 
 
3.25 NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework 

 
NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework provides the framework for 
overseeing providers and identifying potential support needs. The framework looks 
at five themes:  

• Quality of care  
• Finance and use of resources  
• Operational performance 
• Strategic change  
• Leadership and improvement capability (well-led)  

 
Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4, 
where ‘4’ reflects providers receiving the most support, and ‘1’ reflects providers 
with maximum autonomy. A foundation trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where 
it has been found to be in breach or suspected breach of its licence.  
The Single Oversight Framework applied from Quarter 3 of 2016/17. Prior to this, 
Monitor’s Risk Assessment Framework (RAF) was in place. Information for the prior 
year and first two quarters relating to the RAF has not been presented as the basis 
of accountability was different. This is in line with NHS Improvement’s guidance for 
annual reports.  

 
Segmentation  
NHS Improvement has assessed the Trust as being within segment 3, which 
includes providers receiving mandated support for significant concerns: there is 
actual or suspected breach of licence, and a Regional Support Group has agreed to 
seek formal undertakings from the provider or the Provider Regulation Committee 
has agreed to impose regulatory requirements. 

 
This segmentation information is the Trust’s position as at 31 March 2017. Current 
segmentation information for NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the 
NHS Improvement website.  

 
Finance and use of resources  
The finance and use of resources theme is based on the scoring of five measures 
from ‘1’ to ‘4’ where ‘1’ reflects the strongest performance . These scores are then 
weighted to give an overall score. Given that finance and use of resources is only 
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one of the five themes feeding into the Single Oversight Framework, the 
segmentation of the Trust disclosed above might not be the same as the overall 
finance score here. 
 

Table 25 
NHS Improvement Single Oversight Framework 
 
Area Metric 2016/17 Q3 score 2016/17 Q4 score 
Financial 
Sustainability 

Capital Service 
capacity 

4 4 

 Liquidity 4 4 
Financial efficiency I and E Margin 4 4 
Financial Controls  Distance from 

financial plan 
1 1 

 Agency Spend 1 1 
Overall scoring  3 3 
  

 
3.26 Annual Governance Statement  

 

Scope of Responsibility  
 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s 
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and 
departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS 
foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are 
applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
 

The Purpose of the System of Internal Control 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of 
Cambridge University NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those 
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in 
place in Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 
31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts. 
 
The system of internal control integrates a number of individual controls as 
described in other sections of this statement, and other key policies and procedures 
such as the Standing Orders, identification of matters reserved to the Board, 
Standing Financial Instructions and Scheme of delegation used to govern the 
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Trust’s activities, together with checks and balances provided by board oversight, 
and internal and external audit reviews 
 

Capacity to handle risk 
 
The Board of Directors leads the management of risk within the Trust. The Board 
Assurance Framework provides clarity by identifying risks to the Trust’s 
organisational objectives, together with key controls and assurances and gaps in 
those controls and assurances. It is reviewed monthly in a peer review process by 
the Executive Directors who are leads for each risk and jointly at the Senior 
Management Team and Management Executive meetings, and is then considered at 
the Board, noting movements in risk and mitigating actions being taken.  It is 
reviewed by each Executive Director leading on each risk then jointly at the Senior 
Management Team. All entries on the BAF are now considered by the relevant 
Board Assurance Committees. During the year it has undergone a full review.  
 
The Board has previously considered and agreed the principles regarding the risk 
that the Board is prepared to seek, accept or tolerate in the pursuit of its 
objectives, and key principles determining the Trust’s risk appetite were determined 
as reported in our Annual Report 2013/14 which remain in place. The key principles 
are under review. 
 
The Board and Board Committees receive monthly a Integrated Report providing 
detailed information on the Trust’s performance against key quality, operational 
performance, finance and workforce metrics, both national and local.  
 
All serious incident investigations are commissioned by the Executive team via the 
new Serious Incident Executive Review Panel. All newly commissioned serious 
incidents requiring investigation are listed in the monthly Integrated Report. All 
serious incidents are reported to our lead Commissioner and subject to a Root 
Cause Analysis level investigation aligned to the NHS national SI framework. The 
Quality Committee receives a monthly report on serious incidents including themes 
and actions taken. 
 
 
The operational responsibility for risk management work is managed locally by the 
relevant Division. The Divisions are required to have a process in place by which 
risks are identified, verified, mitigated and managed at a local level, and 
responsibility for these processes rests with the Divisional Director supported by the 
Divisional Associate Director of Operations and Divisional Head of Nursing. 
Divisional red risks are reviewed by Executive Directors at Divisional Performance 
Meetings.  The process is intended to facilitate a seamless risk management system 
from Board to ward as the Director of Corporate Affairs is responsible for the 
maintenance of the Board Assurance Framework.  
 
Information on incidents is included in the divisional scorecards in the monthly 
integrated report. Incident information is reviewed at the monthly Divisional Quality 
meetings. 
 
The principles of risk management are included as part of the mandatory corporate 
induction programme and guidance and training are provided to staff through the 
annual refresher programme, risk management training, trust-wide policies and 
procedures and feedback from audits, inspections and incidents. 
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The Trust also learns from good practice through a range of mechanisms including 
those mentioned together with clinical supervision and reflective practice, individual 
and peer reviews, performance management, continuing professional development 
programmes, clinical audit and application of evidenced based practice. 
 

The Risk and Control Framework 
 
The Risk Management Strategy sets out the key responsibilities for managing risk 
within the organisation.   The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy and Policy is being 
updated and will be published in 2017.  Safety incidents identified by divisions and 
corporate teams are reported to the Board via the monthly Integrated Performance 
Report.  
 
Corporately, risks are broadly divided into operational, strategic and risks relating 
to major projects. Operational risks are captured on an electronic risk register, 
whilst strategic risks are captured on the board assurance framework.  

Subsequent to actions recommended by its internal auditors and an external quality 
governance review the Trust has devised and is implementing a Risk Management 
Improvement Plan (RMIP); this plan will be completed by March 2018. A key aim of 
the RMIP is to strengthen the identification, description, oversight and proactive 
management of risks via the Trust’s Risk Register (Ward to Board); including the 
introduction of a new Corporate Risk Register. 
 
The Board has previously agreed the principles regarding risk which the Trust is 
prepared to seek, accept or tolerate in pursuit of its agreed objectives. The 
principles regarding risk are focussed on quality, finance and value for money, 
innovation, commercial opportunities, compliance and regulatory framework, 
reputation and workforce. 
 
The Board has a collective responsibility for quality and has taken a number of 
measures to ensure that quality forms an integral part of the Trust’s activities. 
There is a clear quality governance structure within the organisation which has 
been reviewed during the year against Monitor’s Well Lead Framework. 
The Quality Committee provides assurance to the Board regarding the delivery 
of high-quality care to our patients. The Committee oversees the 
implementation of the Trust’s Quality Strategy and its ongoing development, 
and reviews progress against the Strategy at each meeting. It oversees the 
development of and agrees priorities for the Trust’s annual Quality Account. The 
Committee reviews the quality of care delivered to patients by means of the 
monthly Integrated Performance Report and other relevant data, with specific 
attention to ensuring that the Trust is focussed on: 
 

• Improve the experience of our patients through person-centred care 
• Improve our staff experience through treating workforce as partners 
• Improve safety and eliminating avoidable harm through harm-free care 
• Improve our reliability through delay-free care 
• Providing clinically effective care 

 
The Committee oversees the Trust’s compliance with its own internal clinical 
standards and the requirements of its external regulators. It reviews the Trust’s 
Clinical Audit programme, compliance with the requirements of the Care Quality 
Commission, and Trust preparedness for inspection, compliance with the Monitor 
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Well Lead Framework. 
 
It also oversees the Trust’s overall programme for continuous clinical quality 
improvement, to ensure that the Trust learns, shares and takes appropriate action 
in respect of safety reporting, and prospective and proactive patient safety risk 
detection; information and experience from outside of the Trust; external reviews 
of Trust activity and the results of clinical audit. 
 
The Quality Committee leads on the development of the Quality Account, which 
the Trust publishes annually, as described below. 
 
The Trust has in place an Information Governance policy which sets out the Trust’s 
commitment to ensuring that information is efficiently and effectively handled, 
managed and safeguarded.  The policy establishes a robust information governance 
framework which includes up to date policies, procedures and accountabilities.  
Managers within the Trust are responsible for ensuring that the policy and its 
supporting standards and guidelines are built into Directorate processes and that 
there is on-going compliance. 
 
The Trust complies with the requirements of the Connecting for Health Information 
Governance Toolkit for the management and control of risks to information. The 
Medical Director is the Trust’s senior information risk owner (SIRO), reporting to 
the Board, and Dr Adrian Boyle, Consultant in Accident and Emergency is its 
Caldicott Guardian. Senior managers across the trust are information asset owners 
accountable for a particular group of information assets, under the Information 
Governance Policy and management framework. The Information Governance 
Steering Group is chaired by the SIRO and reports periodically to the Board through 
the Quality Committee.  Current level of compliance with Information Toolkit is 
82%. 
 
The BAF sets out the principal risks to the delivery of the Trust’s strategic 
objectives. The Executive Director with delegated responsibility for managing and 
monitoring each risk is clearly identified. The BAF describes controls in place to 
manage each of the risks and explains how the Board is assured that those controls 
are in place and operating effectively. 
At 31 March 2017 the Trust sees its major risks as: 
 

1. Insufficient capacity and demand management to deliver safe, timely and 
appropriate patient care  
2. The Trust Estates Strategy is not aligned to the Trust Strategy and Clinical 
Services Strategy resulting in poor, compromised or delayed investment 
decisions which result in Statutory and Regulatory compliance failures preventing 
delivery of services 

 
The Trust has identified mitigations and assurances on controls, together with 
control and assurance gaps, and the Board receives regular reports to assure itself 
that mitigations are operating where this is within the Trust’s ability to do so and 
that those mitigations are effective. 
 
Risks to Foundation Trust Governance  
The Trust was subject to a full inspection by the CQC in April 2015. The Trust 
received an overall ‘inadequate’ rating and was placed into special measures in 
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September 2015. The Trust was partially re-inspected in February 2016 and 
the outcome of the partial re-inspection was the Trust was rated ‘requires 
improvement’. A further full inspection was undertaken in September 2016 and 
the outcome of the inspection was that the Trust was rated ‘good’ and was 
removed from special measures.  
 
The Trust actively worked with NHS Improvement and with other stakeholders 
to address the issues identified.  
 
One of the enforcement undertakings agreed with Monitor in September 2015 
related to governance. During the reporting period the Trust commissioned a 
diagnostic governance review from an independent consultant and a further 
review from PwC. The action plans from the reviews have been developed and 
in advanced stages of implementation. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit opinion covering 2016/17 identified issues with the 
following areas  
 

• eHospital benefits realisation 
• Health and Safety (fire safety) 
• External benchmarking  

 
The Trust is actively addressing the issues identified. 
 
The Board is responsible for setting the vision and values and the strategic 
objectives of the Trust. The Trust’s governance documents establish the roles and 
responsibilities of directors and other trust officers. For 2016/17, the Trust has 
identified ten organisational objectives and will review the principles regarding risk 
in the light of those objectives. The organisational objectives relate to harm free, 
delay free, person centred and clinically effective care, research and development, 
education and development, workforce as partners, strategic developments, being 
operationally effective and financially sustainable.  
 
 
The Audit Committee is the committee with primary responsibility for 
overseeing the Trust’s governance and assurance process and in particular for 
independently reviewing the effectiveness of risk management systems and 
ensuring that all significant risks are properly considered and communicated 
to the Board. 
 
The Finance and Performance Committee, the Quality Committee and the Workforce 
and Education Committee provide independent and objective oversight of the Trust’s 
performance in these areas, reporting to the board with the assurances it needs on 
financial and operational performance, clinical quality and effective management of 
the workforce. 
 
The divisions meet with the executive team monthly to allow interrogation of 
divisional performance and to ensure accountability of the divisions to the Board. 
Each division provides a balanced scorecard of performance information which is 
included in the integrated report, interrogated monthly by the Board of Directors. 
 
The Board Assurance Framework, considered monthly by the Board, provides 
information on the Trust’s strategic risks. 
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A risk assessment against the Monitor license is carried out annually.  
 
Involvement of stakeholders in risk 
The Trust endorses three principles which underpin the quality framework:   

• Quality is at the heart of all that the Trust does;  
• There is an open and transparent culture to facilitate a learning organisation; 
and  
• -The organisation will work collaboratively with stakeholders to ensure the 
quality and safety of services and demonstrate commitment to continual 
improvement.  

 
Further information regarding patient and public engagement in the Trust is 
included in the annual report.   
 
The Trust informs and engages with its Commissioners throughout the year in 
relation to risk through regular meetings to review contract/clinical quality matters 
and to engage with them on the development of the Trust’s Quality Account.  In 
addition, the Trust engages with public stakeholders and the local Health watch in 
discussions including consideration of risk which impact upon them. Governors are 
also involved in discussing those risks which impact upon the public and members 
through regular meetings at which the Integrated Report is presented and 
discussed, and they are fully involved in the development of our Annual Plan and 
Quality Account. 
 
The Trust is required to be registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and 
declare compliance with the fundamental standards of quality and safety. The Trust 
was subject to a full inspection by the CQC in April 2015. The Trust received an 
overall ‘inadequate’ rating and was placed into special measures in September 
2015. The Trust was partially re-inspected in February 2016 and the outcome of the 
partial re-inspection was that the Trust was rated ‘requires improvement’. A further 
full inspection was undertaken in September 2016 and the outcome of the 
inspection was that the Trust was rated good and was removed from special 
measures. 
 
The overall Executive Director Lead for CQC compliance is the Chief Nurse. 
 
The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the 
Care Quality Commission. 
 
The Trust is required to register with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and its 
current registration status is registered with compliance conditions.  
 
CUH has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the Care 
Quality Commission during the reporting period. 
 
The Trust continues to monitor compliance against all of the CQC fundamental 
standards of quality and safety on an ongoing basis. The board of directors and the 
quality committee are updated monthly via the integrated quality report.  
 
Other Control Measures 
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within 
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the Scheme Regulations are complied with.  This includes ensuring that deductions 
from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in 
accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are 
accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations. 
 
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under 
equality, diversity and human rights are complied with.   
 
The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction 
Delivery Plans are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil 
contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure 
that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate Change Act and the 
Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with. 
 

 
Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 
resources  
The Trust’s Operational Plan for 2016/17 was approved by the Board of Directors 
supported by the Council of Governors.  The operational plan for 2016/17 was 
submitted to and accepted by NHS Improvement.   
 
Progress against the delivery of the annual plan is monitored by the Finance and 
Performance Committee. Progress against cost improvement plans is monitored 
throughout the year by a robust daily PMO process reporting to weekly 
Management Executive and thereafter to the Board of Directors via Finance & 
Performance Committee, and overseen fortnightly by a Finance Steering Group and 
a six weekly Recovery Board. 
  
The objectives set out in the Trust’s Internal Audit Plan include ensuring the 
economical, effective and efficient use of resources and this consideration is applied 
across all audits. The findings of internal audit reports are reported to the Audit 
Committee.  Non-financial audits relating to Quality are considered by the Quality 
Committee. 
 
The process to ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently and 
effectively across clinical services include divisional reviews and the regular 
monitoring of clinical indicators covering quality and safety. 
 

Information Governance  
This year we have had serious incidents relating to information governance which 
includes data loss or confidentiality breach. These were classified as level 2 in the 
Information Governance Incident reporting tool. These cases have been/not been 
reported to the Information Commissioners Office and action has been taken as 
follows : 
 
Table 26 

Date 
of 
Incide
nt 

Nature of incident Nature of data 
involved 

Number 
of people 
potentiall
y affected 

Notificati
on steps 

Action taken 
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April 
16 

Paper found  Handover sheet 32 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

April 
16 

Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

April 
16 

Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

April 
16 

Paper found  Handover sheet 51 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

April 
16 

Missing paper Hand held notes 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

May 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

May 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

May 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

April 
16 

Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

April 
16 

Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

May 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Jun 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Jun 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Jun 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

July 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Jun 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 2 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Jun 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

July 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Sep 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Sep 16 Patient received Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 
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another patients data 
Jun 16 Patient received 

another patients data 
Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Sep 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Aug 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Sep 16 Research study data 
contained PID 

Study data 63 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Sep 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Oct 16 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Oct 16 Paper found Handover sheet 30 ICO/CCG Full investigation 
Oct 16 Paper found Handover sheet 30 ICO/CCG Full investigation 
Oct 16 Paper found Handover sheet 30 ICO/CCG Full investigation 
Nov 16 Patient received 

another patients data 
Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Dec 16 Paper found Patient documents 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 
Jan 17 Paper found ECG document 12 ICO/CCG Full investigation 
Feb 17 Patient received 

another patients data 
Correspondence 21 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Feb 17 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Feb 17 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Feb 17 Paper found Handover sheet 30 ICO/CCG Full investigation 
Mar 17 Patient received 

another patients data 
Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Mar 17 Patient data sent to 
the wrong address 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

Mar 17 Patient received 
another patients data 

Correspondence 1 ICO/CCG Full investigation 

 
 
 
Table 27 
Incidents classed at a severity rating of 1 or less 

Category Nature of incident Total 
A Corruption of inability to recover electronic data 0 
B Disclosed in error 135 
C Lost in transit 0 
D Lost or stolen hardware 6 
E Lost or stolen paperwork 53 
F Non secure disposal – hardware 0 
G Non secure disposal – paperwork 0 
H Uploaded to website in error 0 
I Technical security failing (including hacking) 0 
J Unauthorised access/disclosure 0 
K Other 79 

 
Annual Quality Report 
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The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the 
form and content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above legal 
requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 
 
The Board of Directors has agreed that the Quality Report will be considered and 
recommended by the Quality Committee of the Board.  The Quality Committee was 
also responsible for deliberating on priorities to be included in the Quality Report, 
including representation of clinical colleagues’ views.  Discussions also took place 
with Governors, when they endorsed items for inclusion in the report, and selected 
indicators for audit as they are required to do. External stakeholders including the 
Trust’s lead commissioners were also involved in the development of the Trust’s 
priorities. 
 
The Chief Nurse is the Executive lead for quality reporting.   
Information to support the quality metrics used in the Quality Report are held in a 
number of trust information systems including the EPIC system and the risk 
management system and are supported by analysis of reporting, and national 
returns.   
 
The assessment of quality indicators is integrated into the Trust’s performance 
management system, and hence they are subject to review by operational and 
managerial staff on a monthly basis in a structured framework of performance 
review initially within divisions and then at Board Committee and Board level 
through the Integrated Report which is also interrogated by governors at regular 
quarterly meetings. The reliability of the data is periodically audited by the Trust’s 
internal auditors. The data used in the Quality Account is subject to external and 
internal audit processes. 
 
The Trust’s priorities for 2016/17 were identified in support of the Trust’s Quality 
Strategy (2013-2018) which has five aims, to: 
 

• Improve the experience of our patients through person-centred care 
• Improve our staff experience through treating workforce as partners 
• Improve safety and eliminating avoidable harm through harm-free care 
• Improve our reliability through delay-free care 
• Providing clinically effective care 

 
Targets aligned to each of the priorities have been identified and are reported to 
the Quality Committee.  
 
The Trust’s Quality Report included within the Annual Report reports on our 
performance against the priorities and targets selected.  
 
Review of effectiveness  
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control.  My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit, and the 
executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS Foundation Trust who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework.  I have drawn on the content of the Quality Report attached to this 
Annual Report and other performance information available to me.  My review is 
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also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management 
letter and other reports.  I have been advised on the implications of the results of 
my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board of 
Directors, the Audit Committee, the Quality Committee, the Finance and 
Performance Committee and the Workforce and Education Committee and the 
Internal Auditors, and plans to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place. 
 
My review is also informed in a number of other ways. The role of the Board and of 
the Audit Committee are described in the risk and control framework section above. 
As previously described, the Board and Board Committees review risks to the 
Trust’s objectives through monthly monitoring and discussion of the Integrated 
Report, which reports performance in the areas of quality performance finance and 
workforce. The risks can then be addressed in a timely manner. The Board 
Assurance Framework is also reviewed monthly and the Board Committees have 
carried out ‘deep dives’ to understand the risks and mitigations during the year 
under report. I have also been informed by the work of the internal auditors during 
the year, working to a risk-based plan agreed by the Audit Committee, and the 
action plans which address areas for improvement.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit opinion has concluded that the organisation has an 
adequate and effective framework for risk management, governance and internal 
control. However, their work has identified further enhancements to the framework 
of risk management, governance and internal control to ensure that it remains 
adequate and effective. 
 
I agree with the conclusion that areas for further development include  e-Hospital 
benefits realisation and fire safety audits.  Actions have been identified to close the 
gaps identified in audit reports related to these areas and these have either been 
implemented or are in the process of being implemented. 
  
The result of the external auditors’ work on the annual accounts and annual report 
are also a key assurance. 
 
Other external assurance is provided by CQC intelligent monitoring reports, clinical 
governance reports including the information included in the monthly integrated 
report and outcome of the clinical audit programme, and the results of inspections 
by external organisations. 
  
Significant control issues  
As in previous years, capacity remains a risk and control issue for the Trust, which 
impacts on, amongst other things, its ability to deliver its targets (Cancer 62-day, 
18 week referral to treatment and A&E four-hour waits), the quality of patient care 
and its financial position. 
The Audit Committee has reviewed the overall framework for internal control, and 
has recommended this statement to the Board of Directors. 

 

Conclusion 
No significant control issues (i.e. issues where the risk could not be effectively 
controlled) have been identified in respect of 2016/17.  I am satisfied that all 
internal control issues raised have been, or are being, addressed by action plans 
and that these action plans are subject to appropriate monitoring. 
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Roland Sinker 
CUH Chief Executive 
25 May 2017 

 
 

3.27 Equality and diversity report 
 

Overview 
 
The Trust is committed to tackling inequality of opportunity and eliminating 
discrimination - both within the workforce and in the provision of services.  The 
Trust has a legal responsibility under the Equality Act 2010 to: 
 

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
• Advance equality of opportunity 
• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant characteristic 

and those who do not.  
 
 The nine protected characteristics  are:   

 Age 
 Disability 
 Ethnicity 
 Gender 
 gender reassignment 
 marriage & civil partnership 
 pregnancy & maternity 
 religion or belief 
 sexual orientation 
 Publish information to demonstrate compliance with the general duty at 

least annually  
 Prepare and publish equality objectives every 4 years.  

 
The Trust takes due regard for equality by undertaking equality impact 
assessments for equality analysis when reviewing policies or when planning 
changes to services as part of organisational change processes to ensure our 
functions and services are not discriminatory. 
 
The Trust aspires to excellence as part of its values Together, safe, kind and 
excellent. The Trust aims to go beyond the minimum threshold of legislation by 
being an exemplar of best practice.  The Trust recognises that a richly diverse 
workforce representative of the population we serve will better identify the needs 



 Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
91 

 

both of our staff and patients and that staff perform best at work when they can be 
themselves. 
 
This report sets out the Trust annual progress report and actions to promote 
workforce and service equality and diversity across the Trust 
 
NHS equality delivery system (EDS) 
 
The EDS has been developed by the NHS England Equality and Diversity Council to 
improve equality and diversity practice in the NHS as a tool to embed equality and 
diversity practice to meet the public sector equality duty.  

 
The EDS contains 18 outcomes grouped under four goals. The four goals are: 
a) Better health outcomes for all 
b) Improved patient access and experience 
c) Workforce – the NHS as a fair employer 
d) Inclusive leadership at all levels 

 
Continuous improvement is prompted by a grading system, The grading system is 
red (underdeveloped), amber (developing), green (achieving) and purple 
(excelling) RAGP rating system. A core part of the EDS is engagement with local 
interest groups. It is these local interests that grade how well they think the Trust 
is doing as an organisation. These grades are then published on the Trust website.  
   
EDS2 rating 2016  
The Trust uses the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS) as a tool to drive equality 
improvements to engage with patients, staff and the community to review our 
service and employment equality performance and to identify future priorities and 
actions for the Trust’s equality objectives. The Trust’s directors each have 
responsibilities for equality and diversity. The Trust’s annual EDS equality 
engagement and rating event was held on 26 September 2016 with a panel of 
community groups who rated our equality performance, identified the EDS 
outcomes to focus for our equality objectives and a revised EDS improvement plan 
to meet them. The EDS improvement plans for 2015/16 and 2016/17 have included 
implementation and embedding of the Accessible Information Standard and the 
Workforce Race Equality Standard action plan.  
The Trust’s EDS rating reporting template and annual equality objectives to address 
the gaps are  published on the Trust website. The outcome of our 2016 EDS rating 
was also reported by the CEO to the Board in January 2017. 
 
http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/nhs-
equality-delivery-system-eds  

 

Workforce Race Equality Standard 
 
In July 2015 all NHS Trusts were required to published their Workforce Race 
Equality Standard metrics as part of the new NHS contract. The Trust published the 
first WRES baseline report and action plan on the public website on 26 June 2015. 
 

http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/nhs-equality-delivery-system-eds
http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/nhs-equality-delivery-system-eds
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On 13 July 2016 the Trust Board had a training session first with the equality lead 
on the public sector equality duty Board responsibilities followed by Yvonne Coghill 
OBE, Director WRES Implementation NHS England who gave a presentation to the 
Board on the WRES and CUH WRES metrics. This presentation was also given to the 
wider leadership at CUH.  
 
The second WRES reporting template and action plan were approved by the Board 
in September and are published on the Trust public 
website.  http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-
diversity/workforce-race-equality-standard-wres-report  
 
Key activity on the WRES action plan has included: 

• Executive mentoring scheme of BME staff  
• Use of the incident decision tree at disciplinary investigations as a 

checking mechanism  
• Disciplinary and Recruitment audits and greater detailed analysis 

drilled down by Division/Corporate area to identify “hot spots”  
• A series of BME staff focus groups facilitated by Yvonne Coghill, OBE 

and national WRES team members: November 2016 “listening into 
action” focus group attended by over 50 black and minority ethnic 
staff and   April 2017 “Let’s talk about inclusion” focus group of  BME 
staff with the Trust Directors listening to BME staff experiences and 
discussing proposed actions for a co-produced WRES action plan for 
2017.  

Roland Sinker is senior responsible officer for this work  
 
The WRES report and action plan are standing items for the Workforce and 
Education committee of the Equality, Diversity and Dignity Steering committee.  
 
Leadership and management of equality and diversity 

 A number of working groups drive equality activity in the Trust. They are: 
 

Equality, Diversity and Dignity Steering Committee: chaired by the Director of 
Operations, the steering committee is responsible for leading, monitoring and 
evaluating equality and diversity work within the Trust. The committee reports to 
the Trust Board and the Quality Committee. The steering committee meets 
quarterly and standing items include review of all patient complaints which highlight 
equality, diversity and dignity issues experienced by patients; workforce equality 
monitoring data; review of implementation and progress on the Trust’s NHS 
equality delivery system (EDS) improvement plan, including implementation of the 
Accessible Information Standard and the Trust Workforce Race Equality standard 
action plan and feedback from the equality and diversity staff group meetings.  

 
Equality and diversity staff group: responsible for identifying and addressing 
staff and service issues in relation to equality, diversity and dignity. This is a staff 
equality network of diversity champions whose members are self-nominated with 
the support of their line manager.  This was originally established as a BME staff 
network in 2001 but broadened in scope to cover all equality protected 
characteristics. The group is chaired by the Equality lead, meets bimonthly and 
reports to the equality, diversity and dignity steering committee on issues and 
recommendations. The group promotes the national NHS personal, fair and diverse 
campaign  

Recent equality and diversity staff group activity includes: 

http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/workforce-race-equality-standard-wres-report
http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/workforce-race-equality-standard-wres-report
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• Campaigning on disability access issues and facilities in CUH  
• Engagement on the EDS and NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard and 

coproducing the Trust’s WRES action plan  
• Talks for NHS equality and human rights week in May 2016 
• Arranging speakers from various equality and diversity campaigning 

organisations  
 
LGBT and Straight Alliance  
 
This staff group of LGBT and straight allies campaigning for LGB inclusion in the 
workplace was launched on International Day Against Homophobia and Transphobia 
(IDAHOT) 17 May 2013 and meets quarterly.  

 
“It’s Not Just You group” staff group for mental wellbeing and resilience and 
“CUH Time to change” group of mental health first aiders  campaign  against 
mental health stigma and organised events and talks for the Trust’s Mental Health 
Week for World Mental Health day 10 October 2016 and for Time To Change 
national Time To Talk Day on 4 February 2017.  
 
Learning and disability working group: chaired by deputy chief nurse. 
Membership includes the Trust's learning disability specialist nurse, patients with 
learning disabilities and their carers with other external agencies including 
Voiceability advocacy service. The group works to improve services for patients 
with learning disabilities.  
 
Vulnerable adults working group: chaired by deputy chief nurse to ensure 
needs of vulnerable adults are safeguarded and cared for appropriately  

 
Dementia strategy group: chaired by deputy chief nurse and multidisciplinary 
professional representation; carer representatives; external partners and 
representatives from groups such as Dementia UK and Alzheimer’s society. 

 
Accessible Information Standard Implementation Task and Finish group: 
chaired by Assistant Director of Nursing Patient Experience set up in September 
2015 to implement the new standard. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Equality monitoring  
As required by the public sector equality duty, the Trust’s workforce equality 
monitoring information is published on the CUH public 
website. http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-
diversity/employment-monitoring  
This includes: 

• the profile of our staff by age band, disability, race, religion, sex, sexual 
orientation and marital status 

http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/employment-monitoring
http://www.cuh.org.uk/about-us/our-responsibilities/equality-and-diversity/employment-monitoring
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• ethnic profile of our staff compared to the local population  
• recruitment data by age band, disability, race, religion, sex, sexual 

orientation and marital status (those applying, shortlisted and appointed) 
• staff in post by pay band by age, disability, race, sex and sexual orientation 
• the number attending training courses by age band, disability, race and sex 
• the number of leavers by age band, disability, race and sex 
• employee relations cases (disciplinary, capability, performance and sickness 

bullying and harassment) cases by age band, disability, race and sex 
 

Our patient profile is published on the Trust website equality and diversity pages. 
 
Key equality and diversity activities for training, service equality 
and workplace in 2016/17 
 
Training and awareness 

• The “Understanding Unconscious bias” e-learning package from Skillboosters 
was launched in 2016 and is mandatory for all line managers, supervisors  
and all staff within the workforce directorate. It is also a pre-course learning 
requirement for all staff undertaking recruitment and selection training.  
This is in addition to an E-learning module on equality and diversity and 
inclusion as part of our biannual e-learning refresher training. 

• Be Disability Confident Workshops – our new re-launched refreshed disability 
awareness training to improve staff knowledge, and confidence about 
disability for service delivery and in the workplace  delivered since Autumn 
2016 covers:  sight loss, hearing loss; mobility; dementia; learning disability 
and autism   

• Learning disability specialist nurse who provides training for clinical teams on 
the needs of learning disability.  

• Dementia awareness training programme for staff has been in place since  
2011 and during 2014 – 15 was expanded to include showing of  ‘Barbara’s 
Story’ for staff in post and at corporate induction. 

• Mental health first aid training for staff continues to be provided by the 
Trust’s specialist mental health nurse.  Over 500 employees have attended 
this training and act as link points in their areas.  

• The Cambridgeshire public health Traveller Health Liaison Nurse has provided 
Gypsy/Traveller cultural competence training for clinical staff in the 
Emergency Department and Rose Maternity Hospital  

• The Trust’s LGBT and Straight Alliance have organised talks for LGBT 
awareness and  Trans member and Unison LGBT Equalities Officer has held 
half day and 1 hour trans awareness workshops for the Trust  

• The Trust hosts the Diversiton Diversity calendar on the Intranet (Connect) 
and on the public website. Occasional talks on specific faith groups have 
been held.  For instance,  in May 2017 for NHS equality and Human Rights 
week the Equality and diversity staff group held a talk on Ramadan  
 

Service equality 
 

Key activities in 2016/17 to improve service equality have included:  
• Implementation of the new National Accessible Information Standard by 31 

July 2016 with the task and finish group. The Trust was a national pilot site 
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for the Accessible Information standard and contributed to the final standard 
guidance produced by NHS England. Focus groups were held with experts 
from disability groups 

• Alert codes on the EPIC hospital information system are added by staff as a 
flag on a patient’s record to identify and  flag a patient’s communication 
needs at the time of referral and what the adjustments are to  meet those 
communication needs  

• A new email address has been set up  accessibility@addenbrookes.nhs.uk for 
patients, carers, GPs and staff to request information in an accessible format 
or request an interpreter   

• Inclusive Hospital Picture/Photo menus which are accessible for all patients 
who have communications disabilities or difficulty speaking English to easily 
choose menu options.  

• Personal listeners for communicating with patients with hearing loss with or 
without a hearing aid are available to book from the Medical equipment 
library which maintains them  

• Dementia Wrist band and Forget Me Not symbols are used to identify 
patients with dementia or delirium 

• Use of Addenbrooke’s Arts funding by the Trust’s Falls coordinator to fund 
Dance and Movement classes on Ward J2 day room for patients with 
cognitive impairment and/or mobility problems   

• The Trust has several specialist nurses for types of disability: a Learning 
Disability Nurse, a Dementia Specialist nurse; a Mental Health Nurse   

• Vulnerable adult link nurses in place in medicine, in surgery and 
neurosciences clinical divisions.  

• Dementia champions training for staff  
• ‘This is Me’ dementia passport is used, completed with patient and carer to 

assist staff caring for patients with dementia  
 

Workplace 
 

• All employment policies reflect the requirements of the Equality Act 2010:  
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion in Employment policy;  dignity at work 
procedure; recruitment and selection procedure; flexible working procedure; 
organisational change policy.  

• The Trust is a “Disability Confident” Employer 
• The Trust was only the second NHS organisation to sign the ‘Changing Faces’ 

charity ‘Face Equality at Work’ charter in April 2011.  
• The Trust has been a ‘Mindful Employer’ charter signatory for employers who 

are positive about mental health since 2009 and reviewed its charter 
commitments in 2011 and 2014. 

• Entered Stonewall ‘Workplace Equality Index 2017,  for the seventh year  
• The Trust has signed up to NHS Employers Learning Disability in employment 

to pledge to increase the numbers of employees recruited with a learning 
disability with an action plan to address this.  
 

 Events held in 2016/17 include: 
 
• 1 Dec 2016 World AIDS day stall selling red ribbons for National Aids Trust 

with AIDs charity DHIVerse 

mailto:accessibility@adeenbrookes.nhs.uk
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• February 2017 LGBT history month raising of the Rainbow flag and thanks to 
sponsorship by Unison hosting of LGBT History month timeline exhibition that 
was originally produced by NHS North West in 2011 and reproduced and 
added to by Unison LGBT equalities officer. Alex Montgomery   

• CUH “Time to change group and mental health first aiders have arranged 
events to challenge stigma and mental health discrimination: in July 2016 for 
The Big Weekend in Cambridge, health and wellbeing fair;  10 October 
organised Open Mind Night cabaret which raised over £220 for SANE;  
On 4 February 2017 Time to Change Time To Talk a stand serving tea, cake 
and information logged as many 5 minute conversations about mental health 
and promote support for staff in the Trust  

• International Women’s Day 8 March 2017 with thanks to sponsorship from 
Barr Ellison solicitors, the equality lead organised a day of events on the 
campus to celebrate and promote gender equality with guest speakers, Prof 
Dame Elizabeth Anionwu, CBE, DBE and Kate Atkin, MSc, leadership coach 
presenting a session on managing the Imposter Phenomenon; with speed 
coaching sessions and exhibition stands. The theme for the day was 
#BeBoldForChange and a Pledge wall was used to encourage delegates with 
suggested actions to Be Bold For Change for gender equality in the 
workplace. 
 

Public engagement activities on equality and diversity 
The Trust engages with a range of different protected groups on equality and 
diversity issues and Trust governors also attend public meetings. 
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3.28 Sustainability and climate change report  
 
Introduction 
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to 
work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve. Sustainability 
means spending public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources 
and building healthy, resilient communities.  By making the most of social, 
environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate 
and longer term even in the context of the rising cost of natural resources. 
Demonstrating that we consider the social and environmental impacts of our 
activities ensures that the legal requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) 
Act (2012) are met.  

We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, staff, visitors and local 
communities by working hard to minimise the ‘footprint’ of our local and global 
environmental impacts. 

As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to 
contribute towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon 
footprint of the NHS, public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 
baseline), equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020.  

An organisation’s carbon emissions fall into two distinct groups:  

1. ‘internal’ carbon emissions over which we have direct control. For the Trust this 
includes those emitted from on-site utilities consumption, travel for work, on-site 
waste management and specific clinical or research processes. 

2. ‘external’ carbon emissions that are embedded within the broad expanse of 
supply and disposal chains which provide goods and services to the Trust. This 
includes those associated with the extraction of natural resources, the manufacture 
of goods, their distribution and subsequent off-site waste management contracts. 

Figure 1: it is important to recognise where we have direct control over our environmental 
impacts and where we can only seek to apply influence indirectly. 

 

 

 

 

 

Over the past ten years the Trust has used specific policies and programmes of 
work to improve consumption efficiency and reduce waste. This has saved the Trust 
significant amounts of money whilst managing its carbon footprint, saving natural 
resources and reducing pollution. 

Weighing against this progress, in terms of achieving absolute reductions, has been 
the ongoing expansion of the campus and its services and an increasing demand for 
healthcare provision.  

From this position, the Trust is working to contribute to the NHS, public health and 
social care system carbon reduction target under two distinct headings (as 
introduced above): 



 Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
98 

 

1. Internal and directly controllable emissions: covering those of material 
significance emitted from on-site utilities consumption, travel for work, on-site 
waste management and specific clinical or research processes.  
The Trust is currently on a trajectory to reduce these directly controllable 
emissions by 20% by 2020 (from a 2013/14 baseline). This contribution should 
reach 25-30% by 2025. 

2. External supply chain emissions: covering those associated with the 
extraction of natural resources, manufacture, distribution and off-site disposal 
of all the goods and products the Trust uses and consumes in everything it 
does.  
We will attempt to exert influence through procurement processes and 
contractual relations in order to contribute to the national target. However, we 
cannot genuinely measure this contribution and so are unable to set a 
meaningful target. Accurate carbon disclosure in the supply chain and any 
claims of savings are beyond the Trust’s capacity to verify. 

One of the difficulties that organisations 
have in delivering carbon reduction is that, 
in itself, it often means little to people in a 
practical day-to-day way. The Trust has 
recognised this and now seeks to promote 
sustainability through what has been called 
the ‘circular’ economy, as opposed to what 
has become the more typical ‘linear’ 
economy of take-make-use-throwaway (see 
Figure 1). This circular approach endeavours 
to look at all goods, services and healthcare 
practices in terms of lifecycle assessment. 
This means that for everything we do, or 
purchase, we really make sure that all the costs (many of which are hidden)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
are included in decision-making. These will include the costs associated with utility 
consumption, carbon emissions, biodiversity, pollution, transport and how to re-use 
or recycle items at the end of their immediate use to us. Once included, it is an 
easier job to account for and reduce them: saving money, creating sustainable 
value and cutting carbon emissions. 

 

Policies 
One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the 
use of a Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP). The Trust’s Board 
adopted the CUH SDMP in 2013. This is currently in the process of being 
comprehensively redrafted and will be put forward for approval in the summer of 
2017.  

This document is supported and augmented by a range of more subject specific 
policies and procedures. These include an extensive Travel Plan that appropriately 
embraces the wider Cambridge Biomedical Campus. This is also presently subject to 
a comprehensive review, with adoption again scheduled for the coming summer. 

Other key documents include our Environmentally Sustainable Design and 
Construction Protocol, the Waste Management Policy and Waste Disposal 
Procedures, and several policies relating to aspects of energy and water 
management. 

Figure 2: A ‘circular’ economy 
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Sustainability is now referenced within the Trust’s tender preparation guidance. 
Procurement procedures are being developed to ensure that lifecycle costings are 
appropriately covered in relation to energy, waste, water and transportation. 

The Sustainable Development Unit for the health and care system in England 
provides a very helpful Good Corporate Citizenship tool for the general assessment 
and benchmarking of how well an organisation has embraced sustainable 
development. To date the Trust has used this as an effective checklist of its activity 
and has recently been involved in steps to further improve this valuable tool’s focus 
and application.  

Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the 
healthcare estate, and also to patient health. Examples from recent years include 
the effects of heat waves, and the extreme surface water flooding event of 17 July 
2015. Our SDMP identifies the need for the development of a Board approved 
adaptation plan for future climate change risks affecting our area. Key elements of 
this will be the Sustainable Water Management Plan, currently being drafted in 
collaboration with the Cambridge City Council, alongside continuing work on 
environmental cooling. 

 
Partnerships and collaboration 
 
Partnerships, networks of change and less formal collaborative working 
arrangements, are fundamental aspects of the route to sustainability for any 
organisation and the communities it serves. This point is very clearly made in the 
Trust’s SDMP. Actions for a more sustainable world make little impact in isolation. 
Sustainability is for everyone.  
 
Some responses are very technical whilst others are just about ‘doing the right 
thing’ as we go about our lives. Everything from upgrading the gas burners in our 
steam-generating boilers to simply putting what we see as rubbish into the correct 
bin so that it can be properly recycled. No one wants to waste resources, 
experience pollution, see our natural environment decline or face the dangerous 
impacts of climate change. The Trust recognises that the responsibility to prevent 
this happening is not something that one department, one team of ‘green 
champions’ or one hospital can shoulder on its own. Reaching out and searching for 
support that works in both directions across all our healthcare colleagues, patients 
and visitors, and our partners in the public, private, voluntary and community 
sectors is essential to an environmentally sustainable future. 
 
In 2016/17 we have established or maintained productive or potentially productive 
relationships for the purposes of advancing environmental sustainability with the 
following external partners: Cambridge City Council, Cambridge County Council, 
Greater Cambridge City Deal, Connecting Cambridgeshire, Cambridge Sustainable 
Food, Circular Cambridge, Cambridge Cycling Campaign, University of Cambridge, 
Medical Research Council, AstraZeneca, Papworth Hospital, National Union of 
Students, Cambridge Cleantech and local community groups. 
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Performance 
 
Energy and Water 
The sustainability of our mains grid supplied utilities is principally controlled by 
three factors: i.) nationally or regionally centralised extraction, generation and 
distribution; ii.) conversion and distribution on site (e.g. high voltage to low voltage 
electricity, gas to steam and hot water, and the softening of water), and; iii.) 
demand management at the point of consumption (e.g. variable speed drives, LED 
lighting and consumer behaviour change). Changes to national tax levies have 
meant the Trust can no longer make the business case to purchase lower carbon 
grid electricity supplies. We have recalibrated our carbon emission calculations to 
reflect this change. 
 
 
Figure 3: Energy based carbon emissions from main utilities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
With previous plans to build and operate a new campus energy centre being 
postponed, we now anticipate the site converting from steam to higher efficiency 
low pressure hot water and providing high efficiency combined heat and power 
supply from 2023 (reflected in the step-change in carbon reduction target stated in 
Section 1.1, above). This revised timeline has brought into play a new medium 
term investment programme for the existing Boiler House plant. This is progressing 
well and should deliver significant savings in gas consumption and costs.  
 
For almost ten years now, the Trust has consistently delivered an annual 
programme of energy saving upgrades for heat and power plant and equipment 
across the site. This is delivered from a revolving and ring-fenced Salix fund 
established in 2007. The following projects were developed and committed this 
year. 
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Figure 4: Invest-to-save demand-side measures energy projects 2016-17  

 
Alongside these technical demand-side responses to energy cost-saving and carbon 
reduction, runs an all-important set of behaviour change actions tied to staff, 
patient and visitor personal responsibilities – re. Section 1.4.5 below. 
 
An essential element of an effective demand-side measures programme is the 
accurate metering of supplies at half-hourly intervals and then linking this to an 
automated monitoring and targeting system. 2016/17 saw us begin a major refresh 
and upgrade of the Trust’s metering strategy. Beginning with the boiler-house and 
moving out to the main satellite distribution points and beyond, we are re-
invigorating the transition to automated meter reading. With this in place we will be 
better placed to target technical solutions, pinpoint over-consumption and trial the 
desirable transition to devolved billing for CUH divisions and department. 
 
The Trust’s water consumption, like energy, reflects the intensity of the 24/7 
activity that is the mark of large acute teaching hospital. Our supply still benefits 
from pressure control technology. Consumption has remained steady throughout 
the year at approximately 35,000m3 per month. Significantly reducing consumption 
alongside our closely managed flushing and infection control regime is challenging. 
With the deregulation of the commercial water market in 2017/18 we will be 
looking for additional support from a new combined water supply and effluent 
provision arrangement. 

 
    
Waste Management 
CUH’s carefully managed on-site waste incineration service provides an additional 
aspect of sustainability not available to many other hospitals. Steam generating 
boilers ensure that the heat from the closely regulated high temperature burning of 
clinical waste is safely recovered and put towards keeping the hospital warm. Last 
year the decision was made not to include the relocation of clinical waste disposal 
within the new energy centre plans. This has facilitated the development and 
implementation of an upgrade programme to improve the plants’ fuel efficiency and 
throughput. In the short-term this has limited plant availability as the works have 
been carried out. This is partially reflected in this year’s performance split figures 
(N.B. these were set back in 2015 with the loss of a recycling stream for incinerator 
ash). 
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Figure 5: Breakdown of main waste disposal routes (N.B. the CUH domestic waste disposal 
contract ensures that majority of this waste is managed through mechanical and biological 
treatment rather than landfill) 

Having already ensured 
that all clinical and ward 
areas have ready access 
to dry-mixed recycling 
bins, the roll-out 
programme this year 
has extended to 
administration and 
office areas. This has 
seen the replacement of 
multiple small domestic 
wastepaper bins with 
one or two slightly 
larger lidded green bins. 
This combined with the 
important switch to 
green bin-liners, and a 
boost to the numbers of 
waste-hold 770 litre 
trolley bins, have set 

the foundation to permanently extracting the estimated 40-50% of domestic waste 
that has previously not been separated out for recycling. Not only will this further 
protect valuable natural resources, reduce pollution and cut carbon but also save 
the Trust more money. The contract disposal of domestic waste costs over double 
that for dry-mixed recyclables.  

 
The Trust’s intranet-based Swap Shop, for the re-use of unwanted equipment, 
furniture and consumables, continues to provide a valuable service. This will be 
reviewed in 2017/18 to see if there is a viable option to extend and develop the 
reach of our re-use activity. Any changes will need to account for the perennial 
problem of available storage space.  

 
 

Travel for Work 
2016/17 has crystallised the more inclusive approach to campus travel planning 
that was introduced by the Travel Plan adopted in January 2014. Anyone visiting 
the western side of the hospital campus over the past 12 months will have noticed 
the construction of several large new buildings: the global headquarters for both 
AstraZeneca and Abcam, the new Papworth Hospital and the University of 
Cambridge’s Project Capella research laboratories and Addenbrooke’s Clinical 
Research Centre. The implication of this expansion is that between 2018 and 2020 
an additional 8,000 people will potentially need to access the Cambridge Biomedical 
Campus (CBC) on a daily (Monday to Friday) basis.  
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Figure 6: Current and future sustainable transport provision for the Cambridge Biomedical 
Campus  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

The Trust’s staff already have a strong record for getting to work sustainably – very 
approximately an even three-way split between cyclists, bus users and car drivers.  
Working with our new and existing site partners, together with the County Council’s 
City Deal transport programme and community stakeholders, a new CBC-wide 
Travel Plan has been drafted. The objective of this new plan is to ensure that, as 
the campus grows, its staff, patients, visitors and goods will be able to access it 
easily, efficiently and sustainably, and that active and healthy travel will flourish.  
 
Sustainable Procurement 
It is estimated that over 60% of the Trust’s carbon footprint is ‘embedded’ within 
the goods and products it uses and consumes. These comprise the carbon 
emissions from the extraction of materials and subsequent manufacture and 
distribution of all the items that CUH purchases to provide safe, kind and excellent 
healthcare.  
Although we cannot directly control the individual supply chain elements, we can 
influence them through our purchasing decisions. 
 
Practically measuring and thereby setting targets for the impact of this influence is 
currently beyond the Trust’s reach, but, on a case by case basis, some sustainable 
inroads can be made into supply chains. This is done by requesting disclosure of 
lifecycle assessment (LCA) evidence from suppliers of all the materially significant 
energy, water, waste and transport aspects of the individual products being 
purchased. This LCA evidence should relate to: i.) extraction, manufacture and 
distribution prior to receipt, ii.) all the in-use elements of energy and water 
consumption, and, iii.) any implications for CUH regarding transportation and waste 
disposal (of both packaging and the items themselves). An LCA is a detailed piece 
of work that is only worth pursuing when some, or all, of these elements have been 
recognised as material to more sustainable decision-making.  
 
From some trial work begun last year, we are now more formally using this 
approach in drawing up tender specifications which we know will have material 
implications for furthering sustainability. These have included: the taxi service 
contract – showing a clear preference for low emission vehicles; the boiler house 
plant upgrade project – prioritising very high efficiency burners, and; disposable 
bed-bay curtains – specifically including supplier recycling options within the 
specification and assessment process (this provided a higher value recycling option 
and removed 23t/annum of waste from our incinerators).  
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Environmental sustainability is now routinely considered in our Pharmacy 
department’s purchasing decisions and also for day-to-day healthcare items via the 
Clinical Consumables Evaluation Group. The latter draws upon the Trust’s highly 
developed in-house expertise and experience in pre-acceptance waste audits for all 
clinics, wards and theatres.     
   
Behaviour Change 
Few people want to see resources wasted or cause avoidable damage to our natural 
environment. The pressures of a busy hospital often mean, however, that the 
impacts of our day-to-day actions on these issues can easily be overlooked.  
Maintaining a constant background of communications around saving energy and 
water, minimising waste and more active travel is therefore very important.  
Over the last twelve months this has been provided through the ongoing ‘Save-It’ 
and ‘Think Green’ communications campaigns interleaved with one-off ‘spot-light’ 
and other specific calendar events (e.g. NHS Sustainability Day and NHS 
Improvement Day).  
This approach has been 
supplemented in 
greater depth and focus 
by the Think Green 
Impact programme. 
2016/17 took the 
original trial into a full 
pilot launch which saw 
over twenty small 
teams across the 
campus endeavour to 
ensure that their work 
areas and colleagues 
were really staying on 
top of their energy and 
water consumption 
whilst minimising waste 
and promoting more sustainable travel options – all which saved money, cut carbon 
and improved wellbeing. Ten of these teams subsequently achieved a fully audited 
bronze or silver award that certified their commitment to saving money, improving 
team wellbeing and looking after our environment.  
The communication of environmental values also comes in many other forms… 
…from the work our grounds team deliver in looking after our valuable green 
spaces, to bringing together projects to improve the quality of the outdoor 
environment - as typified in the new Outpatient Garden… 
…from our Maintenance team fixing damaged clinical waste bins, to the regular 
checking of lights being left on overnight by our security contractor, Indigo… 
…from the Environmental Services Porters carefully collecting segregated waste 
(across over thirty different recycling streams), to Addenbrooke’s Abroad 
channelling redundant equipment into health centres in the developing world. 
All of these actions, and many more, show that the Trust is well positioned to 
establish a wider leadership role in promoting environmentally sustainable values 
and all the benefits this will bring. 

 
 
 
 

 

Figure 7: 2016 Think Green Impact award winners 



 Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
105 

 

 
Looking forward 
 
2017/18 will be another busy year in meeting our patient, staff, visitor and local 
community responsibilities to minimise the ‘footprint’ of our local and global 
environmental impacts. 

High on the priority list will be the adoption and implementation of the new CBC-
wide Travel Plan (in advance of the extensive new building occupations from 2018) 
and the plant efficiency upgrades within the Boiler House. Alongside this the new 
Sustainable Development Management Plan will refresh and update our delivery 
approach to take us into the 2020s.  

We will be pushing the Think Green Impact to secure total coverage of Estates and 
Facilities whilst continuing to attract the outstanding contribution from volunteer 
teams across all divisions. This will be backed up by endeavouring to ensure that 
new staff quickly become familiar with their individual responsibilities for 
sustainable energy and water use, and waste segregation, through the new starter 
induction process. 

From a broader perspective, there is a real opportunity to help work up the 
environmental sustainability content for aspects of the recently published Fit for the 
Future Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation Plan. 

 
3.29 Other issues 

The activities and policies of the CUH in the areas of social, environmental, 
community and human rights are outlined earlier in chapter 3 and specifically the 
equality and diversity report and sustainability and climate change report. 
 

 
 
 
Roland Sinker 
Chief Executive Officer 

 25 May 2017
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4. The quality report 
 
4.1 Part 1 - Introduction 

 
 Statement from the chief executive 

I am pleased to report that there have been some considerable quality 
improvements at Cambridge University Hospitals (CUH). 

The Trust has made good progress since we were placed in special measures by our 
regulators in September 2015. At the beginning of this year we were removed from 
special measures and saw the improvement of our Care Quality Commission rating, 
from ‘inadequate’ to ‘good’ after inspectors in September 2016 found that progress 
had been made across many areas of the Trust.  

Such improvement reflects the considerable efforts made to improve our services 
for our patients and the hard work of our staff in providing the best possible care 
for our patients every day. During my regular visits to wards and clinics I see first-
hand the strong commitment and desire from staff to provide the very best care 
and I am very grateful to them for all their hard work, as well as to our partners 
and our patients for their constructive feedback and suggestions for improvement. 

Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie remain the hospitals of choice for patients across the 
region and nationally, and we have seen some excellent results this year. CUH has 
retained its place as a Trust with one of the lowest death rates in the country, so 
almost all of our patients experience harm-free care, putting us in the top five 
safest teaching hospitals in the country. 

As well as this, we have made great strides in outpatients. Our outpatients Friends 
and Family Test that asks patients if they would recommend the services they have 
used, shows improved results from 72 per cent to a score of 90 per cent, and the 
number of patients who have not been checked in when attending has been 
reduced by 90 per cent, which is a huge achievement. 

We have also increased our use of the NHS e-referral service from 50 per cent to 
80 per cent and cleared a significant backlog of appointments. There is still work to 
do to clear the remaining  backlog, and the Trust is dedicating significant attention 
to resolving this issue. 

We acknowledge that the improvement we have seen so far is the first step in a 
much longer journey for the Trust and are determined to build on the progress 
made in the past year. We will learn from the findings of the most recent CQC 
report and over the coming months and years will focus our attention on a number 
of important areas which will take longer to resolve, for example, ongoing issues 
with capacity and performance related to the emergency pathway.. 

The Trust has worked hard to improve capacity and responsiveness, and this will 
remain a key area of focus throughout 2017/18.  

As we continue our quality improvement journey our aim is to realise much more 
than a passed inspection; it is to explore ongoing ways to improve the quality of 
the care we provide, working with our patients and staff. We must transform 
patient pathways and services in order to meet the increased demand for our 
services whilst providing excellent patient outcomes in a financially sustainable 
way. Part of the way we achieve this will be to continue our work with system 
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partners to understand what they can do and what our patients need, so we can 
achieve better patient flow and fewer delayed transfers of care.  

We are pleased to be working with our partners within the local health economy to 
improve the care provided by the local healthcare system through the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation Plan. Our work 
as part of this plan will also feed into our new strategy for the organisation, 
developed with our staff, patients and local partners to define our services for the 
next five years and map out our return to financial sustainability.  

Our goal is to ensure that patients see the right person as soon as possible, with no 
long waits for treatment. This means working with partners to provide care closer 
to people’s homes, making sure the right staff are in the right places, and 
continuing to develop research, education, and innovation in healthcare that will 
lead to the treatments of the future.  

We want to be rated as an outstanding organisation, and we hope that our strategy 
will help us to achieve this. We will also need the help and support of our patients, 
our staff and our stakeholders and I look forward to working together with them to 
deliver further progress as part of our quality improvement journey in 2017/18. 

 

To the best of my knowledge the information in this document is accurate. 

 
Roland Sinker 
Chief Executive Officer 
25 May 2017 
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2016/17 activity 
During 2016/17 we treated more patients than ever before; the following table sets 
out key activity numbers.  
 

Table 26 
Patients treated: comparison of 2015/16 and 2016/17 

 2015/16 2016/17 Change 

Visits to outpatients 684,560 743,752 8.6% 

Births 5,763 5,582 -3.1% 

Day cases 123,429 127,170 3.0% 

Total inpatients 70,673 65,475 -7.4% 

− elective 19,693 17,139 -13.0% 

− emergency > 85 years old 6,005 6,410 6.7% 

− emergency < 85 years old 37,453 35,094 -6.3% 

− maternity 7,522 6,832 -9.2% 

A&E attendances 108,972 110,067 1.0% 

Total  993,397 1,052,046 5.9% 

 
In 2016/17 the Trust has seen a further increase in the number of patients treated. 
This increase in demand has, and will, continue to challenge us and the wider 
health economy in terms of having sufficient beds and staff to deliver the services 
required. As seen by the increase in the over 85 year old emergency population the 
acuity of patients with urgent and complex conditions has continued to increase. As 
emergency activity occupies 87% of the Trust’s beds and this patient group’s length 
of stay is higher, an increase in this patient group has a marked effect on our ability 
to deliver inpatient planned elective care within the timeframes we aspire to. The 
Trust has also seen a 3% decrease in the number of babies delivered from births in 
2016/17. Birth rates do fluctuate and this is not expected to be a continued trend. 
 

Data and terms used in this report 
Unless stated otherwise, the data presented in this report is the latest available at 
31 March 2017. 
For an explanation of terms and abbreviations please see the glossary set out in 
Appendix E. 
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4.2 Part 2 - Priorities for improvement and statements of 
assurance from the board 
 

CUH Vision, Strategy and Values 
CUH’s vision is to improve people's quality of life through innovative and 
sustainable healthcare. 
 
Our strategy is: 

• To become sustainable by 2021 across care quality, finance, teaching and 
research  

• To build on our position at the centre of a biomedical hub 
• To maximise the benefits for patients, staff and the UK economy  

 
This means consistently delivering exceptional care to our patients whilst 
maintaining financial balance, at the same time as delivering expert teaching, 
pioneering research and retaining a workforce that is happy, motivated and 
supported. We will achieve this by: 
 

1. Improving 
patient 
journeys 

The way innovation and improvement has been achieved 
successfully elsewhere in healthcare, is to follow the patient 
journey. In doing this at CUH, we will identify opportunities to re-
design how care is delivered to improve patients’ experiences, 
improve health outcomes and minimise waiting. Through this we 
will strengthen services by improving productivity. 

2. Working with 
our 
communities 

There is growing evidence that patients can be cared for in 
different ways, focusing resources in the community and closer 
to home. In moving towards these new models of care and 
working closely with other organisations locally to implement the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and 
Transformation Programme (STP), our aim is to prevent episodes 
of illness, reduce length of stay in hospital, and reduce 
duplication of interventions and tests. This key priority for CUH, 
will not only improve quality of care for patients, but also release 
hospital capacity that can be used to meet the needs of our 
growing population. 

3. Strengthening 
the 
organisation 

This programme will focus on improving the leadership, 
governance and functional capability of CUH, incorporating 
cultural change and organisational development work. Effective 
leadership of services, with ownership and accountability for 
decisions, will be critical for making progress against the first two 
programmes. We must ensure there is good and rapid decision-
making across all levels of the organisation, with clarity on who 
has responsibility for each decision. We want to nurture a culture 
in which there is healthy and open communication around 
performance, supported by intelligence and information at our 
fingertips.  
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4. Contributing 
nationally and 
internationally 

CUH is renowned as a premier teaching hospital, with particular 
expertise in a number of specialties. It is co-located on the bio-
medical campus alongside Cambridge University and other leading 
research institutes including the Medical Research Council and 
Cancer Research UK. These advantages also allow the potential for 
redevelopment of the estate and diversification of revenue streams 
that will contribute to longer term stability of CUH beyond the next 
three to five years. Success will mean flourishing services and world-
class research, where clinicians feel supported to develop innovative 
ways to improve clinical practice, with CUH making the most of 
opportunities in highly specialised services, teaching and bioscience 
research. 
 

 
Our strategy will be implemented through a single unified approach to be known as 
CUH Together. 

CUH Together 

 
 
CUH Together combines all future CUH improvement activities under our four 
strategic programmes. Successful implementation will require the development and 
embedding of a single approach to improvement across the organisation, beginning 
in the first quarter of 2017/18 with a small number of pilot improvement teams 
focussed on specific areas under the four programmes.  
 
In support of CUH Together, through organisational development programme work 
we have co-designed with CUH staff agreed ways of working that will guide our new 
Improvement Teams: 
 

- Choose to improve 
- Pull together as a team 
- Make good and timely decisions 
- Be trusted and accountable 
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- Be open and learn from our mistakes 
 
The Chief Nurse and the senior nursing leadership team are working to align the 
nursing, midwifery and allied health professionals’ strategy and priorities to the 
CUH together strategy. 
 
The behaviours underpinning these will co-exist with our Trust values, which remain 
Together -  Safe, Kind and Excellent. 
 
Duty of candour  
The introduction of the statutory duty of candour regulation was an important step 
towards ensuring an open, honest and transparent culture and was in direct 
response to recommendation 181 of the Francis Inquiry report into Mid 
Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust.  
This regulation aims to ensure providers promote a culture of candour, openness, 
and honesty at all levels. In order to be compliant with regulation 20 CUH has to 
ensure that following a safety incident which results in moderate harm or higher, 
we make sure the patient/relative is fully informed of the incident, an apology is 
given, support is offered and a letter is sent to the patient/relative summarising 
these discussion with an offer to share any learning from the investigation. 
Since October 2015, evidence for compliance with the duty of candour regulation 
has been recorded within CUH on the Trust’s Quality and Safety information System 
(QSiS). However, following the CQC inspection in 2016 it was identified that CUH 
was not able to evidence full compliance with regulation 20. In response to the CQC 
visit the QSIS fields have been updated to help frontline staff record the required 
evidence and new reporting functions have been built in QSiS to help us monitor 
more effectively our compliance with the regulation; thereby ensuring all reporting 
of compliance can be evidenced. 
In addition following the CQC inspection an improvement plan for duty of candour 
was agreed and will be fully implemented by March 2018. The overall aim of this 
improvement plan is to ensure that for 2017/18, CUH will be and can evidence, 
100% compliance with the duty of candour regulation. 
 

Patient Safety Improvement Plan 2016/17 
The Patient Safety Improvement Plan (PSIP) is a programme designed to deliver 
continuous clinical quality improvement initiatives. Key aspects of the programme 
were intended to be led by the new clinical qualityiImprovement team; however, 
due to the dissolution of this team the implementation of this programme was 
curtailed. Nonetheless, the following aspects of the programme have been 
progressed by the safety and quality support team over 2016/17. 

 
Learning and Improving from safety data:  
 
Risk Management 
In the last 12 months the continued implementation of our QSiS electronic risk 
management system has been successfully achieved with the following new 
modules now live: risk register; clinical audit; serious incidents; and actions. A Risk 
Management Improvement Plan is in progress to ensure we continue to develop our 
risk management systems and processes to enhance safety learning. 
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Serious Incident investigations (SI) 
The serious incident process has been reviewed and an improvement 
programme is underway. Milestones achieved in 2016/17 are: a new policy for 
incidents requiring investigation, including serious incidents; a new Root Cause 
Analysis (RCA) training programme has created 70 RCA trained staff capable of 
leading serious incident investigations; QSiS aligned to national definitions of 
serious incidents; SI action plan module live on QSiS; Executive led serious incident 
decision making and report sign-off; and improved oversight of and compliance 
with duty of candour regulations. The remaining serious incident improvement 
programme milestones will be implemented by March 2018. 

 
Reducing avoidable mortality 
From April 2017, NHS Trust and Foundation Trusts must collect and publish, on a 
quarterly basis, specified information on deaths, including those that are assessed 
as more likely than not to be due to problems in care, and evidence of learning and 
action that is happening as a consequence of this information. 
In 2016 the Trust has been preparing for this national launch date with the 
formation of a Mortality Surveillance Committee. This group over 2017/18 will 
implement a new Mortality Surveillance policy ensuring all deaths are reviewed 
using the structure judgement review methodology. This will be supported by a 
training programme and a central electronic database to collate information to 
support patient safety improvement. 

 
Improving clinical effectiveness: 
Deteriorating Patient 
The Recognise and Respond Committee oversees all aspects of care related to the 
deteriorating patient. In 2016 it ensured the successful implementation of the 
National Early Warning Scoring (NEWS) systems via the Rapid Respond Team. 

 
Reducing mortality from Sepsis 
The Sepsis Action Group is a workstream that reports to and is supported by the 
Recognise and Respond Committee. Phase one of the sepsis programme 
commenced in 2016 and consisted of the implementation of the ‘sepsis six’ care 
bundle in the Emergency Department (pilot site). Over 2016/17 the pilot area has 
been used to develop functions within Epic to both alert staff to the possibility of 
sepsis and then to guide staff to implement the six elements of the sepsis care 
bundle.  
The ED has achieved 76% (February 2017) compliance with the sepsis care bundle 
and 100% for screening of all patients for sepsis at the point of triage. Considering 
the context of the operational pressures this is a commendable performance by the 
Emergency Department team. 
Phase two of the sepsis programme will begin in 2017/2018. Phase two consists of 
rolling out the sepsis six bundle to inpatient areas across the Trust, using the sepsis 
Epic order set and Epic reporting functions. Phase two will be supported by the 
appointment of a sepsis nurse to lead the project in collaboration with funded time 
for the sepsis Clinical Lead.  
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Focussing on the Patient Safety Improvement Plan for 2017/18 
The Patient Safety Improvement Plan (PSIP) is a continuous programme of 
improving clinical effectiveness, reducing harm and creating a mature patient safety 
culture. In the next 12 months the clinical quality improvement team will be re-
invested in and will lead the clinical quality improvement aspects of the PSIP going 
forward.  
The PSIP priorities for 2017/18 will be to continue the work begun in the last 12 
months (as outlined above) and in addition to implement a new initiative, the 
National Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures (NATSSIPs) 
 
The three key Patient Safety Improvement Plan priorities for 2017/18 are: 

• National Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures  
• Mortality 
• Sepsis care bundle 

 
National Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures  
The NatSSIPs programme brings together national and local learning from the 
analysis of never events, serious incidents and near misses, through a set of 
recommendations that will help provide safer care for patients undergoing invasive 
procedures. This is designed to enhance the existing World Health Organisation 
(WHO) Surgical Checklist focusing on human factors and patient safety culture. 
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Staff survey results for indicators KF21 and KF26 
What did we measure? How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Staff who believe that the Trust 
provides equal opportunities for 
career progression or promotion 
(KF21) 

83% 85% 

 

The national average for acute Trusts for KF 21 is 87%, and the best score  
achieved in 2016 by an acute Trust was 95%. We are concerned that our score was 
below the national average. Amongst our plans we intend to focus on: 

• Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) Action plan to address areas of 
recruitment, employee and management development 

• Continue with the roll out of Understanding bias e-learning introduced in 
2016 which is mandatory for all in line manager supervisory roles and all 
staff within the workforce directorate 

• Executive mentoring scheme for BME staff 
• Engaging BME staff in “Listening into Action focus groups” 

Our performance against KF26 (percentage of staff experiencing harassment, 
bullying or abuse from staff in the last 12 months) is described in part three of this 
report. 
 
Our CQC report 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH) was placed in special 
measures by Monitor in September 2015, following the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC) rating the Trust ‘Inadequate’. The Trust implemented an ambitious 
improvement plan, and following a CQC re-inspection of areas rated inadequate in 
February 2016, CUH’s position was moved from ‘Inadequate’ to ‘Requires 
Improvement’. The Trust underwent a full re-inspection of all areas in September 
2016, following which the CQC rated the Trust as ‘Good’ overall. The outcome from 
this visit saw the announcement by NHS Improvement that CUH was to be moved 
out of special measures. The full table of ratings from the September 2016 CQC 
inspection is available overleaf.: 
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Although the services provided by the Trust were rated ‘Good’ overall, the CQC 
raised areas where CUH must improve (three of which were raised as requirement 
notices under the Health and Social Care Act Regulations 2014): 

• Secure storage of medicines (requirement notice under Regulation 12 HSCA 
(RA) Regulations 2014 Safe care and treatment) 

• Audit (and actions taken following audit) of end of life care services 
(requirement notice under Regulation 17 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Good 
governance) 

• Documentation of resuscitation decisions, specifically in relation to our own 
policy and the legal framework of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 
(requirement notice under Regulation 11 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Need 
for consent)  

A fourth must-do, not raised as a requirement notice, relates to responding to 
complaints in a timelier manner. 

The report also highlighted areas where the trust should take action to improve, 
including: 

• Environment and staffing in the emergency department relating to caring for 
children 

• Staffing levels in the specialist palliative care team  
• Mandatory training and safeguarding training 
• Delayed discharges and discharges that occur between the hours of 10pm 

and 7am in the critical care and intensive care units 
• Implementing the actions from the Trust’s safeguarding review  
• Consultant hours in maternity 
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• Referral to treatment time performance including for cancer services and 
reduce the number of cancelled operations 

• The response rate for the ‘Friends and Family Test’ 
• The risk of confidential information leaks 
• Diversions of high risk deliveries in maternity services 
• Time for end of life patients to be discharged to their preferred place of care 
• Checking and safety testing of equipment 

The CQC also highlighted areas of outstanding practice within CUH: 
• The weekly ‘music and movement’ classes on ward J2, which help meet the 

holistic needs of patients during their long-term recovery 
• The outstanding facilities of the teenage cancer unit 
• The mobile phone application called “Choose Well”, which offers guidance on 

waiting times and hospital services across Cambridge in order to improve 
the patient experience and offer choices in health care 

• The development of a crowd prediction modelling tool to enable the trust to 
understand and map patient flow through the emergency department 

• The charitable trust initiative of setting up a trauma ICU centre in Burma 
• The initiative for ‘Family Facetime’ to enable mums on the Obstetric Close 

Observation Area (OCOA) who are too unwell to visit their baby on the 
neonatal intensive care unit to receive a video link via Facetime with their 
baby 

• The bereavement follow up scheme 
The full report can be accessed on the CQC web 
site: http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RGT or on request from the Trust. 
The Trust’s Improvement Plan, which was put in place following the findings of the 
April 2015 CQC inspection, continues and has incorporated the issues raised in the 
most recent report to ensure that all areas of concern are addressed. Some long-
term actions to address the “Must and should dos” resulting from the April 2015 
and February 2016 inspection are still in progress; these are monitored monthly at 
the Trust’s Quality Steering Group. 

 
eHospital  
eHospital is the Trust’s digital transformation programme, and 2016/17 was the 
second complete ‘business as usual’ year since our electronic patient record (EPR) 
went live in October 2014.  
CUH used to ‘pull’ approximately 45,000 sets of paper notes per month before the 
introduction of Epic. Since October 2015 this number has been less than 1,000 sets 
of notes a month, and as of October 2016 this has typically been in the region of 
350 sets of notes per month. Over time it is expected that all paper notes will 
phased out from day to day use although notes will still be kept for the legally 
mandated retention periods before being destroyed. Clinical staff can now quickly 
and securely access all of a patient’s record at the click of a button on their 
internet-enabled device, instead of having to wait for potentially vital information to 
be collated from various places across the Trust and delivered by hand. 
eHospital has resulted in many benefits including halving the time for medicine to 
be dispensed from the pharmacy which means patients can go home earlier, as well 
as saving patients making an unnecessary journey to the fracture clinic because 
clinicians can now view x-rays and notes online. This ‘virtual’ fracture clinic has 
freed up 4,500 physical clinic appointments. 

http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RGT
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Building on our status as a HIMSS EMRAM* Stage 6 hospital, key progress made 
throughout the year is outlined as follows: 
*HIMSS EMRAM: Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society 
Electronic Medical Record Adoption Model. This is an eight-stage model, range 0 to 
7 (best), which allows you to track your progress against other healthcare 
organisations around Europe and across the world. 
 

 
Commodity Information Technology (IT) Services, provided by 
Hewlett-Packard (now HPE) and Novosco 

• The new Addenbrooke’s Private Cloud (APC) infrastructure** is fully live with 
network traffic flowing from the old legacy CMO infrastructure; 146 key 
clinical applications have been migrated to date and the remainder to be 
moved across by 31 March 2017 (total of 332).  
** IT infrastructure refers to the composite hardware, software, network 
resources and services required for the existence, operation and 
management of an IT environment. 

• In light of increased network issues during the latter part of 2016, HPE 
reviewed the network resilience and identified a stabilisation plan of remedial 
work. HPE has completed its network stabilisation and firmware updates 
(completed in 2016). HPE has since provided a revised network design 
incorporating more resilience. Bi-monthly calls continue between CUH and 
HPE executives. 

• HPE Project 2 (upgrading to the new PCs) - Applications Support have now 
taken over the roll out of remaining devices with help from CUH IT Leads. 
The plan has been delayed due to problems with the repackaging of 
applications. The revised target is to deploy 200+ PCs by 31 March 2017. 

 

EPR using Epic software 
• Areas where staff have reverted to paper records – where this is discovered 

we work with the area to resolve the issue. Personalisation of Epic and 
retraining of the system undertaken. Configuration of the system undertaken 
where necessary. 

• Mental capacity assessments – enhanced Epic build completed and migrated 
to the live system. Training has been amended to reflect and incorporated 
into the Nurse training plan for relevant staff. 

• Maternity record system – midwives now have a formal way of working; 
paper records kept, transcribed later if no access available. 

• ‘Last days of life’ – the Nursing Informatics Group revised flow sheet built in 
Epic with completion October 2016. 

• WiFi enabled electrocardiogram (ECG) machines – the General Electric ECG 
system -  went live on 13t September 2016.  

• Care planning training programme in place and deemed business as usual. 
Revised nurse training course agreed by the Assistant Director of Nursing. 

• Personalisation support provided by Epic continues. 
 

Optimisation and consolidation in last 12 months 
• There has been a reconfiguration of the eHospital Assurance Board. 
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• Trust wide process in place for management of any remaining paper records. 
'Paper Health Records procedures' updated (to reflect changes since Epic 
implementation) and ratified at Information Governance Steering Group. 

• Legacy data available in a repository web-based accessible – all of CUH's 
work which can be completed has been undertaken. 

• The Board of Directors agreed a shorter term plan of ten extra full time 
equivalent (FTE) staff to address immediate gaps in Epic workload 
accelerating the rate of development and optimisation. Seven FTEs are 
already appointed (two staff were promotions within the existing team), with 
the remaining posts and backfills being appointed to. 

• eHospital support link programme – 57 support links have been ‘recruited’ 
with advanced Epic knowledge to help their respective (clinical) colleagues 
and users. Support link agreements have been signed and countersigned by 
their line manager. A further seven staff have expressed an interest in the 
role. 

• Latest Q1 2016/17 CUH staff survey shows satisfaction improvement from 
the Q1 2015/16 baseline across all questions relating to eHospital, and 
sustained performance/slight improvement compared to the Q4 2015/16 
survey.  

 

 

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q1 
2015/16 
(all staff)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q4 
2015/16 
(all staff)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q1 
2016/17 
(all staff)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q1 
2015/16 
(Divs A-E 

only)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q4 
2015/16 
(Divs A-E 

only)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q1 
2016/17 
(Divs A-E 

only) 
Staff are able to 
log into the Epic 
system quickly 

82% 88% 87% 81.8% 85.2% 88.2% 

Staff are able to 
find relevant 
patient info easily 
in Epic 

81% 87% 88% 81.4% 86% 87.5% 

Staff are able to 
access the reports 
or metrics in the 
Epic system that 
are relevant to 
their role 

80% 87% 85% 79.7% 85.8% 83.8% 

Staff are satisfied 
with the support 
available/provided 
for Epic 
issues/Epic 
changes that arise 

60% 71% 74% 60% 68.2% 71.9% 

Staff who are 
confident, at the 
present time, 
that the Epic 
system supports 
them in caring for 
their patients  

78% 87% 89% 77.2% 86.2% 88.2% 
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Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q1 
2015/16 
(all staff)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q4 
2015/16 
(all staff)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q1 
2016/17 
(all staff)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q1 
2015/16 
(Divs A-E 

only)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q4 
2015/16 
(Divs A-E 

only)  

Staff who 
agreed / 

were 
neutral  

Q1 
2016/17 
(Divs A-E 

only) 
Staff who 
confident that, in 
6 months’ time, 
the Epic system 
will support them 
in caring for their 
patients  

86% 89% 90% 85.3% 88.4% 89.4% 

Staff who are able 
to find information 
about eHospital 

85% 90% 90% 84.9% 89.6% 89.7% 

The next survey Q4 2016/17 results are due in April 2017. 
• Recording care – we have seen a continued improvement in both diagnostic 

and procedure coding depth over the year, and the proportion of outpatient 
procedure Healthcare Resource Groups (HRGs) are above pre-Epic levels. 
Latest coding depth benchmarking for 2016/17 demonstrates that we are 
above upper quartile within our peer group and are working our way towards 
upper decile performance.  

• The bi-monthly Payment by Results (PbR) Strategy Group chaired by the 
Medical Director continues to provide assurance on all aspects of data quality 
affecting clinical income and reporting. 

 

Current risks/challenges 
All current operational workflows are risk assessed and managed through the usual 
Trust processes. There is no evidence at present of any systematic issues clinically 
significant issues solely related to the introduction of Epic. In addition over the last 
18 months, there is clear evidence of a number of significant safety related benefits 
occurring due to a combination of changes in operational workflows supported by 
functionality in Epic. However, the following areas remain as current 
risks/challenges:  

• Operational areas do not fully engage/are non-compliant with the Epic 
system resulting in the anticipated clinical (and financial) benefits not being 
realised. This is being addressed by an eHospital Benefits Mobilisation Group 
led by the Director of Strategy & Transformation 

• Material staffing shortfalls to optimise Epic as fast as possible 
• Ongoing review of current contract costs for eHospital 
• Inconsistent use of Epic by clinical users. Minimum standards of compliance 

being worked up in liaison with the Deputy Medical Director 
• The eHospital teams continue to review and prioritise workload, however it 

would take a significant amount of time to complete the outstanding 
requests we have with current resource levels. Accelerating the rate of 
development and optimisation will require investment – an opportunity that 
may arise when the Global Digital Exemplar Programme is fully launched 
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Ongoing work – MyChart 
MyChart is a web and mobile  application which grants patients access to their own 
clinical record. They can see forthcoming appointments, details of diagnoses, 
medication, allergies and their demographics. They can also see all of the test 
results which have been released to them as well as all clinical correspondence 
about them. This empowers the patient in the delivery of their healthcare as well as 
improving the timeliness of communication with the patient and saving the hospital 
money over time. 

• Once registered and activated, patients can access the MyChart portal via PC 
or via the MyChart application which can be downloaded onto both Android 
and Apple smartphones and tablets, enabling them to securely access 
certain parts of their medical information held within their medical record in 
our Epic system.  
They are able to view details of upcoming hospital appointments (and 
previous visits), demographics (i.e. address, date of birth, GP details), 
medications they are currently taking, any known allergies and 
letters/correspondence following a hospital visit.  
They are also able to complete pre-clinic health questionnaires electronically 
and submit prior to their clinic appointment so that they can be discussed 
during their next clinic visit.  
They can also contribute to their medical record by adding/amending 
problems, medications or allergies, which again can then be discussed with 
clinicians during their next clinic appointment. 

• Commonly used in the United States, MyChart helps to improve 
communication between patients and clinicians - enabling patients to be 
more informed and involved in their care. 

• Following the pilot, MyChart will be rolled out to each clinical specialty across 
the Trust, allowing patients to manage their care their way. 

• MyChart at CUH was shortlisted in the final three for the annual AbbVie 
Sustainable Healthcare Patients as Partners Awards 2016. 

 

Further recognition and the future 
• eHospital at CUH was shortlisted as a finalist (of three trusts) in the 

following three national eHealth Insider (eHI) Awards 2016 categories: 
o Digital NHS trust or health board of the year 
o The Chief Clinical Information Officer award for clinical informatics 

leadership 
o Best use of IT to support integrated healthcare services. 

• During this financial year NHS England invited 26 hospitals to bid for the 
status of "Global Digital Exemplar (GDE)". These hospitals were to be chosen 
on the basis of having shown success in using technology to support 
healthcare to date with a view to funding them further (up to £10m each) to 
become truly internationally recognised as digital exemplars in the field of 
healthcare.  
CUH has recently been formally named as one of these Global Exemplars; 
there are 16 exemplar hospitals in total. We are currently working towards 
due diligence and full engagement with the GDE programme moving 
forward. One of our key goals is to attain HIMSS Stage seven by the end of 
the two year duration of this programme. 

• CUH has been shortlisted in the Health Service Journal (HSJ) Value in 
Healthcare Awards for best use of IT to drive value in clinical services - 
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direct achievements of the eHospital digital transformation programme. The 
shortlisted projects will complete presentations and be interviewed to a 
judging panel on 3r April 2017. The winners will be announced at the award 
ceremony which takes place on 24th May in London. 

• The Trust also has a key role to play in the local health economy Sustainable 
Transformation Partnership (STP) Digital Delivery Group and the associated 
work streams. 
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4.2.1 Priorities for quality improvement in 2017/18 
 

CUH Together 
CUH Together – our single unified approach to implementing CUH’s strategy up to 
2021 – combines all future CUH improvement activities under our four strategic 
programmes as set out in the section above: 
1. Improving patient journeys 
2. Working with our communities 
3. Strengthening the organisation 
4. Contributing nationally and internationally 
It will be rolled out in a phased manner starting in the first quarter of 2017/18 with 
the setting up of a small number of initial pilot improvement teams. These teams 
will be clinically led where appropriate and contain a wide variety of people to 
support improvement. Learning from each phase will inform the next. In the first 12 
months the priorities will be to establish our way of working together and get the 
core elements working well. 
 
What does this mean for patients? 
CUH’s whole strategy is focused on improving the quality, safety and experience of 
care for our patients. Successful implementation by 2021 will mean: 

• Ensuring that patients see the right person as soon as possible, with no long 
waits for treatment, and able to leave hospital at the right time 

• Working with partners to provide care closer to people’s homes and help 
people stay at home when they’re unwell 

• The right staff in the right places to look after patients, with facilities that 
are fit for purpose 

• Continuing to develop research, education, and innovation in healthcare that 
will lead to the treatments of the future  

 
Following the CQC inspection in April 2015, the Trust implemented an improvement 
plan to address the findings from the inspection. This plan has informed the Trust’s 
current strategy, and connects it to the priorities for 2017/18 outlined below. The 
Trust has reviewed patient feedback continuously throughout the year via our 
quarterly patient experience reports; this has also been considered when setting 
our priorities for 2016/17. 
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Objectives and measures for 2017/18 
 

    

Safe   

  
Our aim is to reduce avoidable harm to our 
patients by improving our safety culture, 
safety systems and how we learn from past 
harm.  
 

  
 The measures we will use in 2017/18 will be: 

Our measures for 2017/18 

Safety thermometer - new harm only >98% 

Number of avoidable hospital associated grade 
four pressure ulcers 0 

Vacancy rate for registered Nursing and Midwifery 
Achieve <11% vacancy rate  

and sustain this throughout the 
year 

Vacancy rate for Healthcare Support Workers 
Achieve <15% vacancy rate  

and sustain this throughout the 
year  

Number of cardiac arrests per 1000 admissions per 
month (excluding peri-arrests) 

Reduce by 2% from  
previous year total 

% of deaths reviewed (using new national 
methodology) >50% 

Lead investigators for serious incidents to have 
attended NPSA accredited (or equivalent) training 
in root cause analysis within the previous two 
years 

100% by Q4 2017/18 

Average reported patient safety incident rate per 
1000 bed days 

Increase by 2%  
above 2016/17 average 
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Effective/Responsive   

  
Our aim is to consistently deliver high quality 
care that is effective, timely, patient centred 
and efficient. 
 

 
The measures we will use in 2017/18 will be: 

Our measures for 2017/18 

Clinical frailty score ≥90% 

Number of avoidable deaths from sepsis 
established through mortality review 

Year 1 baseline to be 
established* 

Cancelled operations on or after the day of 
admission as a percentage of total elective 
admissions 

≤1% 

Bed days lost to Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC) 
as a percentage of total occupied beds** <2.5% 

*Plan currently being developed with CCG 

**This measure has been chosen by the Trust Governors for monitoring during 2017/18 

 
    

Patient 
Experience/Caring 

 

  
Our aim is to further improve our delivery of 
patient care against our values in relation to 
compassion and communication. 
 

 
The measures we will use in 2017/18 will be: 

Our measures for 2017/18 

Percentage of complaints responded to within 30 
working days or within extension agreed with 
complainant 

≥90% 

Pain assessment recorded with every set of 
observations 

10% increase 
 from baseline by Q4 

% of patients aged 16 and over admitted as 
inpatients for more than 24 hours who have had a 
nutrition screening documented within 24 hours of 
admission. 

10% increase  
from baseline by Q4 
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Positive responses to catering service satisfaction 
survey ≥95% 

Outpatient Friends and Family Test Response rate increase by 3% 
on previous year 
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Staff Experience/Well-led   

  
Our aim is to further improve the health and 
wellbeing of our staff to ensure we have a fit 
for purpose frontline workforce, leadership 
team, and organisational culture.  
 

 
The measures we will use in 2017/18 will be: 

Our measures for 2017/18 

“I would recommend my organisation as a place to 
work” (Q21c) 

2% improvement  
against previous year 

“When errors, near misses or incidents are 
reported, my organisation takes action to ensure 
that they do not happen again” (Q12c) 

2% improvement  
against previous year 

“I would feel confident that the organisation would 
address concerns about unsafe clinical practice” 
(Q13c) 

2% improvement  
against previous year 

 
 

4.2.2 Statements of assurance from the board 
This section contains the statutory statements concerning the quality of services 
provided by CUH. These are common to the quality accounts provided by all NHS 
Trusts and can be used to compare us with other organisations. 
 

The board of directors 
The priorities and targets in our quality account were identified following a process 
which included the Board of Directors, clinical directors and senior managers of the 
Trust, and have been incorporated into the key performance indicators reported 
regularly to the Board of Directors as part of the performance monitoring of the 
Trust’s corporate objectives, and which are produced within the Trust’s data quality 
policy, framework and standards. 
Scrutiny of the information contained within these indicators and its implication as 
regards patient safety, clinical outcomes and patient experience takes place at the 
Quality Committee. 
The Board of Directors reviews the Trust’s integrated quality, performance, finance 
and workforce report each month. Reviews of data quality, and the accuracy, 
validity and completeness of Trust performance information, fall within the remit of 
the audit committee, which is informed by the reviews of internal and external audit 
and internal management assurances. 
 

Review of our services  
During 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust provided 
and/or sub-contracted 121 relevant health services. 
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The Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data 
available to them on the quality of care in all 121 of these relevant health services. 
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2016/17 
represents 99 % of the total income generated from the provision of relevant 
health services by the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for 
2016/17. 

Participation in clinical research 
The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-
contracted by Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust in 2016-17 
that were recruited during that period to participate in research approved by a 
research ethics committee was 15,882. 
 

Participation in national confidential enquiries 
During 2016/17, two national confidential enquiries programmes covered NHS 
services that CUH provides. CUH participated in both of these. 

Participation in national confidential enquiries 

Confidential enquiry 
title 

Numbers 
requested to 
submit* 

Numbers 
submitted** 

Medical and Surgical Clinical Outcome Review Programme 

Cancer in children, teens 
and young people  Ongoing 

Heart failure  Ongoing 

Provision of mental health 
in acute/ gen hospitals 4 4 

Acute pancreatitis  4 3 

Non invasive ventilation 
study 4 4 

Child Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme  

Chronic Neurodisability 
focusing on cerebral palsy  Ongoing 

Young People Mental Health  Ongoing  

* from all relevant cases identified by CUH, NCEPOD chooses a number for more detailed submission  
**Numbers submitted 100%, unless otherwise stated 
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Participation in national clinical audits 
During 2016/17, 43 (including the two NCEPOD programmes) national clinical 
audits (equates to 62 sub-projects) covered NHS services that CUH provides. CUH 
participated in all relevant audits as listed below except  one; the National 
Ophthalmology Audit. This was due to a specific report design in Epic not being fully 
available at time of data submission. 

Table 27 
Participation in national clinical audits 

Audit Title  What is the audit 
about?  

Numbers 
submitted 
(by percentage or total 
number) 

Acute Coronary 
Syndrome or Acute 
Myocardial Infarction 
(MINAP) 

This audit examines the 
quality of management of 
heart attacks (myocardial 
infarction) in hospitals in 
England and Wales  

359 

Adult asthma 
The audit covers key 
domains in relation to adults 
with asthma  

100% 

Asthma ( paediatric 
and adult) Royal 
College of Emergency 
Medicines (RCEM) 

All patients in the period 
meeting the criteria 61 

Bowel cancer 
(NBOCAP) 

Colorectal (large bowel) 
cancer is the second most 
common cause of death 
from cancer in England and 
Wales 

100% 

Cardiac rhythm 
management (CRM) 

The audit aims to monitor 
the use of implantable 
devices and interventional 
procedures for management 
of cardiac rhythm disorders 
in UK hospitals  

129 

Case mix programme 
– adult critical Ccre - 
(ICNARC)  

The aim of this audit is to 
improve resuscitation care 
and patient outcomes for 
the UK and Ireland  

100% 

Diabetes paediatric 
(NPDA)  

The audit covers 
registrations, complications, 
care process and treatment 
targets – rolling audit  

Ongoing  

Elective surgery 
(National PROMs 
Programme)  

The audit looks at the 
change in patients’ self-
reported health status for 
groin hernia surgery, hip 
replacement, knee 
replacement and varicose 
vein surgery  

Ongoing  
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Audit Title  What is the audit 
about?  

Numbers 
submitted 
(by percentage or total 
number) 

Falls and fragility 
fractures audit 
programme (FFAP), 
falls audit & hip 
fracture database  

The FFAP is a national audit 
run by the Royal College of 
Physicians designed to audit 
the care that patients with 
fragility fractures and 
inpatients falls receive in 
hospital and to facilitate 
quality improvement 
initiatives  

100% 

Head and Neck 
Cancer Audit  

The Head and Neck Cancer 
Audit (HANA) focuses on 
patients who have cancer of 
the head and/or neck, of 
which there are 
approximately 10,000 cases 
per year. The aim of the 
audit is to improve the 
services and outcomes 
achieved for these patients.  

Ongoing 

Inflammatory Bowel 
Disease (IBD) 
programme includes 
Biologics and Audit  

The purpose of this audit is 
to measure the efficacy, 
safety and appropriate use 
of biological therapies in 
patients with inflammatory 
disease; and secondly seeks 
to improve the care for IBD 
patients in hospitals 
throughout the UK.  

Moved to the IBD 
Registry  

Learning Disability 
Mortality Review 
Programme  
LeDe R Programme  

The aim of this programme 
is to review deaths of people 
with learning disability and 
to use lessons learnt to 
make improvements to 
service provision. 

Ongoing 

Major Trauma: The 
Trauma Audit & 
Research Network 
(TARN) 

TARN is working towards 
improving emergency health 
care systems by collating 
and analysing trauma care.  

100% 

Maternal, Newborn 
and Infant Clinical 
Outcome Review 
programme – 
MBRRACE-UK  

The programme investigates 
the deaths of women and 
their babies during or after 
childbirth, and also cases 
where women and their 
babies survive serious 
illness during pregnancy or 
after childbirth.  

100% 
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Audit Title  What is the audit 
about?  

Numbers 
submitted 
(by percentage or total 
number) 

National Audit of 
Dementia – Royal 
College of 
Psychiatrists 

The audit examines 
assessments, discharge 
planning and aspects of care 
received by people with 
dementia. 

100% 

National Cardiac 
Arrest Audit (NCAA) 

The purpose of this audit is 
to monitor the incidence of, 
and outcome from, in-
hospital cardiac arrest in UK 
and Ireland. 

100% 

National Chronic 
Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease 
(COPD) Audit 
Programme 

The audit programme brings 
together primary; 
secondary; rehabilitation 
and patient experience 
making it a multidisciplinary 
approach. The aim is to 
improve the quality of 
services for people with 
COPD 

100% 

National Comparative 
Audit of Blood 
Transfusion 
programme: Audit of 
Patient Blood 
Management in 
Scheduled Surgery  

Audit of Patient Blood 
Management in adults 
undergoing elective, 
scheduled surgery 

100% 

National Diabetes 
Audit Adults  

The National Diabetes Audit 
is considered to be the 
largest annual clinical audit 
in the world, providing an 
infrastructure for the 
collation, analysis, 
benchmarking and feedback 
of local data across the NHS 

100% 

National Emergency 
Laparotomy Audit 
(NELA) 

NELA aims to look at 
structure process and 
outcomes measures for the 
quality of care received by 
patients undergoing 
emergency laparotomy 

100% 

National Heart 
Failure Audit 

The aim of this audit is to 
improve the quality of care 
for patients with heart 
failure through continual 
audit and to support the 
implementation of the 
national service framework 
for coronary heart disease 

100% 
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Audit Title  What is the audit 
about?  

Numbers 
submitted 
(by percentage or total 
number) 

National Joint 
Registry (NJR) 

The audit covers clinical 
audit during the previous 
calendar year and outcomes 
including survivorship, 
mortality and length of stay 

726 – Ongoing  

National Lung cancer 
(NLCA) 

This audit was set up in 
response to the NHS Cancer 
Plan to monitor the 
introduction and 
effectiveness of cancer 
services 

100% 

National 
Neurosurgery Audit 
Programme  

All patients in the period 
meeting the criteria 100% 

National 
Ophthalmology Audit 

The project aims to collect 
and analyse a standardized 
set of nationally agreed 
cataract surgery data set, 
from all centres providing 
this service 

Complete data set not 
submitted – on track 

for 2017-18  

National Prostate 
Cancer Audit 

The audit covers 
organisational elements of 
the service and whether key 
diagnostic, staging and 
therapeutic facilities are 
available on site for each 
provider of prostate cancer 
services 

100% 

National vascular 
registry 

The audit addresses the 
outcome of surgery for 
patients who underwent two 
types of vascular 
procedures. The first is an 
elective repair of an infra- 
renal abdominal aortic 
aneurysm (AAA). The 
second is a carotid 
endarterectomy (CEA)  

100% 

Neonatal Intensive 
and Special Care 
(NNAP)  

To assess whether babies 
requiring specialist neonatal 
care receive consistent All 
patients in the period 
meeting the criteria 

100% 

Nephrectomy audit  
British Association of 
Urological Surgeons 
(BAUS)  

BAUS audits operate a 
continuous data collection 
model  

Ongoing  
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Audit Title  What is the audit 
about?  

Numbers 
submitted 
(by percentage or total 
number) 

Oesophago-gastric 
cancer (NAOGC) 

The oesophago-gastric  
(stomach) cancer audit aims 
to examine the quality of 
care given to patients and 
thereby help services to 
improve. The audit 
evaluates the process of 
care and the outcomes of 
treatment for all O_G cancer 
patients, both curative and 
palliative 

100%  

Paediatric Intensive 
Care (PICANet)  

PICANet aims to support the 
improvement of paediatric 
intensive care provision 
throughout the UK by 
providing detailed 
information on paediatric 
intensive care activity and 
outcomes 

100% 

Paediatric Pneumonia 
The audit covers key 
domains of paediatric 
pneumonia 

100% 

Percutaneous 
nephrolithotomy 
(PCNL) 

In 2015, PCNL data was 
published for the first time. 
BAUS audits operate a 
continuous data collection 
model 

Ongoing  

Radical 
prostatectomy audit  
British Association of 
Urological Surgeons 
(BAUS)  

In 2015, Radical 
Prostatectomy data was 
published for the first time. 
BAUS audits operate a 
continuous data collection 
model 

Ongoing  

Renal replacement 
therapy  

The Registry contains 
analyses of data submitted 
relating to direct clinical 
care and laboratory permit 
analysis 

2365 – Ongoing  

Rheumatoid and 
early inflammatory 
arthritis 

The overall aim of the audit 
is to improve the care 
quality of care provided by 
specialist rheumatology 
services in the management 
of early inflammatory 
arthritis.  

100% 
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Audit Title  What is the audit 
about?  

Numbers 
submitted 
(by percentage or total 
number) 

Sentinel Stroke 
National Audit 
Programme (SSNAP) 

The audit collects 
information about care 
provided to stroke patients 
in the first three days of 
hospital. Data is continuous  

100% 

Royal College of 
Emergency Medicines 
(RCEM severe sepsis 
and septic shock  

All patients in the period 
meeting the criteria 100% 

Specialist 
rehabilitation for 
patients with 
complex needs 
following major 
surgery  

This audit is conducted in 
partnership with the British 
Society of rehabilitation 
Medicines and TARN and has 
3 elements for completion  

Element 1 completed  

Stress urinary 
incontinence audit  

In 2015, SUI data was 
published for the first time  100% 

UK cystic fibrosis 
Registry  

The audit aims to examine 
both life expectancy and 
quality of life for children 
and adults with Cystic 
Fibrosis.  

100% 

 

Learning from audit 
National audits 
The results of the national clinical audits listed in Appendix C were reviewed by the 
Trust in 2016/17, and we have used these to learn and improve the quality of 
healthcare we provide.  
 

Local audits 
In addition to participating in national mandated audits, in 2016/17 the Trust 
undertook a total of 290 audit projects informed by Trust priorities, and 114 audits 
initiated directly by clinicians. The former include those resulting from patient 
safety concerns, complaints, National Patient Safety (NPSA) alerts, risk identified 
within the risk register or audit of compliance with national guidance including 
NICE. 
The reports of local audits have been reviewed by the provider to take the following 
actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided; examples of local audits 
reported in 2016-17 are included in Appendix D of this document. 
 

Use of the CQUIN payment framework 
The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) programme is a national 
framework for locally agreed quality improvement schemes, and a proportion of a 
Providers income is conditional upon the CQUIN programme being achieved. 
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A proportion of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust income in 
2016-17 was conditional on achieving quality improvement and innovation goals 
agreed between Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and any 
person or body they entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for 
the provision of relevant health services, through the Commissioning for Quality 
and Innovation payment framework. 
The potential CQUINs income available if the Trust had met all of the CQUINs 
targets was £12,960,000. In 2016/17, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust is expected to receive a CQUIN payment of £11,365,000.  
In 2015/16, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust opted to remain 
on the Default Tariff Rollover (DTR) tariff option. As a result of being a DTR 
provider, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was not eligible to 
receive payments under the national CQUIN programme. 
Further details of the agreed goals for 2016/17 and for the following 12 month 
period are available electronically from within the Trust internal systems. To 
request this information, please see the “Feedback on the quality report and 
quality account” section  or email: trust.secretariat@addenbrookes.nhs.uk  
 

Care Quality Commission registration and compliance 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH) is required to register 
with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and its current registration status is: 
Registered, with no compliance conditions. 
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against CUH during 
2016/17. 
CUH has not participated in any special reviews or investigations by the Care 
Quality Commission during the reporting period. 
 

Data quality 
Data quality refers to assurance of the information about patients recorded by the 
Trust on computerised systems. 
The Trust follows national guidelines about how these data are collected and stored, 
and we undertake regular audits to make sure that data held on the system is 
accurate and that we are compliant with what is expected. 
CUH submits records to the secondary uses service (SUS) for inclusion in the 
hospital episode statistics (HES). We also share data with partners as appropriate, 
for example clinical commissioning groups (CCGs). These data are used to plan and 
review the healthcare needs of the area.  
Cambridge University Hospitals submitted records during 2016/17 to the Secondary 
Uses Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in 
the latest published data. 
The percentage of records in the published data: 
- including  the patient’s valid NHS number : 
 99.8%  for admitted patient care; 
 99.6%  for outpatient care; and 
 99.2%  for accident and emergency care. 
- including the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code : 
 97.3%  for admitted patient care; 
 100%  for outpatient care; and 

mailto:trust.secretariat@addenbrookes.nhs.uk
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 97.6%  for accident and emergency care. 
 
CUH will be taking the following actions to improve data quality: 

• The Data Quality Oversight Group will continue to monitor the Data Quality 
Improvement Plan and its associated actions, with escalation to the Board of 
Directors where necessary. 

Information governance toolkit attainment levels 
All NHS organisations are required to comply with the ‘Information Governance 
Toolkit’. This covers standards on data protection, confidentiality, information 
security, clinical information and corporate information. Acute Trusts are assessed 
against 45 requirements and can achieve a score of between zero and three. All 
Trusts must reach a ‘level two’ in all requirements, which is then assessed as a 
satisfactory score.  
The Cambridge University Hospitals Information Governance Assessment Report 
overall score for 2016/17 was 82% and was graded as Green. 
 

Clinical coding 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the 
Payment by Results clinical coding audit during 2016/17. 
 

Independent assurance report 
Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors of Cambridge 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust on the Quality Report 
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of Cambridge University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement 
in respect of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report 
for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Quality Report”) and certain performance 
indicators contained therein. 

Scope and subject matter  
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2017 subject to limited assurance 
consist of the national priority indicators as mandated by NHS Improvement:  

• percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients at the end 
of the reporting period; and 

• percentage of patients with a total time in A&E of four hours or less from 
arrival to admission, transfer or discharge 

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the “indicators”. 

Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors  
The Directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality 
Report in accordance with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual issued by NHS Improvement. 
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, 
on whether anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:  

• the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the 
criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and 
supporting guidance;  
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• the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources 
specified in NHS Improvement’s Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on 
Quality Reports 2016/17; and  

• the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of 
limited assurance in the Quality Report are not reasonably stated in all 
material respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual and supporting guidance and the six dimensions of data 
quality set out in the Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality 
Reports. 

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and supporting 
guidance, and consider the implications for our report if we became aware of any 
material omissions. 
We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider 
whether it is materially inconsistent with:  

• Board minutes for the period April 2016 to April 2017 
• Papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2016 to 

April 2017 
• Feedback from Commissioners, dated 12 May 2017 
• Feedback from governors, dated April 2017; Feedback from local 

Healthwatch organisations 
• Feedback from Cambridgeshire County Council Health Committee in its 

scrutiny capacity 
• The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 

Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009  10 May 
2017 

• The national patient survey 
• The national NHS staff survey 
• Care Quality Commission inspection, dated 18th January 2017  
• The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control 

environment for the period April 2016 to March 2017, and  
• Any other information included in our review 

 
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively the 
“documents”). Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 
We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency 
requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 
(ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant 
subject matter experts.  
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of 
Governors of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to 
assist the Council of Governors in reporting Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. We permit the 
disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 
2017, to enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate that it has discharged 
their governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance 
report in connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of 
Governors as a body and Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for 



Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
137 

our work or this report, except where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior 
consent in writing. 

Assurance work performed  
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International 
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements 
other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information’ issued by the 
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited 
assurance procedures included:  

• evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls 
for managing and reporting the indicators  

• making enquiries of management 
• testing key management controls 
• limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the 

indicator back to supporting documentation  
• comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual to the categories reported in the Quality Report, and  
• reading the documents 

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance 
engagement. The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient 
appropriate evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance 
engagement. 

Limitations  
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than 
financial information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the 
methods used for determining such information.  
The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows 
for the selection of different but acceptable measurement techniques which can 
result in materially different measurements and can impact comparability. The 
precision of different measurement techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the 
nature and methods used to determine such information, as well as the 
measurement criteria and the precision of these criteria, may change over time. It 
is important to read the Quality Report in the context of the criteria set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and supporting guidance.  
The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-
mandated indicators which have been determined locally by Cambridge University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Conclusion 
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that 
causes us to believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2017  

• the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the 
criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and 
supporting guidance;  

• the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources 
specified in NHS Improvements’ Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on 
Quality Reports 2016/17,and  

• the indicators in the Quality Report subject to limited assurance have not 
been reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and supporting guidance 



Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
138 

Gareth Davies 
 
 
Signed:     Date:  May 2017 
 
Gareth Davies Partner, for and on behalf of Mazars LLP  
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 
Rivergreen Centre 
Aykley Heads 
Durham 
DH1 5TS 
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4.2.3 Reporting against core indicators 
The Trust’s performance against the core indicators is described at Appendix A. 
 

 
4.3 Part 3 - Other information 

 

Reviewing performance against last year’s priorities for 
improvement 
 

Focus on staff 
Objective: Our staff have the knowledge, skills and commitment to deliver safe 
and effective care. Our organisation is well-led at all levels, our managers 
supporting staff to achieve our organisational objectives and to realise their 
individual potential. CUH is seen as an enjoyable and rewarding place to work by 
our whole workforce.  

Our priorities for improvement in 2016/17 were to focus on advancing the skills and 
wellbeing of our staff, and ensuring that they are well led, as prerequisites for 
delivering safe and effective care to our patients. We also describe how we intend 
to measure our success in achieving this.  

Our focus on staff has resulted in our design and development of an ambitious 
Organisational Development Plan incorporating culture, climate, leadership and 
engagement. Significant investment has been given to the Organisational 
Development Plan over three years and in addition we have secured £1m for 
Continuous Professional Development for our staff. 

The health and wellbeing plan is continuing to roll out and governance to support 
each initiative has been refreshed, improvements across all staff survey key 
findings in relation to well-being have improved. 

Our aim is to ensure all of our staff feel supported in their roles, are well led, 
engaged and involved to deliver the trusts priorities and strategy into 2021. 
 

As measures* of overall satisfaction at work 
*All measures based on the yearly National Staff Survey results 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Staff ability to contribute to 
improvements at work 

>56% 
(average for 
acute Trusts 
in 2016/17) 

54% 60% 

We have engaged our staff in the development of strategy, culture and excellence 
workshops and in other initiatives including the design of the new appraisal process 
and the ‘start well, stay well’ programme. Visible divisional leadership and open 
sessions with Directors have improved the level of engagement across the Trust.  

The implementation of the strategy will be through a single unified approach to be 
known as CUH Together. CUH Together incorporates both the cultural and 
organisational development aspects (leadership, training, values/behaviour) and 
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the governance and support for the delivery of the four programmes (improvement 
methodology, project support, tracking).  

There are 5 key principle behaviours attributed to CUH Together:  
• Choose to Improve  
• Pull together as team  
• Make good and timely decisions  
• Be trusted and accountable  
• Be open and learn from our mistakes  

 

These behaviours will co-exist with our existing values of Together - Safe, Kind and 
Excellent and our leadership behaviours. 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Staff recommend us as a place to 
work 63% 61% 65% 

Staff recommend us as a place to 
receive treatment 84% 82% 83% 

The National ‘friends and family’ rating reflects our staffs views on the care they 
deliver at CUH and provides a comparison with other acute trusts. CUH performed 
in the top ten best performing non-specialist trusts for staff recommending as a 
place to receive treatment. This is an improvement on the previous score and well 
above the national average. Reasons for this improvement include the quality of 
staff that we recruit and develop, improved staff engagement and increased focus 
on quality and safety. 
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Extent to which staff feel motivated 
and engaged with their work 

To be above 
the average 
across acute 

trusts* 

This is a 
new 

measure for 
2016/17 

93% 

*The average for acute Trust has not been published; therefore a comparison is not possible. 

This measures our overall staff satisfaction at work and is a culmination of our 
effort to engage in a culture of improvement, in improved appraisal conversations 
and provides focus for teams around the Trust’s priorities and strategy. 
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Trust’s staff engagement score† 
Within the 
top 20% of 
acute Trusts 

3.83 3.89 

†Combines the results from all of the items above 

In 2016/17 we achieved our target of our staff engagement score being within the 
top 20% of acute Trusts. Our engaged workforce reflects the most recent 
improvements in CQC rating and our improved financial position. An engaged 
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workforce continues to have direct impact on patient quality outcomes and 
experience. 

As measures* of effective leadership and management 
*All measures based on the yearly National Staff Survey results 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
My immediate manager 
demonstrates the Trust's values 
and leadership behaviours 

>80% 81% 79% 

Senior managers, who lead this 
organisation, demonstrate the 
Trust's values and leadership 
behaviours 

An increase 
of 5% on 

previous year 
56% 62.5% 

We are commissioning an executive leadership programme to improve our 
leadership capability. Insight into leadership behaviours will be addressed in the 
programme. This investment in our most senior leaders is viewed positively at all 
levels. Providing our leaders with the necessary skills and capabilities in their roles 
is a trust priority.  
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Quality of appraisal score  
3.11 

(average for 
acute trusts 

in 2016) 

2.99 3.10 

CUH has the highest appraisal compliance rating with a 99% completion. We are 
concerned about the feedback relating to  the quality of appraisals and how this 
makes an employee feel valued. The focus for 2017/18 is to retain high level of 
compliance but to ensure that managers are aware of the importance of a 
meaningful appraisal discussion. To this end we have introduced a short e-learning 
module introduced by the Chief Executive. The module highlights the concerns 
raised within the Staff Survey and sets out ways that managers can improve the 
employee experience. All the employee and manager guides have been refreshed to 
work towards an improved appraisal and overall experience. 
 

As a measure* of our attitudes and behaviours to each other  
*Measure based on the yearly National Staff Survey results 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Staff experiencing harassment 
bullying and abuse from staff in last 
12 months 

<10% 27% 24% 

Following the Social Partnership Forum “Call to Action” and 
Carter recommendations a CEO led campaign will launch from 
April 2017. This has been agreed as a priority for partnership 
working this year, with support from staff-side colleagues. 
The newly appointed Freedom to Speak Up Guardian will be 
working with us to launch this. The Trust has already 
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redesigned the Grievance and Dignity at Work policy to ensure 
the process is more transparent and easy to use. The Raising 
Concerns campaign information has also been re-launched. In 
addition, there will be targeted bullying and harassment 
training and bite size diversity training for managers and staff. 
Action on Safety 
Objective: No patient, visitor or member of staff will suffer avoidable harm.  
 
As measures of overall safety  

We have embedded and developed the central electronic risk system “QSiS” across 
the Trust this year. Training for this system has been delivered across the 

What did we measure? 
National 
average 

(2016/17) 

How did we do 
compared to the 

national average? 
2015/16 2016/17 

Staff feel that the Trust takes safety seriously – due to a change in the Trust’s 
survey approach, this measure is represented here by a selection of measures 
from the annual National Staff Survey: 
12a. My organisation treats staff 
who are involved in an error, near 
miss or incident fairly ("Agree" and 
"Strongly agree") 

55% 53% 58% 

12b. My organisation encourages us 
to report errors, near misses or 
incidents ("Agree" and "Strongly 
agree") 

87% 90% 90% 

12c. When errors, near misses or 
incidents are reported, my 
organisation takes action to ensure 
that they do not happen again 
("Agree" and "Strongly agree") 

70% 69% 77% 

12d. We are given feedback about 
changes made in response to 
reported errors, near misses and 
incidents ("Agree" and "Strongly 
agree") 

57% 55% 67% 

13a. If you were concerned about 
unsafe clinical practice, would you 
know how to report it? ("Yes") 

95% 95% 96% 

13b. I would feel secure raising 
concerns about unsafe clinical 
practice ("Agree" and "Strongly 
agree") 

70% 69% 75% 

13c. I am confident that my 
organisation would address my 
concern ("Agree" and "Strongly 
agree") 

58% 54% 61% 

21.a Care of patients / service 
users is my organisation's top 
priority ("Agree" and "Strongly 
agree") 

76% 79% 81% 
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workforce. A number of safety learning events have been held for staff. Training 
sessions on how to report and manage incidents focusing on a systems approach, 
incorporating human factors, and how to disseminate learning across the 
organisation without apportioning blame, have been run for staff.  

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Safety thermometer score  >98% 98.47% 98.1% 

 

 
The safety thermometer is a nationally mandated method of assessing the safety of 
care provided in hospitals in relation to four elements of care; pressure ulcers, 
catheter associated urinary tract infections, patient falls and venous 
thromboembolisms. We continue to monitor our performance and perform well in 
benchmarking against our peers and nationally. 

This year we have amalgamated our pressure ulcer and falls prevention steering 
groups to form a harm free care steering group. This group is multi-disciplinary and 
enables a collaborative approach to monitoring and managing the delivery of harm 
free care in relation to falls and pressure ulcers. It provides a forum for sharing 
learning, best practice and implementing new initiatives.  
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As measures of overall nurse staffing levels  

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Wards with number of filled 
registered nurse shifts less than 
90% of planned 

0 See chart below 

Vacancy rate for registered nurses / 
registered midwives ≤5% 12%  11.5% 

Vacancy rate for healthcare support 
workers ≤8% 16.8%  17.6% 

 

 
Monthly data is presented in the safe staffing board paper which provides oversight 
of the number of wards that do not achieve a 90% fill rate for registered nurses. 
Mitigation and actions required are described within the narrative of this report. The 
90% fill rate is an average measure across the month and therefore will not reflect 
staffing peaks and troughs on a shift by shift basis. It does not capture healthcare 
support worker (HCSW) shift fill rates, where additional shifts e.g. for specialling of 
patients may remain unfilled.  

 

As a Trust we have a proactive recruitment and retention strategy overseen by the 
Chief Nurse and the Director of Workforce to aim to achieve a long term target of a 
registered nurse (RN) vacancy rate of 5%, and a HCSW vacancy rate of 8%. 
However in the next financial year 17/18 our target is to achieve an 11% RN 
vacancy rate and a HCSW vacancy rate of 15% and to sustain this throughout the 
year. The organisation has continued to maximise opportunities for both national 
and international recruitment. Whilst the forecast against current vacancies 
continues to look positive, there is significant concern that the pipeline of RN 
recruits across the United Kingdom is insufficient to maintain this achievement and 
the vacancy rate is forecast to start to increase we will monitor this monthly and 
review our strategy to pro-actively respond to market challenges. 
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As measures of infection control  

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Number of MRSA bloodstream 
infections 0 1 (1)* 2 (1)* 

Number of Clostridium difficile 
infections <49 27 (26)* 16 (31)* 
*Figures shown are infections reported deemed avoidable, with those reported deemed not avoidable in 
parentheses. 

We committed to reduce the number of all avoidable infections and the harm they 
cause, in particular to keep the number of patients who acquire C. difficile or a 
MRSA bacteraemia in hospital to a minimum. 

By reducing the numbers of affected patients to a minimum, we reduced the need 
for a prolonged length of stay, surgery or admission to an intensive care unit as a 
result of the infection.  

During 2016/17 we continued to focus on environmental cleaning standards, 
prompt isolation, antibiotic stewardship, hand hygiene and staff education to help 
reduce and prevent healthcare associated infections.  

The formal deep clean programme, which includes relocating a ward to temporary 
facilities in another part of the hospital while cleaning takes place, has not been 
available since the early part of 2016 due to the need to use the temporary facility 
for emergency maintenance issues and for contingency beds due to a lack of 
capacity within the organisation. The lack of single patient rooms has had a further 
impact on our ability to comply with the Trusts own infection control policies 
regarding isolation and was a contributing factor in our inability to effectively 
manage the large numbers of patients with viral respiratory illness this year. 

Of the three MRSA infections reported, two cases are assigned to the Trust as 
avoidable and one case has been allocated  to  a Third party, not avoidable.  

We have had 47 C. difficile cases this year. 31 have been classed by the CCG as 
non-trajectory (not avoidable) because the care delivered was exemplary, and 16 
cases were deemed potentially avoidable cases against the ceiling of 49, which is a 
considerable improvement on the 27 avoidable cases in 2015/16. 
 

As measures of avoidable deterioration  

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Cardiac arrests Reduce  
by 2% 105 107 

Number of unplanned admissions to 
critical care (level 3) from inpatient 
wards 

Reduce  
by 5% 352 352 

Cardiac arrest rates at CUH remain well below national average at around 0.5 per 
1000 admissions. However, we continue to work on our deteriorating patient 
pathways to improve this even further. This begins with early recognition of 
deterioration with early warning scores right through to early interventions aimed 
at preventing unplanned Intensive Care Unit admissions, cardiac arrests and 
avoidable deaths. 
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What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Proportion of patients with 
completed EWS (Early Warning 
Scores) observation 

≥90% See chart below 

 

 
From December 2016 we started to collect real-time data via our electronic patient 
information system. Previously this was a paper based audit of five patients per 
week (20 per month). The real-time data captures all inpatients at any one moment 
in time and is therefore a more comprehensive dataset. This data is reviewed 
monthly by the divisions and reported to the Divisional Executive Board meetings to 
identify good practices, areas for concern and share learning for improvement. 
 

As measures of avoidable death 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Hospital Standardised Mortality 
Ratio (HSMR) <85 See chart below 

 

97.70% 

97.90% 

97.90% 

98.10% 

98.30% 

98.30% 

98.30% 

98.20% 

66.90% 
80.70% 

81.40% 

82.10% 

0.00%
20.00%
40.00%
60.00%
80.00%

100.00%
120.00%

Proportion of patients with completed EWS observation 



Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
147 

 
HSMR is a nationally calculated ratio prepared by Dr Foster (www.drfoster.com) 
which looks at in-patient deaths only. A score of 100 would mean actual deaths 
were in line with the number of expected deaths. An HSMR of less than 100 
indicates fewer patients than expected died, a figure of greater than 100 indicates 
more than expected died. It is important to bear in mind that the calculated HSMR 
can be affected by a number of factors other than the quality of clinical care such 
as the accuracy and depth of coding.  
Our aim was to have an HSMR that placed the CUH in the top 10% of our peer 
group, and to have an aggregate hospital HSMR of less than 85. In 2016 our 
aggregate HSMR was 74.16. CUH is the best performing Trust in our Outside 
London Teaching Hospital peer group, 3rd best when we include the London 
teaching hospitals and the best amongst our regional peers. 
In 2016, CUH began a new programme of work to standardise the methods by 
which both in-patient and outpatient deaths are reviewed and the outcomes of 
these reviews recorded. Our aim in doing this piece of work, which will continue 
into 2017, is to learn, improve our systems and reduce avoidable deaths. This work 
may have an impact on HSMR in the long term. 
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
% of deaths determined by review 
to have been potentially avoidable <5% See below 

Following a delay in the national programme for the review of all hospital deaths, 
the Trust took the decision to defer this work pending further guidance. Mortality 
review however continues to be undertaken in a number of areas across the Trust. 
Collection of data for the mortality review process will commence from 1 April 
2017, overseen by the Trust’s Mortality Surveillance Committee. 
 

As measures of safety learning 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
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Reported patient safety events 
resulting in harm per patient 
contact 

<0.2% 0.19% 0.24% 

It is important that patient safety events that could have or did harm a patient 
receiving NHS funded care are reported. This is so that they can be learns from and 
any necessary action can be taken to prevent similar events from happening in the 
future. All trust staff are therefore encouraged to report all incidents using our 
integrated risk management system. A high level of reporting is viewed as an 
indication of a positive safety culture, and the volume of incident reporting has 
continued to increase during 2016/17.  

We have been monitoring our rate of harm as a percentage of patient contacts each 
month since 2014/15 when we achieved 0.2%, followed by 0.19% in 2015/16. We 
therefore set ourselves a target for 2016/17 as one of the measures of safety 
learning, to achieve <0.2% of reported patient safety events result in harm, per 
patient contact. This is a national KPI used by all acute providers. The grading of 
harm is aligned to the NHS’s National Risk Management Matrix (NPSA 2008). The 
grading of harm ranges from Minor to Catastrophic. Patient contacts are the 
number of inpatients admitted, outpatient, day case and emergency department 
attendances.  

We have continued to monitor this measure throughout 2016/17 and the results 
below show us achieving in excess of this across the year. This means that we are 
reporting a slightly increased level of harm per patient contact, and have not met 
our aspiration to reduce the previously achieved 0.2% reported. We have however 
improved the quality of our data collection and analysis from previous years which 
we believe has contributed to this increase. 

 
During 2017/18 we will be building on recent initiatives to improve this position: 

• We are re-launching incident reporting training as an online interactive 
learning tool for all new staff, as well as a refresher for all current staff. This 
is designed to further increase our reporting rate and ensure that our staff 
are recording and grading incidents accurately. 

• We are in the process of launching a new combined incident and serious 
incident reporting policy and investigation approach, supported by a 
programme of root cause analysis investigation training. 

• A programme of work is underway to reduce the time taken to investigate 
incidents, promoting a rapid feedback and learning cycle. National 
benchmarking shows we are slower than some of our peers in achieving this. 
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• In order to facilitate benchmarking with our peers, we have decided to 
replace this indicator with patient incidents reported per 1000 bed days in 
2017/18. 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Proportion of staff having an exit 
interview >90% 35% 36% 

In pursuing this target, our exit interview approach was reviewed. 100% of our 
leavers were invited to participate in an exit interview survey by a third party 
provider. Just under 1/3 have taken up this opportunity, which is reflected in the 
data above. In addition, line managers are now asked to undertake a local exit 
interview. These are managed locally and are not reflected in the data above. 
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Human Factors Learning 
First cohort 

of HF trainers 
trained 

See below 

The Trust has agreed a change in direction to embed good practice around the 
reporting and investigation of serious incidents, with a training programme 
beginning in February 2017 that will include a human factors element. 
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Care that delivers 
Objective: We will provide care that achieves the best outcome possible for each 
patient, and which applies the latest evidence based methods. Care will be 
delivered without delays at the time when it is wanted, and in a way that involves 
the patient and puts his or her needs and desires at the heart of decisions.  
 

As general measures of clinical outcomes 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2014/15 2015/16 
Patient-Related Outcome Measures (PROMs) based on health gain for all 
measured activities we undertake 

PROM - hip replacement - Primary 
Above 

national 
average 

21.8 
(March 2015) 

22.2  
(March 2016) 

PROM - hip replacement - Revision 
Above 

national 
average 

Not enough 
data* 

Not enough 
data* 

PROM - knee replacement - Primary 
Above 

national 
average 

15.9 
(March 2015) 

16.0  
(March 2016) 

PROM - knee replacement - 
Revision 

Above 
national 
average 

Not enough 
data* 

Not enough 
data* 

PROM - hernia repair 
Above 

national 
average 

0.1 
(March 2015) 

0.093  
(March 2016) 

PROM - varicose vein procedure 
Above 

national 
average 

-11.6 
(March 2015) 

Not enough 
data* 

*This data is based on surveys completed by patients before and after a procedure has taken place. The 
Trust distributes the first survey to all patients, while the second survey (post procedure) is sent directly 
to patients by post. If there are not enough respondents to the first and/or second survey, the results 
are not published for patient confidentiality reasons. 

The scores for hip and knee replacement show an above average health gain for hip 
replacement patients, and for knee replacement patients a score equal to the 
average health gain in the country. The Oxford Hip and Knee scores have a 
minimum clinical significance between 3 and 4 points, and as such the Trust is 
performing at the expected level.  

The Trust reviews this data at multidisciplinary team meetings as well as staff 
appraisals, and continues to strive to improve these outcomes.  

We are pleased to be above average for the positive impact that groin hernia 
surgery has for patients but recognise that only 4% of our patients contributed to 
the questionnaire. Our goal is to increase this to 20% in the coming year to ensure 
a more robust assessment of our performance. Questionnaires are now being given 
to patients at the time their surgery is booked in clinic. 
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Clinical frailty score is performed 
within 72 hours of admission >85% 86.5% 94.8% 
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The Trust is continuing to see and admit an increasing number of frail elderly 
patients (those aged 75 and over). Cambridgeshire’s local authority population 
forecasts predict a 3.6% year on year growth of the population aged 85+, which 
equates to a doubling over the next 20 years. We recognise that developing 
services to better serve this group of patients is central to improving both quality of 
care and developing sustainable services for the future. 

A key element for successful management of the frail elderly patient is that they 
undergo a proper screening using the clinical frailty score tool within their first 72 
hours in hospital, to identify their treatment requirements. 

Despite meeting our own target for 2015/6 in this indicator, a measure which we 
are recognised to be leading the country nationally, we will aim next year to 
maintain our current performance at over 90% to maintain the onus on recognition 
of frailty on admission to hospital over the next 12 months. 
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Compliance with the sepsis bundle >90% 43%* 76%* 
*Feb 17 data for Emergency Department (Pilot site). Started Oct 2015, baseline level 10% 

The Trust’s Sepsis Action Group is overseeing the implementation of the sepsis six 
care bundle. The first phase of the implementation has focused on the emergency 
department, and on developing the Trust’s electronic patient record system to alert 
staff and provide guidance on the six elements of the bundle. Phase two, which will 
implement the sepsis six bundle across the Trust, will commence in 2017/18. 
Please see the Patient Safety Improvement Plan section for further information. 
 

As measures of our clinical governance processes 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Trust documents compliant with 
control procedures >95% 

Baseline set 
Apr-16 
(96%) 

94% 

Improvements in compliance have come about since the early part of 2016/17, 
where monthly compliance figures of ‘in date’, controlled Trust documents (e.g. 
policies, procedures, guidelines, work instructions, patient information leaflets and 
consent forms), were provided to senior management teams and corporate 
executive leads. They also received details of documents overdue/due for review.  

As of January 2017, regular meetings with local service area leads now take place 
to increase awareness of Trust process, striving to meet our current KPI. 

Although the final compliance figure for the overall year was just under target, the 
current compliance for March 2017 is above target at 96% and had been steadily 
increasing for the previous 6 month period. 

The above processes will continue throughout 2017/18 in addition to: 
• Local document manager(s) are being nominated in each service area. Their 

role will be to act as the local gatekeeper and quality assure their local 
documents prior to approval and publication. 
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• A new document management system, to manage all controlled Trust 
documents, is under development. A business case is being produced to 
allow completion of this project.  

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

HQIP audit standards compliance >95% 100% 98% 

For further detail, please see the section “Participation in national clinical audits”. 

 

Specialty specific outcome measures 
In our 2015/16 Quality Account we advised that we would develop specialty specific 
outcome measures throughout the year to act as indicators for outcome 
performance. We have concluded that this will be more effectively done at 
speciality level. Thus, our Quality Account will contain indicators that cover the 
whole Trust. 

 
As general measures of delays in delivering care 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Compliance with the emergency 
department 4-hour standard ≥95% 90.2% 83.4% 

There were 111,067 attendances to our emergency department in 2016/17, 1.9% 
growth on 2015/16. We have also treated 38,881 patients who attended the local 
Minor Injuries Units. There is a nationally mandated target to see 95% of patients 
within four hours. During 2016/17 our performance against this standard 
deteriorated to 83.4% across the year, but recovered to 94.1% by year end.  
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Deterioration in performance was first noted from Quarter 4 2015/16, and 
continued to fall throughout Quarter 1; with only August 2016 showing an improved 
position for the remainder of the year. Across Quarter 1 and 2 attendances saw a 
6% growth trend on the previous year, which started to slow from October 2016. 
Within our Type 1 emergency department we have seen much higher growth within 
more complex patient groups: 

• Ambulance arrivals are up 6%  
• Over 85 years attendances are up 10%  
• Mental health attendances are up 15%  
• Paediatrics attendances are up 10%  

 

Admissions from the emergency department with a Length of Stay (LOS) ≥1 day 
have a growth of 2.6%. However, for the over 85 year old population with LOS ≥1 
day we have seen a growth of 9.2%. In January 2017, we saw the highest number 
of over 85 year olds admitted via the Emergency Department that we have ever 
recorded (611). 

 

The chart below shows the correlation in the deterioration of the four  hour 
performance with the increase in bed days lost due to Delayed Transfers of Care 
(DTOC). With the growing admission rates amongst the elderly population, the 
Trust has experienced significantly increased numbers of bed days lost which have 
been 54.2% higher than in 2015/16. These factors impact on the ability to 
discharge patients from the hospital, increasing occupancy, and preventing new 
patients from accessing hospital beds from the emergency department.  

60.0%

65.0%

70.0%

75.0%

80.0%

85.0%

90.0%

95.0%

100.0%

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000
A

pr
-1

5
M

ay
-1

5
Ju

n-
15

Ju
l-1

5
A

ug
-1

5
S

ep
-1

5
O

ct
-1

5
N

ov
-1

5
D

ec
-1

5
Ja

n-
16

Fe
b-

16
M

ar
-1

6
A

pr
-1

6
M

ay
-1

6
Ju

n-
16

Ju
l-1

6
A

ug
-1

6
S

ep
-1

6
O

ct
-1

6
N

ov
-1

6
D

ec
-1

6
Ja

n-
17

Fe
b-

17
M

ar
-1

7

At
te

nd
an

ce
s 

Emergency Department Four Hour Standard (Minor Injury 
Units managed by CUH from July 2015) 

Total attendances (all Types) % In 4 hours (all Types)



Annual Report 2016/17 Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
   

 
154 

 
 
2016/17 has been a challenging year for the emergency pathway and delivery of 
the four hour standard, with significant periods within Q3 and Q4 spent in internal 
critical incident status due to compromised flow within the organisation. The year 
ended with a stepped improvement in performance due to an organisational priority 
focus on the emergency pathway, which included: compliance with Internal 
Professional Standards through additional consultant and junior doctor resources, 
protection of the Medical Decisions Unit (MDU) to ensure space to place patients 
from the emergency department within the following 24 hours; and improved early 
escalation with positive response from specialities across the organisation.  
Going into 2017/18 the challenge is to make this performance improvement 
sustainable, with additional work on the emergency pathway to include: key 
interactions and leadership within the Operations centre and patient flow across the 
wards, use of safer and red/green metrics to ensure every patient has an accurate 
Clinically Fit Date set, and increasing the proportion of prenoon discharges to 
promote capacity across the wards early on within the day. Other developments 
within the emergency pathway include: the delivery of a primary care stream within 
the emergency department from mid-May (in line with the national directive), 
promotion to GPs to the increase the use of ambulatory care, a focused effort of 
increasing the use of Joint Emergency Team (JET) and 111 as real alternatives for 
patients rather than attending the emergency department; and lastly a DTOC 
remedial action plan with the CCG, County Council and CPFT to reduce the number 
of DTOC patients within the Trust to no more than 2.5% of the bed base. 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Patients waiting less than 18 weeks 
from GP referral ≥92% 89.4% 90.5% 

We recognise the importance for patients of being treated in a timely manner 
following referral, and the right within the NHS Constitution for patients to receive 
treatment within 18 weeks. In 2016/17 we have treated 15,000 more patients 
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within 18 weeks than in 2015/16, representing a 16% increase. The number of 
patients waiting over 18 weeks has reduced by 17% during the course of 16/17. 

The Trust commenced 2016/17 with an RTT Improvement plan anticipating a Trust 
aggregate recovery to 92% in September 2016. The recovery trajectory was 
exceeded until July 2016, when it became apparent that despite ongoing 
improvements in some of the most challenged specialties, other services who had 
been performing well against the 92% standard had started to see increasing 
waiting times.  

Most significantly these risks related to:  
• Neurosurgery as a consequence of essential maintenance in Neuro theatres 
• Unexpected medical staff shortfalls in gynaecology; and an inability to 

recruit readily to posts within sllergy, pain management and oral surgery 
impacting non-admitted pathways particularly.  

• Lower than planned available capacity at Hinchingbrooke NHS Trust (ENT 
and orthopaedics). 

 

 
This reversing trend led to a revised Improvement Plan from September 2016 with 
an agreed trajectory of March 2017. This recovery trajectory was achieved until 
January 2017 when the impact of winter pressures from urgent care and Delayed 
Transfers of Care led to high levels of elective cancellations because of insufficient 
bed capacity. This has driven up the number of admitted patients waiting more 
than 18 weeks in Quarter 4. 
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The Trust anticipates this will delay recovery to 92% until the start of Quarter 2 
2017/8, and we are maintaining the focus on reducing waiting times with specialty 
level action plans and bi-weekly monitoring meetings. 
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Patients seen within 62 days of 
urgent cancer referral (with 
reallocation for late referral*) 

≤85% 81.6% 86.6% (at 
Feb-17) 

*Reallocations for late referrals are agreed with referring Trusts as per the NHSI/NHSE National Cancer 
Breach Allocation Guidance April 2016 

We recognise the importance for patients to have rapid access for diagnosis and 
treatment where cancer is suspected. 

Cancer waiting times require 3 broad standards to be achieved: 
• Patients referred with suspected cancer by their GP are to be seen within 

two weeks of referral 
• Patients referred with suspected cancer by their GP, or a National Screening 

Service, to receive treatment within 62 days of referral 
• Patients to receive treatment for cancer within 31 days of a decision to treat  

The Trust has reported strong performance against the Cancer Standards in 
2016/17 meeting all standards on an annual basis. We have reported 3% more 
patients on cancer pathways in 2016/17 to month 11. 

Sustaining these standards remains challenging. We continue to work with referring 
Trusts within our Cancer Network to improve the timeliness of referrals to CUH as 
the Cancer centre; and also to proactively pursue ongoing actions that arise from 
monthly root cause analyses of delays patients have experienced.  
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What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Cancelled operations <1% 1.36% 1.12% 
*Current – data to end Feb.2017 

Once a date is set for an operation, we will do our best to ensure that date is 
adhered to, while recognising there will be occasions when emergencies impact on 
routine operating.  

Our aim was that the number of operations cancelled on or after the day of 
admission should be less than 1%. 

Although we did not achieve our aim in 2016/7 we did show a marginal 
improvement on the prior year with 938 operations cancelled on the day compared 
to 1062 in 2015/16:  

• Whilst lack of operating time was still the highest reason for cancellations on 
the day, this reduced from 50% to 44% of the cancellations.  

• Cancellations due to bed shortages showed an increase in 2016/17 up from 
25% to 38% of the on the day cancellations. This occurs due to the high 
number of emergency patients occupying beds which means that additional 
inpatient beds have to be made available on the Day of Surgery Admissions 
areas usually protected for planned elective patients.  

• Cancellations due to equipment or staffing were much reduced this year and 
had only been high in 2015/16 due to the flooding in sterile services.  

 

 
The Trust recognises that many patients are also cancelled in advance of the day of 
admission, particularly due to bed capacity pressures. The Trust monitors all bed 
related cancellations in addition to the cancelled operations standard, and is aware 
that during 2016/17 we have seen a rise in the impact of this on patients as a 
consequence of urgent care demand. The Trust is planning for an increase in bed 
capacity for 2017/18 to help support improvement in this area.  
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What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Bed days lost to assessment for 
patients medical fit to leave (per 
week, year average) 

<10 36.4 70.6 

 

 
The impact of lost bed days for complex patients on the Trust in 2016/17 was 
44,000 bed days, which represents a significant number of beds. We recognise that 
this is a system wide complex problem with multiple issues which requires all 
partners to work together, but also focus on their specific constraints. 
For the Trust the beds lost to internal delay and those specifically associated with 
assessments that can only be undertaken by our discharge planning specialist 
nursing (DPSN) team have contributed to the overall bed days lost. As can be seen 
from the graph for October-December there was a large increase in delays which 
coincided with a reduction in the DPSN resulting in longer waits to perform 
specialist assessment. Recruitment to the posts has seen the delays reducing; we 
are also focusing our attention on all internal bed days lost. 
 

Delivering care in an appropriate setting 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Children and young people treated 
in adult areas (excluding day cases 
and those on ward C9)* 

<5 per week 

New 
measure 

for 
2016/17 

23 

*All children under 16 are treated in a dedicated children’s area. The data above correlates to 16-19 
year olds treated in adult areas. 

Due to the current capacity constraints within children’s services it has not been 
possible to achieve the target of less than five 16-19 year olds per week admitted 
into adult areas. Significant investment into a children’s services expansion would 
be required before the 16+ age group could be accommodated in suitable 
adolescent ward area within the children’s division. 

However, in the meantime work has been completed to increase education in adult 
areas to care and communicate with young people and there is an e-learning 
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package accessible to all staff in clinical roles. Information is also available on the 
Trust intranet to support adult areas in looking after 16 and 17 year olds which 
signposts them to services/individuals for advice. A daily review of any vulnerable 
children in this group is made, and when necessary cases are escalated to 
children’s services. 

As general measures of patients’ experience of care that meet their 
personal needs 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Inpatients who rate their 
experience as at least 7/10 >90% 88.5% 90% 

Inpatients would recommend our 
service (FFT) >90% 95% 94% 

In the National Inpatient survey, carried out in summer 2016, 90% reported that 
their care was at least seven out of ten. Additionally, the inpatient Friends and 
Family Test recommender score was consistently above 95%.  
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Women who would recommend our 
maternity services† ≥90% 96% 94% 

†We survey patients who attend outpatients, maternity and the emergency department each month. 
Patients can complete this using a variety of methods including electronic questionnaire, paper 
questionnaire or online survey. Each survey includes the Friends and Family Test question, asking if they 
are likely to recommend the service, alongside other questions pertinent to that service.  

We surveyed women who used our maternity services continually during the year. 
This included the Friends and Family Test recommender score alongside questions 
relating to quality of experience generally. Our aim was for 90% of women who 
respond to recommend our services to their friends and family, which was achieved 
consistently throughout the year. 
 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Patients who would recommend our 
clinics (Outpatients who would 
recommend our service)† 

≥90% 97% 95% 

†We survey patients who attend outpatients, maternity and the emergency department each month. 
Patients can complete this using a variety of methods including electronic questionnaire, paper 
questionnaire or online survey. Each survey includes the Friends and Family Test question, asking if they 
are likely to recommend the service, alongside other questions pertinent to that service.  

We surveyed patients who attended outpatients once this year. In the survey we 
asked about quality of experience about topics such as our timeliness, information 
provided, privacy and dignity, and clarity about next steps in patients’ care. Our 
aim was that at least 90% of patient would recommend the service in the Friends 
and Family Test. 

Our Friends and Family Test recommender score was less than 90% in the first two 
months of this year; however, this improved and has remained above 90% since 
June 2016. This increase is thought to relate to an improved response rate, as well 
as being a result of our focused work stream looking at how to improve the 
experience of patients attending our outpatient services.  
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What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 

Complaints per patient contact†† <0.1% 0.05% 0.05% 
††Patient contacts are the number of inpatients admitted, plus outpatient, day case and emergency 
department attendances. Our aim is that the number of formal complaints received should be less than 
0.1% of patient contacts. 

Complaints help us to identify where we can improve the quality and safety of the 
care we provide. We are committed to an open and responsive complaints process 
and we aim to put things right where possible and learn the lessons for service 
improvement. 

We measured the complaint rate as a percentage of patient contacts, which are the 
number of inpatients admitted, plus outpatient, day case, and emergency 
department attendances.  

In 2016/17 a total of 508 formal complaints were received, compared with 519 in 
2015/16. The monthly rate as a percentage of patient contacts ranged between 
0.03% and 0.07%. 

 

What did we measure? Our target 
How did we do? 

2015/16 2016/17 
Staff who are aware of the Trust’s 
values and behaviours* ≥90% 99% 98% 

Staff who feel they are able to 
deliver the Trust’s values and 
behaviours at work* 

≥80% 92% 99% 

*Measure based on the results of the yearly National Staff Survey. 

The Trust has performed above target for the past two years and plans to sustain 
this. There is strong recognition of the Trust’s values and the Organisational 
Development Programme will continue to enable this. We continue to monitor 
employee relations cases that reference behaviour and receive patient feedback 
from PALS. 
 

Performance against indicators and performance thresholds 
The Trust’s performance against the required indicators (limited to those that were 
included in both the Risk Assessment Framework and the Single Oversight 
Framework for 2016/17) is described at Appendix B. 
 

Feedback on the quality report and quality account 
If you would like further information on anything contained within this report, 
please write to: 

Director for Corporate Affairs 
PO Box 146, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust,  
Cambridge Biomedical Campus, Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 0QQ 

Or email: trust.secretariat@addenbrookes.nhs.uk  

This document is also available on request in other languages, large print and audio 
format – please phone 01223 274648. 

mailto:trust.secretariat@addenbrookes.nhs.uk
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Annex 1: Statement by stakeholders 
 

Governors’ statement on the quality account 2016/17 
During 2016/17 the Council of Governors has been involved in i) the ongoing 
review of quality performance and ii) the development of the Cambridge University 
Hospitals (CUH) quality priorities for 2017/18. 

As in previous years Governors have continued to work closely with the Non-
Executive Directors (NEDs) to scrutinise the Trust’s performance, using a variety of 
methods including regular reviews of the monthly integrated report on quality, 
finance, workforce and performance against national and local targets. 

The Trust’s Quality Improvement Plan, developed as a result of the April 2015 CQC 
rating of ‘Inadequate’, has been a significant focus during the year. Governors have 
reviewed progress against the plan at regular intervals throughout the year in 
Director/Governor Working Group and Council of Governor meetings. Governors 
also met with NHSI on several occasions to ensure they had a perspective from the 
regulators on the Trust’s progress against the improvement plan.  

Governors were closely involved in the Trust-led inspections that were scheduled as 
part of the preparation for the follow-up CQC inspections, and were very pleased 
when the inspection in October 2016 resulted in an improved overall rating of 
‘Good’, with the caring domain again being rated as ‘Outstanding’. However, some 
areas requiring further quality improvements were identified by the CQC and 
Governors will continue to review and challenge to ensure that progress is made 
against these areas, as well as seeking reassurance that the improvements already 
made are being maintained. 

Recognising the challenging environment within which CUH and many other NHS 
Trusts have been operating this year, as a result of emergencydDepartment and 
other capacity pressures, Governors were pleased that the Trust achieved a number 
of its quality objectives for 2016/17. While disappointed that objectives in some 
areas were not met, comparison of the 2016/17 achievements with the 
performance levels in 2015/16 demonstrates year on year improvement towards 
most targets. Governors will look for this trend to continue for the challenging 
objectives that have been set for 2017/18, and look forward to again working 
closely with the Directors and NEDs of the Trust to ensure strong delivery against 
the quality account objectives.  

Julia Loudon 

April 2017 

 

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) statement for inclusion 
in the 2016/17 quality account 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) has 
reviewed the Quality Account produced by Cambridge University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (CUHFT) for 2016/17.  

 
The CCG and CUH work closely together to review performance against quality 
indicators and ensure any concerns are addressed. There is a structure of regular 
meetings in place between the CCG, CUH and other appropriate stakeholders to 
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ensure the quality of CUHF services is reviewed continuously with the commissioner 
throughout the year.  

 
In September 2015 CUH were placed in special measures by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) due to inadequate ratings in some services. What came across 
strongly throughout the report was the outstanding care and compassion that was 
being delivered to patients and families. Throughout 2016/17, CUH have improved 
greatly on all CQC domains across the organisation resulting in an overall ‘Good’ in 
January 2017 following a re-inspection. The ‘Caring’ domain remains outstanding 
and although there is a recognition of the need for continued improvement in the 
‘Responsive’ domain CUH are viewed nationally as an exemplar of how an 
organisation can turn around the quality of services in a relatively short period of 
time. This included outstanding effectiveness in the critical care units and 
improvements in safety and leadership in maternity services and outpatients.  

 
The comprehensive Quality Improvement Plan, which remained in place throughout 
2016/17, will continue to drive improvements and address issues identified in the 
CQC report in September 2016, such as safe storage of medicines, audit of end of 
life care services and documentation of resuscitation decisions. The CCG and 
partners have also worked with the Trust to strengthen improvement and review 
progress through a series of visits to which the organisation responded positively.  

 
Patient flow through the emergency department (ED) and the Hospital, as in many 
other NHS hospitals, was challenging throughout the year as ED experienced 
continually high demand with a particular increase in patients over 85 year old, 
patients arriving by ambulance, children and people with mental health needs. An 
Emergency Care Recovery plan is in place involving the wider system in developing 
solutions. CUHF has looked to innovating solutions, such as the development of a 
crowd prediction modelling tool to enable the Trust to understand and map patient 
flow through ED. Increased collaborative working with system partners through the 
System Transformation Plan and the Emergency Care Delivery Board has resulted 
in a reduction of the number of patients that experience a delayed discharge, which 
is significantly important to patients and families. 

 
In year, the need to increase bed capacity for children’s inpatient services has been 
identified and in response the Trust has increased capacity by six beds. Clinicians 
are also working with colleagues in other hospitals to enhance skills across the 
system and improve pathways for children. 

 
CUH has a strong patient safety culture throughout the organisation and achieves 
good patient outcomes overall. This is demonstrated through a consistently lower 
mortality rate than would be expected when mapped to other hospitals.  The Trust 
continues its work in 2017/18 to further improve mortality, planning to move 
towards reviewing all deaths and learning from what could have been done 
differently in line with new national requirements.  CUH has consistently performed 
well against the NHS Safety Thermometer, which measures how well an 
organisation prevents pressure ulcers, falls and urinary tract infections.  

 
An important part of the safety culture is the recognition, reporting and timely 
investigation of serious incidents and never events. In 2016/17, five never events 
and 107 serious incidents were reported. 44 serious incidents related to information 
governance breaches which have been a particular focus of the Medical Director and 
his team, supported by visits and learning events from the CCG. This remains a key 
challenge. 
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CUH is a highly caring organisation. This continues to be confirmed in the good 
results from the Friends & Family Test as well as a downward trend in the number 
of complaints throughout 2016/17. The Trust is to be commended that the time it 
takes the organisation to respond to complaints has improved over the year and 
additional resources have been allocated to the team to maintain this trend. A 
mobile phone application called the ‘Choose Well App’ has been developed, which 
offers guidance on waiting times and hospital services in order to improve choice 
and experience for patients. 

 
As you would expect from CUHF as a regional and national centre,  clinical 
outcomes for patents in many areas are among the best in the country, including 
national audit results in cardiac rhythm, ophthalmology, venous thromboembolism 
risk in lower limb immobilisation. Patients have also reported above average 
outcomes for hip and knee replacements, hernia repair and varicose veins. 

 
It is to the credit of CUH that the organisation maintained focus on providing safe, 
compassionate and effective care and treatment while successfully delivering an 
extensive Quality Improvement Plan.  

 

Cambridgeshire County Council Health Committee 
statement for inclusion in the 2016/17 quality 
account 
The Health Committee within its scrutiny capacity has been encouraged by the 
Trust’s openness, engagement and willingness to listen to external scrutiny. The 
committee has received presentations and attendance from the Trust at public 
Health Scrutiny meetings on 12th May and 15th December 2016. Minutes of these 
discussion are available from the link below: 
https://cmis.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/ccc_live/Committees/tabid/62/ctl/ViewCMIS_C
ommitteeDetails/mid/381/id/6/Default.aspx  
The committee is delighted with the outcome of the recent CQC inspection moving 
the Trust from Special Measures to a rating of “good” and is pleased to see the 
areas identified for improvement from the September 2016 CQC Inspection 
featuring in the Trust’s Improvement Plan.  
The problems over the implementation of Epic software as part of the e-Hospital 
digital transformation programme were identified by Health Committee members in 
2015/16 as a concern. The committee has been informed of the success over the 
last year of the Electronic Paper Record and the benefits the system is bringing to 
the patients experience.  
The committee recognises that the Trust needs to address issues and performance 
in the emergency department. Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs) will continue to 
be an area of concern and will require further monitoring across the health and 
social care system. However, it is encouraging to see the Trust working in 
partnership with the County Council to identify ways to address the complex issue 
of DTOCs. 
One of the effective communication methods with the Trust has been the 
continuation of informal quarterly liaison meetings where members of the 
committee have had the opportunity to question senior representatives of CUH. 
This has fostered a better understanding of each other’s roles. We look forward to 
continuing this open relationship with the Trust to ensure effective health scrutiny is 
achieved and note the positive attitude of representatives from the Trust to the rest 
of the health care economy. 

https://cmis.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/ccc_live/Committees/tabid/62/ctl/ViewCMIS_CommitteeDetails/mid/381/id/6/Default.aspx
https://cmis.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/ccc_live/Committees/tabid/62/ctl/ViewCMIS_CommitteeDetails/mid/381/id/6/Default.aspx
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Cambridgeshire Healthwatch statement for inclusion 
in the 2016/17 quality account 
Summary and comment on responsiveness 
The Trust has had a positive year and made excellent progress following the CQC 
inspection in 2015 which resulted in the Trust being placed in Special Measures. To 
be now rated as ‘Good’ is indeed a significant achievement. Stakeholder 
engagement has been a key element of the Trust’s improvement work. Healthwatch 
Cambridgeshire is pleased to have developed deeper and more meaningful 
relationships with staff across the Trust. The Trust’s responsiveness to concerns 
raised is very welcome and indicative of our constructive relationship.  

Healthwatch Cambridgeshire welcomes the priorities set out in ‘CUH Together’ and 
that ‘Improving Patient Journeys’ is a strategic programme. Healthwatch 
Cambridgeshire further welcomes the commitment to improving Duty of Candour 
compliance. Healthwatch intelligence has shown that the Trust’s response times to 
complaints has been increasing. The 30-day target is noted; however, it is worth 
highlighting that a month is still a long time for people who may be in some 
distress. An explicit commitment to keeping people informed at all stages of their 
complaints would be helpful.  

During 2016/17 Healthwatch Cambridgeshire has worked closely with the Trust in a 
number of areas, including the development of The Rosie Maternity Voices Group 
and carrying out Enter and View visits to the Emergency Department. There has 
been very welcome action and change made in both areas as result of our 
partnership work. 

Actions from previous quality accounts 
In previous Quality Accounts Healthwatch Cambridgeshire has highlighted the 
benefits that could be gained from deeper analysis and year on year comparisons of 
both PALS and complaints data. The Trust could do more to demonstrate this and 
how learning from feedback takes place. The target for complaints focuses on 
decreasing complaints per contact. Healthwatch Cambridgeshire observes that 
learning and transparent organisations generally welcome complaints and so accept 
that complaints will rise. It is also noted that PALS data has not been included in 
this year’s Quality Account.  

 
 

 
Challenges  
Healthwatch Cambridgeshire is aware that of the Trust’s workforce challenges. CUH 
staff do a wonderful job, very often under difficult circumstances, and are sincerely 
thanked for their commitment to patient care.  

Healthwatch Cambridgeshire recognises the financial pressures on the local health 
economy and that increasing waiting times are the inevitable consequence of that 
increased demand. Healthwatch Cambridgeshire look to the Trust to work where it 
can to maintain safety and quality and improve experience. Local people can be 
assured that there is increasing cooperation between the Trust, other providers, 
commissioners and local communities to bring about new patient-centred models of 
care.  
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Annex 2: Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the 
quality report 
 

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations to prepare quality accounts for each 
financial year. 
NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form 
and content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal 
requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should 
put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report.  
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy 
themselves that:  

 
• the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the ‘NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2016/17’ and supporting guidance 
• the content of the quality report is not inconsistent with internal and external 

sources of information including:  
o board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to March 2017 
o papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to 

March 2017 
o feedback from commissioners dated 12/05/2017 
o feedback from governors dated 24/04/2017 
o feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 13/04/2017  
o feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 24/04/2017  
o the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 

Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 
10/05/2017  

o the national patient survey 2016 
o the national staff survey October – December 2016 
o the head of internal audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control 

environment dated 03/05/2017 
o CQC inspection report dated 18/01/2017 

• the quality report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s 
performance over the period covered  

• the performance information reported in the quality report is reliable and 
accurate 

• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the 
measures of performance included in the quality report, and these controls are 
subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice  

• the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the quality 
report is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and 
prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review  

• the quality report has been prepared in accordance with NHS Improvement’s 
annual reporting guidance (which incorporates the quality accounts regulations) 
as well as the standards to support data quality for the preparation of the 
quality report 
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The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied 
with the above requirements in preparing the quality report.  
 
By order of the board 

 
 

 ........  
Roland Sinker  
Chief Executive 
25 May 2017 
 

 
 
Mike More 
Chair  
25 May 2017 
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Appendix A: National Quality Indicators – 2016/17 performance 

Ref Indicator 
CUH 

performance 
2015/16 

CUH 
performance 

2016/17 

National 
average 

Best 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Worst 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Trust statement 

12 

(a) The value and 
banding of the summary 
hospital-level mortality 
indicator (‘SHMI’) for the 
trust for the reporting 
period; and  

Value: 0.7972  
Band: 3 

(lower than 
expected) 

Value: 0.7915  
Band: 3 

(lower than 
expected) 
(Oct-15 – 
Sep-16) 

N/A N/A N/A 

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: The 
Trust has a robust process for clinical 
coding and review of mortality data so is 
confident that the data is accurate. 
CUH intends to take the following actions 
to improve this indicator, and so the quality 
of its services: the trust will continue 
working to improve the accuracy and depth 
of coding whilst also implementing the new 
national mortality programme so that we 
continue to learn and improve our services.  

(b) The percentage of 
patient deaths with 
palliative care coded at 
either diagnosis or 
specialty level for the 
trust for the reporting 
period.  

32.7% 
34.3% 

(Oct-15 – 
Sep-16) 

29.7% 
(Oct-15 – 
Sep-16) 

N/A N/A 

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: This 
should be a reflector of expected deaths 
and therefore nationally appears low. 
CUH intends to take the following actions 
to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services, by implementing the 
Trust’s End of Life Care Operational Group 
action plan and the Trust’s three-year End 
of Life Care Strategy. 

18 

During the reporting 
period, the trust’s patient 
reported outcome 
measures scores for:  

 

(i) groin hernia surgery  0.1 
(to Mar-15) 

0.093 
(to Mar-16) 

0.088 
(to Mar-16) 

0.157 (to 
Mar-16; 

BMI - The 
Somerfield 
Hospital) 

0.021 (to 
Mar-16; 

North Tees 
and 

Hartlepool 
NHS FT) 

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: We are 
pleased that the positive impact that groin 
hernia surgery has for patients is above the 
national average, but recognise that only 
4% of our patients have contributed to the 
questionnaire. 
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Ref Indicator 
CUH 

performance 
2015/16 

CUH 
performance 

2016/17 

National 
average 

Best 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Worst 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Trust statement 

CUH has taken the following actions to 
improve this indicator, and so the quality of 
its services: CUH aims to increase the 
participation rate of our patients. 
Questionnaires are now being given to 
patients at the time their surgery is booked 
in clinic to encourage participation. 

(ii) varicose vein surgery  -11.6 
(to Mar-15) 

No data 
(to Mar-16) N/A N/A N/A N/A 

(iii) hip replacement 
surgery and  

21.8 
(to Mar-15) 

22.2 
(to Mar-16) 

21.6 
(to Mar-16) 

25.0 (to 
Mar-16; 
Imperial 
College 

Healthcare 
NHS Trust) 

16.9 (to Mar-
16; Walsall 
Healthcare 
NHS Trust) 

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: The 
Oxford Hip and Knee scores have a 
minimum clinical significance between 
three and four points, and as such the 
Trust is performing at the expected level. 
CUH intends to take the following actions 
to improve this indicator, and so the quality 
of its services, by continuing to review this 
data at multidisciplinary team meetings as 
well as staff appraisal, and continue to 
strive to improve these outcomes. 

(iv) knee replacement 
surgery  

15.9 
(to Mar-15) 

16.0 
(to Mar-16) 

16.4 
(to Mar-16) 

19.92 (to 
Mar-16; 
Shepton 

Mallet NHS 
Treatment 

Centre) 

11.96 (to 
Mar-16; 

Homerton 
University 

Hospital NHS 
FT) 

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: The 
Oxford Hip and Knee scores have a 
minimum clinical significance between 
three and four points, and as such the 
Trust is performing at the expected level. 
CUH intends to take the following actions 
to improve this indicator, and so the quality 
of its services, by continuing to review this 
data at multidisciplinary team meetings as 
well as staff appraisal, and continue to 
strive to improve these outcomes. 

19 The percentage of 
patients aged:  

NHS Digital has not published an update of this data since 2012; therefore we have not included this data in our 2015/16 
Quality Account. 
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Ref Indicator 
CUH 

performance 
2015/16 

CUH 
performance 

2016/17 

National 
average 

Best 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Worst 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Trust statement 

(i) 0 to 14 and  
(ii) 15 or over  
readmitted to a hospital 
which forms part of the 
trust within 28 days of 
being discharged from a 
hospital which forms part 
of the trust during the 
reporting period.  

20 

The trust’s 
responsiveness to the 
personal needs of its 
patients during the 
reporting period.  

71.5% 
(2014/15) 

69.1% 
(2015/16) 

69.6% 
(2015/16) 

86.2% 
(2015/16; 
The Royal 
Marsden 
NHS FT) 

58.9% 
(2015/16; 
Croydon 
Health 

Services NHS 
Trust) 

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: We 
were in the top 20% of hospitals for survey 
questions relating to our patients being 
involved as much as they wanted to be in 
decisions about their care and treatment 
(79.95%), being able to find someone to 
talk to about worries and fears (61.6%), 
and being told who to contact if they were 
worried about their condition or treatment 
after they left hospital (83.5%). However, 
there is room for improvement when it 
comes to giving enough privacy when 
discussing individual conditions or 
treatment (86.4%) and telling our patients 
about medication side effects to watch for 
when they went home (44.8%). Both these 
questions gave us an amber rating 
meaning that we were within the 
intermediate 60% of scores for those 
questions. 
CUH intends to take the following actions 
to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services, by: 
o Raising the awareness of the areas for 

improvement 
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Ref Indicator 
CUH 

performance 
2015/16 

CUH 
performance 

2016/17 

National 
average 

Best 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Worst 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Trust statement 

o Promote options for having a private 
conversations in ward areas, whilst 
recognising that the physical space can 
be a limiting factor in some locations 

o Continuing to implement the SAFER 
patient flow bundle with particular 
emphasis on the promoting patient 
involvement and empowerment using 
the “4 key questions” tool which has 
been piloted in one of our divisions. We 
are planning to expand the use of this 
tool trust-wide, as well as introducing 
place mats promoting this in our 
inpatient wards. 

21 

The percentage of staff 
employed by, or under 
contract to, the trust 
during the reporting 
period who would 
recommend the trust as 
a provider of care to their 
family or friends.  

82% 83% 70% N/A N/A 

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: CUH 
performed in the top ten best performing 
non-specialist trusts against this 
statement. This is an improvement on the 
previous score and well above the national 
average. Reasons for this improvement 
include the quality of staff that we recruit 
and develop, improved staff engagement 
and increased focus on quality and safety. 
CUH intends to continue with the following 
actions to improve this indicator, and so 
the quality of its services, by: maintaining 
the focus on quality and safety, and the 
implementation of the Trust organisational 
development programme, CUH Together, 
which is intended to positively impact on 
staff engagement, culture and leadership.  
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Ref Indicator 
CUH 

performance 
2015/16 

CUH 
performance 

2016/17 

National 
average 

Best 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Worst 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Trust statement 

23 

The percentage of 
patients who were 
admitted to hospital and 
who were risk assessed 
for venous 
thromboembolism during 
the reporting period.  

Q1: 88.00% 
Q2: 92.70% 
Q3: 94.70% 
Q4: 96.11% 

Q1: 96.32% 
Q2: 97.07% 
Q3: 97.24% 

Q4: Not 
available at 

time of 
publication 

Q1: 
95.73% 

Q2: 
95.51% 

Q3: 
95.64% 
Q4: Not 

available at 
time of 

publication 

Q1: 100% 
(multiple 
trusts) 

Q2: 100% 
(multiple 
trusts) 

Q3: 100% 
(multiple 
trusts) 
Q4: Not 

available at 
time of 

publication 

Q1: 64.96% 
(KIMS 

Hospital, 
Kent Institute 
of Medicine 

and Surgery) 
Q2: 0.00% 
(Circle Bath 
Hospital) 

Q3: 65.92% 
(BMI - 

Southend 
Private 

Hospital ) 
Q4: Not 

available at 
time of 

publication 

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: The 
Trust has a robust process for clinical 
coding and review of mortality data so is 
confident that the data is accurate. 

CUH intends to take the following actions 
to improve this percentage, and so the 
quality of its services: the trust will 
continue working to improve the accuracy 
and depth of coding whilst also 
implementing the new national mortality 
programme so that we continue to learn 
and improve our services. 

24 

The rate per 100,000 bed 
days of cases of 
C.difficile infection 
reported within the trust 
amongst patients aged 
two or over during the 
reporting period.  

17.1  
(2014/15) 

16.8  
(2015/16) 

14.9  
(2015/16) 

0.0  
(2015/16: 
Multiple 
trusts) 

66.0  
(2015/16: 
The Royal 
Marsden) 

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons:  
We committed to reduce the number of all 
avoidable infections and the harm they 
cause, in particular to keep the number of 
patients who acquire C. difficile in hospital 
to a minimum. By reducing the numbers of 
affected patients to a minimum, we 
reduced the need for a prolonged length of 
stay, surgery or admission to an intensive 
care unit as a result of the infection. 
However, the formal deep clean 
programme using a decant facility has not 
been available since the early part of 2016 
due to the need to use the decant facility 
for emergency maintenance issues and lack 
of capacity within the organisation.  
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Ref Indicator 
CUH 

performance 
2015/16 

CUH 
performance 

2016/17 

National 
average 

Best 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Worst 
performer 

among 
trusts 

Trust statement 

CUH has taken the following actions to 
improve this rate, and so the quality of its 
services, by continuing to focus on 
environmental cleaning standards, prompt 
isolation, antibiotic stewardship, hand 
hygiene and staff education to help reduce 
and prevent healthcare associated 
infections. 

25 

The number and, where 
available, rate of patient 
safety incidents reported 
within the trust during 
the reporting period, and 
the number and 
percentage of such 
patient safety incidents 
that resulted in severe 
harm or death.  

Number 
reported: 
11,996 

 
Rate of 

reporting: 
38.0 

 
Rate resulted 
in harm: 0.10 

 
(2014/15) 

Number 
reported: 
11,299  

 
Rate of 

reporting: 
35.8 

 
Rate resulted 
in harm: 0.05 

 
(2015/16) 

Rate of 
reporting: 

38.3 
 

Rate 
resulted in 
harm: 0.16 

 
(2015/16) 

Rate of 
reporting: 
75.2 (Wye 
Valley NHS 

Trust) 
 

Rate 
resulted in 
harm: 0.02 
(Brighton 

and Sussex 
UH NHS 
Trust) 

 
(2015/16) 

Rate of 
reporting: 

19.9 
(Medway 
NHS FT) 

 
Rate resulted 
in harm: 0.63 

(The 
Whittington 

Hospital NHS 
Trust) 

 
(2015/16)  

CUH considers that this data is as 
described for the following reasons: The 
Trust has implemented a new incident 
reporting software as well as procedures 
relating to incident investigation. In 
relation to incidents resulting in harm or 
deaths, we have improved the quality of 
our data collection and analysis from 
previous years which we believe has 
contributed to the increase seen. 
CUH intends to take the following actions 
to improve this data, and so the quality of 
its services, by re-launching incident 
reporting training as an online interactive 
learning tool, and launching a new 
combined incident and serious incident 
reporting policy and investigation approach 
to promote a rapid feedback and learning 
cycle. 
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Appendix B: National targets – 2016/17 performance 
Indicator for disclosure (limited to those that were included in both the Monitor Risk 
Assessment Framework and the NHS Improvement Single Oversight Framework for 
2016/17) 

Target 
2016/17 CUH performance 2016/17 

Referral To Treatment 
(RTT) 

Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment (RTT) 
in aggregate – patients on an incomplete pathway ≥92% 90.5% 

A&E target Maximum waiting time of four hours from arrival to admission/ 
transfer/ discharge  ≥95% 83.4% 

All cancers: 62-day 
wait for first treatment 
from: 

• urgent GP referral for suspected cancer ≥85% 
86.6%  

(with reallocations for late 
referral) (at Feb-17) 

• NHS Cancer Screening Service referral ≥90% 
93.6%  

(with reallocations for late 
referral) (at Feb-17) 

Infection Prevention 
and Control C. difficile – meeting the C. difficile objective <49 47 
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Appendix C: HQIP National Clinical Audits  
 

Title Outcome 

National Diabetes 
Inpatient Audit 
2015 

The national audit report was received in the Trust in May 2016. The 
service continue to review a higher than average proportion of Type 1 
and Type 2 diabetes in-patients who are insulin treated -  making the 
case mix more complex and higher risk, warranting higher resources and 
poses challenges to managing outcomes. This is especially reflected in 
the proportion of patients needing acute management (intravenous 
insulin infusions) and specialist services, for example foot and renal 
services. However, this has enabled patients to have increased and 
speedier access to specialist staff (visit by diabetes team member, foot 
multi-disciplined review within 24 hours) and it is also indicative of the 
complex needs of our patients. As a service we are further exploring 
improvements in our processes to support earlier ‘at-risk’ foot 
assessment and to increase identification of patients with foot problems 
earlier in their admission. There have been positive changes since the last 
audit in several areas with respect to outcomes; error rates and patient 
satisfaction measures. For example, hypoglycaemia rates have fallen 
significantly in both mild and severe categories and fallen below national 
average, however we will continue to improve, there is still scope to 
reduce absolute numbers further.  
Medication errors have reduced from previous audit but remain higher 
than national average. Some of this is reflective of case mix and the 
ability to track errors better (time insulin administered) with electronic 
recording. Some sources of error have been virtually eliminated (insulin 
name, dose, ‘units’, unsigned orders/ administration) due to electronic 
prescribing and subsequent improvements in the electronic order entry 
process. However, there are areas of practice that need improvement 
(insulin meal timing mismatch, appropriate increase/decrease in 
medications) that are having an impact on overall metrics. 
Less than half of patients were willing or able to return the patient 
questionnaires. This may be another indication of patient acuity as only 
relatively stable and alert patients are given questionnaires. While in all 
reported measures patients responded favourably and better compared 
to last year and the national average, the absolute proportion of patients 
satisfied with meal choice, timing and opportunity to self-manage their 
diabetes remains low. More than three out of four patients reported being 
overall satisfied/ very satisfied with their diabetes care though this rate 
was slightly lower than previously and national average. This was despite 
improvements in individual satisfaction measures and may indicate there 
may be other factors that influence satisfaction with diabetes care.  
Key action points: 

1. Present results to all diabetes staff at diabetes clinic meeting 
2. Analyse specific sources of errors – insulin timing in particular 

and implement process change to address this 
3. Continue to evaluate hypoglycaemia incidents and focus on 

process improvements, such as universal hypo boxes and early 
referral criteria to reduce severe and recurrent hypoglycaemia 

4. Promote early identification of patients with diabetes admitted at 
front door and determine if a standard methodology for foot risk 
assessment should be developed 

5. Encourage uptake of self-assessment in hospital to enable 
patients’ self-management 

6. Explore barriers to patient satisfaction with diabetes care that are 
not related to meal choice/timing 
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Title Outcome 

National Diabetes 
Audit 2015-16  

The national audit report was received in the Trust in January 2017. 
Across the audit there were areas where CUH scored well, being “Higher 
than expected” in care process completion for four keys markers (HbA1c, 
blood pressure, urine albumin and BMI recording) in Type 1 diabetes. 
Similarly in Type 2 banding was higher than expected for blood pressure, 
urine albumin and BMI and “as expected” across all eight care processes. 
We appear to score less well when it comes to long term blood glucose 
control in Type 2 diabetes but some of this may be because we have 
within our service more challenging patients with complex needs. We are 
less good to appearing to record smoking status and foot examination 
when done and work is underway with the e-hospital team to these 
important metrics are easy to record and done as routine. Although we 
have a very active and heavily subscribed Type 1 education course 
(DAFNE) we must also record when we offer education to our patients, 
currently not captured in full.  
Action points: 

1. Present data to all diabetes clinicians at diabetes clinic meeting 
2. Review capture of structured education data as part of Epic re-

design 
3. Comparison of treatment target data with similar teaching 

hospitals 
4. Remind Clinicians to fill in audit data fields including smoking and 

foot examination fields 

SSNAP - Sentinel 
Stroke National 
Audit Programme  

The national audit report was received in the Trust in November 2016. 
The results are regularly reviewed by the SNAP Steering Group and an 
ongoing action plan is in place. This work stream has been identified as a 
flag ship pathway for the Trust. 

National Clinical 
Audit for 
Rheumatoid and 
Early Inflammatory 
Arthritis 

The national audit report was reviewed in the Trust. Overall the data 
supplied by CUH Rheumatology in the second year of the audit showed 
worse performance compared with the first year of the standards. A 
number of key actions are underway. The action plan based on the first 
report continues and is led by the rheumatology service manager with 
ongoing monitoring and progress reviews discussed at the quarterly audit 
meetings in the department of musculoskeletal and rheumatology 
services. 

NELA The national audit report was received in the Trust in July 2016. The 
results are regularly reviewed by the anaesthetic team at the 
multidisciplinary team meeting with ongoing actions in place to address 
learning. Overall the Trust is performing well.  

MINAP - 
Myocardial 
Ischemia National 
Audit 

The national audit report was received in the Trust in January 2017. The 
MINAP 2014/2015 audit showed that 85% of patients who presented with 
a heart attack (myocardial infarction) were seen by a cardiologist against 
the England average of 95%, 52% of patients, including those after 
discharge were referred for or had angiography against the England 
average of 80%. The trust was just below the England average for the 
number of patients who were admitted to a cardiac unit or ward at 54% 
National average was 55%.  
The reports are issued in arrears and a data check has previously been 
highlighted where the Cardiac Nurse Practitioners who complete the 
audits will check whether the relevant patients identified as not having 
seen a member of the cardiology team have truly not seen a team 
member, and the reason for this. The host NICOR were contacted to 
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Title Outcome 

clarify what constitutes cardiology team. NICOR have confirmed that the 
Cardiac SpecialistNurse teams are included as part of the cardiology 
team. The Cardiac Nurse Practitioners will classify patients who were 
considered for angiography, but not felt to be suitable, as ‘not applicable’ 
in future audits. 

National Clinical 
Audit of Biological 
Therapies 

The national audit report was received in the Trust in September 2016. 
Work is underway within the service to ensure robust monitoring of 
patients being started on the relevant therapy to ensure recording of 
symptom index, appropriate screening bloods and monitoring of 
response. All this information is being recorded with work underway with 
the e-hospital team to develop an ‘electronic build’ to incorporate this 
data in to the electronic patient pathway.  

National Cardiac 
Rhythm 

The national audit report was received in the Trust in February 2017. The 
audit is a collection of data from cardiac device implanting centres. In the 
latest report, CUH was singled out for exemplary data entry (page 10 of 
the report), for which credit goes to the Cardiac Physiologists. The 
dataset shows that CUH performs very well compared with the national 
Averages for compliance with NICE guidance (page 49 of Appendix). 

National 
Ophthalmology 
Database Audit 

The national audit report was received in the Trust in April 2016. The 
audit aims to compare CUH results against national standards published 
by the Royal College of Ophthalmologists, London. The safety and quality 
indicators were set based on College guidelines as follows: 

1. Surgical complications (Posterior capsule (PC) rupture rate) = 
Audit Standard 1.92% to 4 % 

2. Postoperative complications (Endophthalmitis rate) = Audit 
standard 0.04 % to 0.14% 

The audit results for 2016 showed that CUH performed well compared to 
national averages with 1.04% PC rupture and 0.04% Endophthalmitis 
rates with 86% of patients achieving 6/12 or better best vision and 89% 
of eyes within 1 Diopter of intended refractive aim. Work is in progress in 
2017 to ensure more accurate reporting of the complete data set as 
required for cataract surgery requested by the National Data Set for 
cataract surgery. 

NOGCA - National 
Oesophago–Gastric 
Audit 

The national audit report was received in the Trust in September 2016. 
The Trust is performing well the postoperative mortality at 30 and 90 day 
is below the national average. The pre-invasive and early oesophago-
gastric cancers are all discussed in detail at the multi- disciplinary team 
meetings, and these are all treated with curative intent using endoscopic 
therapy and/or surgery, meeting the standards. Data completeness for 
NOGCA in last audit was 78% - this is below average. An action was 
agreed to appoint a new data clerk, now in post and for the cancer units 
to enter their own data, this is now in place, with the aim for >95% data 
completeness in next report. 

NCEPOD Mental 
Health in General 
Hospitals - Treat as 
One 

The national report was received by the Trust in January 2017. The 
clinical team are in the process of reviewing the audit results ad will 
develop actions to address areas requiring improvement. 

NCEPOD Acute 
Pancreatitis Treat 
the Cause 

The national report was received by the Trust in July 2016. The report 
has been discussed within the speciality service areas and presented to 
the Clinical Audit Committee in September 2016. There were a number of 
standards where CUH performed well however the key action agreed 
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Title Outcome 

include as follows; Dedicated session on the weekly theatre list, formalise 
the service to ensure patient pathways for simple and rapid referral are 
available and the network arrangements to include recruitment of a 
pancreatitis specialist nurse to support this service. 

National Vascular 
Registry Annual 
report 2016 

The national report was received by the Trust in November 2016. Overall 
CUH is performing well in terms of mortality and stroke rates around 
carotid surgery; however the Trust is in the lowest quartile for the 
country around time delays in getting the procedures completed. An 
action plan is in place to address key learning and ensure data 
completeness. 

RCEM Procedural 
Sedation 

The national report was received by the Trust in May 2016. All the RCEM 
audits are reviewed and discussed in detail at the Emergency Care 
Governance meetings. Overall CUH performance is very favourable with 
the rest of the country. The key learning is as follows; improve the use of 
the sedation scoring tool and documentation of the pain score. Ensure all 
patients are provided with written advice leaflet – “Adult patients 
discharged following procedural sedation”. 

RCEM Vital Signs in 
Children 

The national report was received by the Trust in May 2016. Overall 
performance nationally on this audit was poor and CUH do not perform 
well, on particular in getting vital signs done within 15 minutes and 
reassessment within 60 minutes. Clear actions are in place to address the 
learning with re audits planned. 

RCEM VTE Risk in 
Lower Limb 
Immobilisation 

The national report was received by the Trust in May 2016 Performance 
against these standards was very good, and CUH were better than the 
national average on almost all standards measured. 

National 
Pregnancy in 
Diabetes Audit 

The diabetes quarterly audit report shows CUH is on track with data 
submission; this is a rolling audit and the quality of our data was in the 
top 1%. The team will review the data and implications against regional 
and national standards once the full report is published. 

National Prostrate 
Cancer Audit 

Overall achieving good outcome. Need to improve data completeness, 
data quality work underway with e-hospital team. 

COPD Audit 
programme  

CUH supports coordinated multidisciplinary working to provide an 
integrated approach to care - by liaising with community teams, GPs, 
Practice Nurses to support the complex patient and promote seamless 
care via twice weekly Virtual Clinics, close links with community 
colleagues, provision of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) 
Discharge Bundle and ‘At risk’ letters to highlight the more vulnerable 
pts. Outcomes and service needs are discussed at three monthly business 
meetings 
 
CUH ensures patients requiring non-invasive ventilation are reviewed and 
managed by the appropriate specialist on the appropriate ward with 
follow up post discharge by specialist team – NIV team are continuing to 
work on closer links with the emergency department – ongoing 
monitoring of outcomes and key parameters audited 
 
All patients admitted to CUH with an exacerbation of COPD are reviewed 
by the specialist team within 24 hours of admission and assessed for 
early discharge – if unsuitable the reason is documented in the notes –
the specialist team provide a 6 day service (Mon – Sat including BHs) but 
not funded for Sunday working – activity data is reviewed and discussed 
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at 3 monthly COPD business meeting – ongoing monitoring of activity 
and outcomes 
 
All patients should have blood gas on admission to CUH and have oxygen 
prescribed against target saturations with a flow rate recorded 
 
All patients admitted to CUH in acute type II respiratory failure to be 
initiated on non-invasive ventilation in a timely manner and have a 
ceiling of care discussed – outcomes are discussed and audited 3 monthly 
with ongoing monitoring. The National Confidential Inquiry report 
(NCEPOD) is due to be published in June the Trust will review and 
consider any further learning. 

National Cardiac 
Arrest Audit 

NCAA is the only national clinical comparative audit of in-hospital cardiac 
arrest with the aim of improving resuscitation care and outcomes for the 
UK and Ireland.  
It is a joint initiative between the Resuscitation Council (UK) and ICNARC 
(Intensive Care National Audit & Research Centre).The audit 
demonstrates that the CUH cardiac arrest team performs to expected 
standards. 

National 
Pregnancy in 
Diabetes Audit 

The diabetes quarterly audit report shows CUH is on track with data 
submission; this is a rolling audit and the quality of our data was in the 
top 1%.  
The team will review the data and implications against regional and 
national standards once the full report is published. 

National Prostate 
Cancer Audit 

Overall achieving good outcome need to improve data completeness, 
data quality work underway with e-hospital team. 

National Lung 
Cancer Audit 
(NLCA) (2015 
data) 

CUH provides excellent lung cancer care and appropriate treatment for 
lung cancer patients with continued evidence of high active cancer 
treatment rates and very high median survival rates. Work continues to 
ensure data quality and completeness of data is more robust.  

Case Mix 
Programme Adults 
Critical Care 

The aim of this audit is to improve resuscitation care and patient 
outcomes for the UK and Ireland. CUH performs very well and is 
achieving good outcomes.  
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Appendix D: Local audits  
 

Audit Title Action/response 

Audit 5039 - completion of pain 
assessments (rolling audit) 

Demonstrates continued improvement overall. 

Audit 5080 - 18 week pathway 
for children referred to CUH for 
ketogenic therapy 

Overall average time to starting the therapy 
continues to improve with actions in place to 
address key learning. 

Audit 5081 - End of Life Care 
prescribing PRN medications 

Improved to 80% - actions in place to continue to 
embed and re-audit. 

Audit 5254 - New-born hearing Agreed target achieved at 93% - excellent result 
given the increased number of referrals. We 
continue to re-audit. 

Audit 5030 - Resuscitation 
audit 

Quarterly audit - the findings are broken down to 
ward level so that actions to address any learning 
can be agreed at local level - evidence of continued 
improvement. 

Audit 2483 - Audit compliance 
with the appendectomy 
pathway 

Overall good compliance. 

Audit 4783 - Ward storage and 
security of medicines 

Quarterly audit – the findings are broken down to 
ward level so that actions to address any learning 
can be agreed at local level - evidence of continued 
improvement overall.  

Audit 4779 - Use of Chaperones 
in Colorectal clinic 

Overall good compliance with actions in place to 
continue to embed in practice and re-audit. 

Audit 5007 - Audit compliance 
against NICE Clinical Guideline 
(CG8) 

On anaemic management in people with chronic 
kidney disease, demonstrates variable compliance, 
actions in place to continue to embed in practice 
and re-audit. 

Audit 4047 - Audit of Major 
Trauma Centre admissions with 
rib fractures 

Number of admissions increasing with this diagnosis 
and key actions in place to develop a rib fracture 
pathway. 

Audit 4448 - Audit emergency 
gynaecology pathway 

Demonstrates variable compliance – with key 
actions in place primarily to review registrar rota.  

Audit 4739 - Use of the 
antibiotic Teicoplanin in 
ambulatory care 

Overall compliance good – actions in place to 
continue to educate over usage and re audit.  

Audit 4902 - Audit timing of the 
Lumbar Puncture in Bacterial 
meningitis 

Only 5% compliance within the standard of one 
hour – key actions in place to address the learning. 
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Audit 5104 - Consent Audit 
(rolling quarterly audit) 

Across all specialities; demonstrates overall good 
compliance with Trust policy. Actions in place to 
address key learning, with focus required on 
ensuring the documentation of provision of patient 
information. 

Audit 4978 - WHO Surgical 
checklist Audit (rolling 
quarterly audit) 

Across all theatres including day surgery unit - 
demonstrates overall good compliance with Trust 
policy, with key actions in place to address learning.  

Audit 4621 - Infection Control 
Audits rolling quarterly audits 

Across all specialities; demonstrates overall good 
compliance with Trust policy. Actions in place to 
address key learning. 

Re audit 5116 NICE Clinical 
Guideline 69 

Demonstrates overall good compliance. 

Re audit 5119 Improving bone 
marrow transplant summaries 

Audit demonstrates overall improvement with over 
90% compliance across the standards. 

Re audit 5219 Moving and 
Handling re assessment 

Audit demonstrates overall good compliance across 
the Trust with over 95% of the standards met. 
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Appendix E: Glossary of terms and abbreviations used in this report 
 
CCG (Clinical Commissioning Group) 
CCGs are responsible for planning and buying local NHS services, such as the care 
people receive at hospital and in the community, as well as ensuring that providers 
deliver the best possible care and treatment for patients. Services at CUH are 
commissioned by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG. 
 

C. difficile 
A clostridium difficile infection (CDI) is a type of bacterial infection that can affect 
the digestive system. It most commonly affects people who are staying in hospital. 
 

CFS (Clinical Frailty Score) 
An assessment tool used to determine the frailty of patients aged 75 and over 
admitted as emergencies. The assessment tool uses a nine point scoring system 
 

CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) indicators 
The CQUIN payment framework enables commissioners to reward excellence, by 
linking a proportion of English healthcare providers' income to the achievement of 
local quality improvement goals.  
 

CT 
Computerised tomography 
 

CUH (Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) 
 

DTOC (Delayed transfer of care) 
Medically fit patients who cannot be discharged from hospital until there are 
arrangements in place for their continuing care and support.  
 

Dr Foster 
Dr Foster Intelligence is a joint venture with the Department of Health. They have 
developed pioneering methodologies that enable fast, accurate identification of 
potential problems in clinical performance and also in areas of high achievement. 
 

eHospital 
eHospital is an exciting programme that is changing the way we work and how we 
care for our patients using latest technology. Every member of staff has access to 
the information they need, when they need it, without having to look for a piece of 
paper, wait to use a computer or ask the patient yet again. It went live in October 
2014. 
 

EPR – Epic 
Electronic patient record - The Epic system used for eHospital. 
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HSMR (Hospital standardised mortality ratio) 
This is a nationally calculated rate prepared by Dr Foster 
http://www.drfosterhealth.co.uk/ where a score of 100 would mean actual deaths 
were in line with expected. An HSMR of less than 100 indicates less patients than 
expected died, a figure of greater than 100 indicated more than expected died. 
 

HQIP 
The Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) was established in April 
2008 to promote quality in healthcare, and in particular to increase the impact that 
clinical audit has on healthcare quality in England and Wales: 

HRG (Healthcare Resource Group) 
Within the English National Health Service (NHS), a Healthcare Resource Group 
(HRG) is a grouping consisting of patient events that have been judged to consume 
a similar level of resource. For example, there are a number of different knee-
related procedures that all require similar levels of resource; they may all be 
assigned to one HRG. 
 

Human Factors 
Human Factors is the science which seeks to gain and apply knowledge of how 
people interact with each other and their environment, and how this affects 
behaviour, performance and wellbeing, particularly in the work setting. 
 

Joint Commission International 
Joint Commission International (JCI) works to improve patient safety and quality of 
health care in the international community by offering education, publications, 
advisory services, and international accreditation and certification.  
 

MBRRACE 
MBRRACE-UK is the collaboration appointed by the Healthcare Quality Improvement 
Partnership (HQIP) to continue the national programme of work investigating 
maternal deaths, stillbirths and infant deaths, including the Confidential Enquiry 
into Maternal Deaths (CEMD). The programme of work is now called the Maternal, 
Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review Programme (MNI-CORP). 
The aim of the MBRRACE-UK programme is to provide robust information to support 
the delivery of safe, equitable, high quality, patient-centred maternal, newborn and 
infant health services 
 

Monitor and NHS Improvement (NHSI) 
Monitor was the  NHS Foundation Trust regulator until 1 April 2016, when it was 
incorporated into NHS Improvement. 
 

MRSA (Meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus) 

http://www.drfosterhealth.co.uk/
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/English_National_Health_Service
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/mbrrace-uk/collaboration
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/mbrrace-uk/funding
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/mbrrace-uk/programme-of-work
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MRSA is a type of bacterial infection that is resistant to a number of widely used 
antibiotics. This means it can be more difficult to treat than other bacterial 
infections. The full name of MRSA is meticillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus. You 
may have heard it called a superbug.  
 
 
 

National quality indicators 
NHS England has mandated that all organisations providing NHS commissioned 
care are required to review their performance against a common set of measures 
across the new NHS Outcomes Framework, these measures are outlined below. 
 

NatSSIPs  
The National Safety Standards for Invasive Procedures  

NCEPOD 
The National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death reviews clinical 
practice and identifies potentially remediable factors in practice. NCEPOD's purpose 
is to assist in maintaining and improving standards of care for adults and children 
for the benefit of the public by reviewing the management of patients, by 
undertaking confidential surveys and research, by maintaining and improving the 
quality of patient care and by publishing and generally making available the results 
of such activities. 

‘Never event’ 
A 'never event' is defined as serious, largely preventable incident that should never 
happen if the right measures are in place. A defined list of never events is 
published annually by the Department of Health. 
 

NHSBT 
NHS Blood and Transplant (NHSBT) is a Special Health Authority who manages 
blood and organ transplantation. 
 

NICE 
The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 
 

Palliative care  
Palliative care focuses on the relief of pain and other symptoms and problems 
experienced in serious illness. The goal of palliative care is to improve quality of 
life, by increasing comfort, promoting dignity and providing a support system to the 
person who is ill and those close to them. 
 

PROMs (Patient reported outcome measures) 
These are nationally mandated and provide a patient perspective of the 
effectiveness of the care they received - in simple terms, the improvement gain or 
loss following the procedure.  
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PSIP  
The Patient Safety Improvement Plan (PSIP) - a programme designed to deliver 
continuous clinical quality improvement initiatives. 
 

QSiS (Quality and Safety Information System) 
A bespoke electronic risk management system based on the Datix software used by 
the majority of NHS Trusts in the UK. The system is made up of a number of 
modules, including safety incident reporting, risk register, complaints, claims, CQC 
compliance, and has excellent reporting features. 
 

Special Measures 
In serious cases where hospitals are not providing good and safe care to patients, 
and the management cannot fix the problems by themselves, action is taken to 
improve the hospitals. The term used for this is “special measures”. 
Special measures involve action by three organisations: the Care Quality 
Commission, Monitor and the NHS Trust Development Authority (Monitor and the 
Trust Development Authority have now been brought together as NHS 
Improvement). All are independent but funded by the Department of Health, and as 
regulators they work closely together to make sure patients get the best possible 
care from the NHS. More information is available at: 

http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/bruce-keogh-review/Documents/Special-measures-FAQs.pdf 

http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/bruce-keogh-review/Documents/Special-measures-FAQs.pdf
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Statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities as the Accounting Officer of Cambridge 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

The National Health Service Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the NHS 
Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for 
the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper 
accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officers’ Memorandum issued by NHS 
Improvement. 
 
NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has given Accounts 

Directions which require the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each 
financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis required by those Directions. The 
accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised 
gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year. 
 

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the 

Department of Health Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:  
 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 
 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 

Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual) have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements; 
 

• Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities and 
guidance; and 

 
• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

 
The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable him to ensure that the 
accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also 

responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
Signed                     

 

 
 
 
 
Roland Sinker 
Chief Executive                                                                     
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY 

HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST  

We have audited the financial statements of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements 
comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of 
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows, and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual 2016-17 as contained in the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016-17, and 

the Accounts Direction issued under section 25(2) of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006.  
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is subject to audit, being: 
 

• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes; 
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes;  
• disclosure of payments to past senior managers; 

• analysis of staff numbers; and 

• the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes. 
 

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust, as a body, in accordance with section 24(5) of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and 

for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 

anyone other than the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for 

the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and the auditor 

As described more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer's Responsibilities, the accounting officer is 

responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to 

audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 

Auditing Practice's Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

The Chief Executive as accounting officer is also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to 

secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the Trust’s use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship 

and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 

We are required under section 1 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006, to satisfy ourselves 

that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources.  We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating 

effectively. 

Our assessment of the risks of material misstatement 

During the course of the audit we identified the following risks that had the greatest effect on our overall 

audit strategy: 

• income and expenditure recognition; 
• property valuation; and 
• intangible asset valuation. 

 

Our assessment and application of materiality 

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of 

misstatements on the financial statements and our audit.  Materiality is used so we can plan and perform our 

audit to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free 

from material misstatement. The level of materiality we set is based on our assessment of the magnitude of 
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misstatements that individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have influence on the 

economic decisions the users of the financial statements may take based on the information included in the 

financial statements. 

The overall materiality level we set for the Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s financial 

statements was £8.1 million, which is approximately 1% of operating expenses of continuing operations. 

Operating expenses of continuing operations was chosen as the appropriate benchmark for overall 

materiality as this is a key measure of financial performance for users of the financial statements. The 1% 

figure chosen is at the lower end of our range of possible materiality levels reflecting our assessment of risk 

in view of the recent poor financial performance of the Trust and increased risk of management manipulation 

of accounting records.  We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit 

differences in excess of £0.245 million, as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, 

warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 

to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 

caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 

the Trust's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness 

of significant accounting estimates made by the accounting officer and the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. In addition we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report 

to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any 

apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. We scoped 

our audit approach in response to the risks outlined above as follows: 

Risk  Audit Approach  

Revenue and expenditure 

recognition 

There is a risk of fraud in the 

financial reporting relating to 

revenue and expenditure 

recognition due to the 

potential to inappropriately 

record revenue and 

expenditure in the wrong 

period. Due to there being a 

risk of fraud in revenue and 

expenditure recognition we 

consider it to be a significant 

risk on foundation trust audits 

Our approach involved a range of substantive procedures including:  

• testing of income and expenditure including tests to obtain 
sufficient appropriate assurance that transactions are 
recognised in the correct year; 

• testing material year end receivables, payables, accruals and 
provisions; 

• testing intra-NHS reconciliations and data matches; 

• evaluating management oversight of material accounting 
estimates and any changes to accounting policies; 

• evaluating judgements about whether the criteria for 
recognising provisions were satisfied; and 

• testing a sample of adjustment journals, selected on the 
basis of risk characteristics. 

 

  

Risk  Audit Approach  

Property valuation 

Land and buildings are the Trust’s 

highest value assets. 

Management engage an expert, 

to assist in determining the value 

of property to be included in the 

financial statements. Changes in 

Our approach involved: 

• updating our understanding on the approach taken by the 
Trust in its valuation of land and buildings; 

• evaluating the scope and terms of the engagement with 
the valuer and how management used the valuation 
report to value land and buildings in the financial 

statements; 

 



  

Page 5 

 
 
Accounts year ended 31 March 2017 
 
  

  

the value of property may impact 

on the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income 

depending on the circumstances 

and the specific accounting 

requirements of the Department 

of Health Group Accounting 

Manual. 

• obtaining information on the methodology and the 

valuer’s procedures to ensure objectivity and quality; and 
• considering evidence of regional valuation trends. 

Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets, specifically e-

hospital, represent a material 

balance on the Trust’s Statement 

of Financial Position.  Assets are 

held at current value in existing 

use. The risk is that the valuation 

is inappropriate the impact of 

obsolescence, technological and 

other economic factors should be 

considered when assessing the 

assets value at 31 March 2017. 

Our approach involved: 

• challenging the basis of the valuation; 
• evaluating management’s judgement on impairment; 
• assessing any potential factors suggesting an 

impairment; and 

• assessing the useful lives used for amortisation of the 
asset. 

 

 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 

use of resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller 

and Auditor General (C&AG), having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the C&AG in 

November 2016, as to whether the Trust had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 

decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 

people. The C&AG determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit 

Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 

undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the 

Trust had put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources. 

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust's 
affairs as at 31 March 2017 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended; 

• have been prepared properly in accordance with the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 

2016-17; and 
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act 

2006. 
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Emphasis of matter 

In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy 

of the disclosures made in Note 1.2 of the financial statements concerning the ability of the Trust to continue 

as a going concern. The Trust incurred a deficit of £53.1 million during the year ended 31 March 2017. The 

Trust’s 2017/18 Annual Plan requires the Trust to achieve substantial cost savings and it is reliant on 

additional financial support from the Department of Health. These, along with the other matters explained in 

Note 1.2 to the financial statements, indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast 

significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Conclusion on the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 

use of resources 

We report to you if we are not satisfied that the Trust has put in place proper arrangements to secure 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Basis for qualified conclusion 

In considering the Trust’s arrangements for sustainable resource deployment we identified that as well as 

reporting a deficit of £53.1 million in 2016/17 the Trust expects to deliver further deficits of £42.1 million 

and £41.1 million in 2017/18 and 2018/19 and therefore does not yet have a plan to achieve a sustainable 

balance of income and expenditure. The Trust will require significant further cash support from the 

Department of Health to continue to maintain statutory functions.  

The actual and planned deficits are evidence of weaknesses in the Trust’s arrangements for planning finances 

for sustainable resource deployment and the maintenance of statutory functions. 

Qualified conclusion (except for) 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in 

November 2016, with the exception of the matters disclosed in the basis for qualified conclusion paragraph 

above, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for 

the year ended 31 March 2017. 

Opinion on other matters 

In our opinion: 

• the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in 
accordance with the requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2016-17; 
and 

• the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

 

Matters on which we report by exception 

We report to you if: 

• in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual 2016-17; 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 because we have a reason to believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is about to make, 

or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful 
action likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or  

• we issue a report in the public interest under Schedule 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. 

 

In particular we are required to consider whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our 

knowledge acquired during the audit and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual report is fair, 
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balanced and understandable and whether the annual report appropriately discloses those matters that we 

communicated to the audit committee which we consider should have been disclosed. 

We are also required to report to you if, in our opinion, the Annual Governance Statement is misleading or is 

not consistent with our knowledge of the Trust and other information of which we are aware from our audit 

of the financial statements. We are not required to assess, nor have we assessed, whether all risks and 

controls have been addressed by the governance statement or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by 

internal controls. 

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Cambridge University Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of chapter 5 of part 2 of the National Health 

Service Act 2006 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

 

 

 

 

Gareth Davies CPFA 

For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 

 

Salvus House 

Aykley Heads 

Durham 

DH1 5TS 

26th May 2017  
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS  
 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (“the Trust”) acts as an acute hospital and the main 
teaching hospital for the University of Cambridge.  The Trust serves the local Cambridge area and also 
provides specialist services to the wider population throughout the East of England and beyond.  The Trust 

hosts a number of clinical networks and the Cambridge Biomedical Research Centre.   
 
These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been prepared by Cambridge University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the NHS Act 2006 and are 
presented to Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7, paragraph 25 (4) (a) of the National Health Service Act 
2006. 

 
Signed                     
 

 
 
 
 
Roland Sinker 

Chief Executive     
 
24 May 2017                                                             
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

Note Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

(Restated)

Operating income from patient care activities 2 645,136             580,443             

Other operating income 2 134,400             124,084             

Total operating income from continuing operations 779,536             704,527             

Operating expenses of continuing operations 3 (815,849)            (767,446)            

Operating (deficit) (36,313)              (62,919)              

Finance costs

Finance income 6 58                      85                      

Finance expense - financial liabilities 6 (10,511)              (8,606)                

Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions 17 (84)                     (96)                     

Public Dividend Capital dividends payable (825)                   (3,277)                

Net finance costs (11,362)              (11,894)              

(Losses)/gains on disposal of assets 6 (95)                     58                      

Share of (loss) of joint operations (5,285)                (9,576)                

(Deficit) from continuing operations (53,055)              (84,331)              

(Deficit) for the year (53,055)              (84,331)              

Other comprehensive income/(expenditure)

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:

Impairments 7 -                     (53,513)              

Revaluations 6,643                 -                     

Total comprehensive (expense) for the year (46,412)              (137,844)            

Allocation of (losses) for the year:

(Deficit) for the year attributable to:
Government (53,055)              (84,331)              

Total comprehensive (expense) for the year attributable to:
Government (46,412)              (137,844)            

Other operating income and operating expenses of continuing operations have been restated for the year 
ended 31 March 2016 to show net gains on disposals of property, plant & equipment on the face of the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.  This reflects a change in accounting policy required by the 
Department of Health Group Accounting manual.   
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2017

Note 31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 8 31,407               32,296               

Property, plant and equipment 9 319,823             305,982             

Total non-current assets 351,230             338,278             

Current assets

Inventories 11 12,062               13,047               

Trade and other receivables 12 73,054               62,231               

Cash and cash equivalents 13 15,134               13,874               

Total current assets 100,250             89,152               

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 (106,066)            (104,260)            

Borrowings 15 (11,123)              (9,362)                

Provisions 17 (2,422)                (2,370)                

Other liabilities 16 (31,609)              (25,695)              

Total current liabilities (151,220)            (141,687)            

Total assets less current liabilities 300,260             285,743             

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 15 (252,615)            (191,236)            

Provisions 17 (3,042)                (3,842)                

Total non-current liabilities (255,657)            (195,078)            

Total assets employed 44,603               90,665               

Taxpayers' equity

Public dividend capital 125,440             125,090             

Revaluation reserve 36,115               29,472               

Income and expenditure reserve (116,952)            (63,897)              

Total taxpayers' and others' equity 44,603               90,665               

 

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 24 May 2017 and signed on its behalf by:  

                  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Dr Mike More   Mr Roland Sinker   Mr Jonathan Rowell 

Chairman   Chief Executive   Interim Chief Finance Officer 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

Total

Non-controlling 

interest

Public dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 01 April 2016                  90,665                        -                 125,090                 29,472               (63,897)

(Deficit) for the year                (53,055)                        -                          -                          -                 (53,055)

Revaluations                    6,643                        -                          -                     6,643                        -   

Public dividend capital received                       350                        -                        350                        -                          -   
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 Mar 2017                  44,603 -                    125,440             36,115               (116,952)           

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

Total

Non-controlling 

interest

Public dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 01 April 2015                228,068 125                    124,649             83,505               19,789               

(Deficit) for the year                (84,331) -                    -                    -                    (84,331)             

Transfers between reserves                         -   (125)                  -                    -                    125                    

Transfers between reserves for the excess of 

current cost depreciation over historical cost 

depreciation                         -   -                    -                    (520)                  520                    

Impairments - property, plant and equipment                (53,513) -                    -                    (53,513)             -                    

Public dividend capital received                       441 -                    441                    -                    -                    
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 Mar 2016                  90,665 -                    125,090             29,472               (63,897)             
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities (Restated)

Operating (deficit) from continuing operations               (36,313)               (62,919)

Non-cash income and expense

Depreciation and amortisation                 19,107                 21,179 

Impairments                        -                     6,988 

Income recognised in respect of capital donations (cash and non-cash)                        -                   (1,659)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables               (12,284)                   7,022 

Decrease/(increase) in inventories                      985                    (387)

Increase in trade and other payables                   1,445                   4,871 

Increase in other liabilities                   5,914                   1,553 

(Decrease)/increase in provisions                    (832)                   2,406 

Other movements in operating cash flows                 (5,351)                 (9,576)

Net cash (used in) operations               (27,329)               (30,522)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received                        58                        85 

Purchase of intangible assets                 (2,635)                 (2,980)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment property               (23,200)               (20,989)

Sales of property, plant and equipment and investment property                        -                        377 

Receipt of cash donations to purchase capital assets                        -                     1,659 

Net cash (used in) investing activities               (25,777)               (21,848)

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital received                      350                      441 

Loans received from the Department of Health*               201,837                 52,822 

Loans repaid to the Department of Health*             (136,734)                 (7,399)

Capital element of PFI, LIFT and other service concession payments                 (1,963)                 (1,862)

Interest paid                 (5,748)                 (4,231)

Interest element of PFI, LIFT and other service concession obligations                 (4,405)                 (4,421)

PDC dividend paid                   1,029                 (5,059)

Net cash generated from financing activities                 54,366                 30,291 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                   1,260               (22,079)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April                 13,874                 35,953 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March                 15,134                 13,874 

The Foundation Trust held £2k cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 2017 (year ended 31 March 2016, £6k) 

which relates to monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from the cash at 

bank and in hand figure reported in the accounts. 

* Loans received from and repaid to the Department of Health are shown on a gross basis.  During 2016/17 

the Department of Health issued new loans, the purpose of which was partly to re-finance existing loans. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS  

IFRS Accounting Policies 

1 Accounting policies and other information  

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, is responsible for issuing an 

accounts direction to NHS Foundation Trusts under the NHS Act 2006. NHS Improvement has directed that 

the financial statements of NHS Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department 

of Health Group Accounting Manual (DH GAM) which shall be agreed with the Secretary of State. 

Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the DH GAM 

2016/17 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow IFRS 

and HM Treasury’s FReM to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts. 

The accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to 

the accounts.  

1.1 Accounting convention  

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the 

revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and 

financial liabilities.   

1.2 Going concern 

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
The Trust is expecting to incur a deficit during the next 12 months of £42.1m and as a result will continue to 
require additional cash funding from the Department of Health.  NHS Improvement now assesses each 
Trust’s cash funding requirements one month ahead of need and then arranges loan finance for that month 

only from the Department of Health.  To date, the Trust’s cash funding requirements have been met in this 

way and the Board of Directors expects this to continue without interruption.   
 
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 requires management to assess, as part of the accounts 
preparation process, the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements should be 
prepared on a going concern basis unless management intends, or has no alternative but, to apply to the 

Secretary of State for the Trust’s dissolution without the transfer of its services to another entity. 
 
Financial position: 

 The Trust recorded a financial deficit of £53.1 million for the 2016/17 financial year, which was 

better than the control total agreed with NHS Improvement of £56.3 million. 

 The Trust is no longer in “special measures”. 

 The Trust drew down £65.1 million of additional working capital funding from the Department of 

Health during 2016/17. This funding ensured that the Trust could continue to meet its liabilities 

during 2016/17 as they fell due.  

 The Trust has agreed a control total with NHS improvement for 2017/18 – a planned deficit of 

£42.1 million, representing an improvement of £11.0 million on 2016/17. 

 New two year contracts with Commissioners have been signed which give a significant level of 

assurance around continued service delivery and income cash flows for the Trust during 2017/18. 

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s Board of Directors has carefully considered the 

principle of ‘Going Concern’ and the Directors consider that the position described above represents an 

improvement on that described in 2015/16 and one that is recognised by NHS Improvement, resulting in the 

Trust having been taken out of “special measures” during 2016/17.  

After making enquiries, and considering the matters described in the preceding paragraphs, the Directors 

have a reasonable expectation that the Trust will have access to adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern 
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basis in preparing the accounts. 

1.3 Joint operation 

 
Joint operations are arrangements in which the Trust has joint control with one or more other parties and has 
the rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. The Trust includes 
within its financial statements its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  
 

Where the joint arrangement is loss making the investment in the partnership is impaired to zero by the 
losses made, and remaining losses are recognised as a provision due to the constructive obligation. 
 
1.4 Income  
 
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs. It is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is 
contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services.   
 

Revenue relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year end are apportioned across the 
financial years on the basis of the number of occupied bed days and an average cost per bed day. 
 
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is 

deferred. 
 
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been 
met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract. 
 
The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of 
treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an 

insurer.  The Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and 
Pensions’ Compensation Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income is 
measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for 
unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts.  

 
1.5 Expenditure on employee benefits 

 
 Short-term employee benefits 
 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is 
received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the 
end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to 
carry forward leave into the following period. 

 
Pension costs - NHS Pension Scheme 
 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the 

benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 

www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP 

practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They 

are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 

scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution 

scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 

payable to that scheme for the accounting period.   

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially 

from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires 

that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening 

years”. An outline of these follows: 

Accounting valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government 

http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions
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Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the 

previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current 

reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The 
valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2016, updated to 

31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, 

the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM 

Treasury have also been used. 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms 

part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts.  These accounts can be 

viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually.  Copies can also be obtained from The 

Stationery Office. 

 Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the 

schemes (taking into account their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates 

payable by employees and employers.  

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year 

ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the 

Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the 

Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.  

There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if 

the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, 

any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State 

for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders. 

1.6 Expenditure on other goods and services 

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have been received. It is 

measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses 

except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.  

1.7 Research and development 

  
Expenditure on research is not capitalised and is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it is 
incurred. The Trust currently has no development expenditure.   
 
To the extent that income and expenditure is netted off as part of research grant accounting, amounts are 
grossed up within the Statement of Comprehensive Income to reflect the gross value of expenditure on 
research activity. 

 
1.8 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Recognition  
 
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where: 

 
 it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
 it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to, the Trust; 
 it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and 
 the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
 the item has cost of at least £5,000, or 
 collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than 

£250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 

anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control. 
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Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different 
asset lives, e.g., plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

 
Measurement 
 
Valuation 

 
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost; representing the cost directly attributable to 
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management.   
 
Subsequently Land and non specialised buildings are measured at valuation and all other Property, plant and 

equipment assets are valued at depreciated replacement cost. 
 
Fair values determination 
 

Land and non specialised buildings are valued on the modern equivalent asset (alternative site) basis. 
 
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified District Valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of 

Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The land and buildings valuation was 
undertaken as at the prospective valuation date of 31 March 2017, applying the modern equivalent assets 
valuation (alternative site) basis which is consistent with IAS (International Accounting Standard) 16. 
 
Subsequent expenditure 
 
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in 

the carrying amount of the asset, when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service 
potential, deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item, will flow to the enterprise and 
the cost of the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the 
replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part 
replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or 

service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 

the period in which it is incurred. 
 
Depreciation  
 
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic lives in a 
manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered 
to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. Properties under construction that are not yet being used are 

not depreciated. 
 
Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value for existing use over the estimated 
remaining life of the asset as assessed by professional valuers.  
 

Economic life of property, plant and equipment Min Life Max Life

Years Years

Land Infinite Infinite

Buildings 1 60

Plant & Machinery 5 15

Transport Equipment 7 7

Information Technology 5 8

Furniture & Fittings 7 10  
 

Revaluation gains and losses 
 
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they 
reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case 
they are recognised in operating income. 

 
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for 
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the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses. 
 
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Impairments 
 

In accordance with the DH GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of 
service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of  
 

(i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and  
(ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment. 

 
An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed 
when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are 
recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have 

had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation 
reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to 
the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the 

impairment reversal is recognised.  
 

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Gains which reverse previous impairment losses are 
netted against any impairments charged to operating expenses not recognised within operating income. 
 
Donated, government grant and other grant funded assets  
 
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. 
The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that 
the future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, 

in which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years 

to the extent that the condition has not yet been met. 
 
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of 
property, plant and equipment.  
 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions  

 
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s 
FReM, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the Trust. In accordance with IAS 17, the 
underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, together with an equivalent finance lease 
liability. Subsequently, the assets are accounted for as property, plant and equipment and/or intangible 
assets as appropriate. 

 
The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost, 
lifecycle cost and the charges for services.  

 
The finance cost is allocated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme. The service charge is recognised 
in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to finance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

 
1.9 Intangible assets 
 
Recognition 
 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  They 

are recognised only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to, the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 
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Software 
 
Software which is integral to the operating of hardware, e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of 

the relevant item of property, plant and equipment.  Software that is not integral to the operation of 
hardware, e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.   
 
Measurement 

 
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, 
produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 
 
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists, 

intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated cost and the value in use where the asset is income 
generating. Revaluation gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property, 
plant and equipment.  
 

Amortisation 
 
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 

consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.  
 
Intangible assets are amortised over the following estimated life: 
 
Asset category   Estimated life in years 
 
Purchased computer software  2 – 12 

 
1.10 Revenue government and other grants 
 
Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or NHS trusts 
for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement 

of Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure.  

 
1.11 Inventories  
 
Inventories comprise mainly consumable medical products.  
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The weighted average cost formula is 
used for drugs and the first in first out cost formula for all other inventories. This is considered to be a 

reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks. 
 
1.12 Financial instruments & financial liabilities 
 
Recognition 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial 

items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, i.e., when 
receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.  
 
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are 
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases. 

 
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
De-recognition  
 
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or 

the Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.  

 
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.  
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Classification and measurement  
 
Financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables. 

 
Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities. 
 
Loans and receivables 

 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets. 
 
The trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and 
“other receivables”. 

 
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured 
subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when 

appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. Loans from the Department of Health are not held for trading and are 
measured at historic cost with any unpaid interest accrued separately. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
 
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is 

the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial 
liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. 
 
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement 
of Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities. 

 

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and 
charged to finance costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment 
or intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. 
 
Determination of fair value 
 
For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are determined from 

discounted cash flow analysis. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those 
held at “fair value through income and expenditure” are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and 

impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one 

or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the asset. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account/bad debt provision. 
 
The Trust recognises impairment losses on other trade receivables when there is a breach of contract. This is 
deemed to have occurred if the outstanding receivable has not been settled within 1 year or more of the 
invoice date or if a medical insurance company has underpaid.  Amounts charged to the allowance account 
require approval from the “Losses and compensation panel”. 
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1.13 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash comprises cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution, repayable without penalty on notice 

of not more than 24 hours.   
 
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.   

 
1.14 Leases 
 
Finance leases 
 
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the NHS Foundation 

Trust, the asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The 
value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.  
 

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted 
for as an item of property plant and equipment.  
 

The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a 
constant rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. The lease liability is de-recognised when the liability is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 
 
Operating leases 
 

Other leases are recognised as operating leases and the rentals are charged to the operating expenses on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease 
rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease. 
 
Leases of land and buildings 

 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and 
the classification for each assessed separately. 
 
1.15 Provisions 
 
The NHS Foundation Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of 
uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other 

resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of 
the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the 
discount rates published and mandated by HM Treasury.   
 
Clinical negligence costs 

 

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual 
contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims.  
 
Although the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains 
with the Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is 
£258.7m (year ended 31 March 2016, £214.9m).  (No contingencies or provisions are in the accounts at 31 

March 2017 in relation to these cases, even though the legal liability for them remains with the Trust.) 
 
Non-Clinical risk pooling 
 
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are 
risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA and in return receives 
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions and any ‘excesses’ payable 

in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.  
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1.16 Contingent assets and liabilities 
 
The Trust had no contingent assets or liabilities as at 31 March 2017.  

 
1.17 Public Dividend Capital  
 
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over 

liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is 
not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 
 
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as Public Dividend Capital dividend.  
The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets 
of the NHS Foundation Trust during the financial year.  Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all 

assets less the value of all liabilities, except for  
(i) donated assets, 
(ii) average daily balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS), excluding cash 

balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, and  

(iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable.   
 
In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the 

dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” 
version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net 
assets occur as a result of the audit of the annual accounts. 
 
Public Dividend Capital is also available to finance capital expenditure on schemes supported by the 
Department of Health’s central budget. 
 

1.18 Value Added Tax 
 
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and 
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category 
or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 

recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

 
1.19 Corporation Tax  
 
The Trust does not have a corporation tax liability for the year ended 31 March 2017. 
 
1.20 Foreign exchange  
 

The Trust has minimal foreign currency income or expenditure.  
 
The functional and presentational currency of the Trust is Sterling. 
 
A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot 
exchange rate on the date of the transaction.  

 

Where the trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial 
Position date: 

 monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at “fair value through income and 
expenditure” and ring fenced Research and Development funds) are translated at the spot exchange 
rate on 31 March 2017 

 non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot 

exchange rate at the date of the transaction and 
 non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange 

rate at the date the fair value was determined. 
 
Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at 
the Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they 
arise. 

 

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other 
gains and losses on these items. 
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1.21 Third party assets  
 
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the 

accounts since the NHS Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a 
separate note to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM.  
 
1.22 Losses and special payments  

 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds 
for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They 
are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are 
divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special 
payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including 

losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the NHS Foundation Trust not been 
bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).  
 
However, the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations 

register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.  
 
1.23 Gifts 

 
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. 
Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan 
of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value.  
 
1.24 Judgments in applying accounting policies 
 

The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has 
made in the process of applying the NHS Foundation Trust’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 
 
Management have made the following critical judgements in applying the Trust’s accounting policies: 

 

The most significant estimate within the account is the value of land and buildings.  The land and buildings 
have been valued by the District Valuer on a modern equivalent asset (alternative site) basis as at 31 March 
2017.  The District Valuer is independent of the Trust and is certified by the Royal Institute of Chartered 
surveyors. The valuer has extensive knowledge of the physical estate and market factors.  The value does 
not take into account potential future changes in market value which cannot be predicted with any certainty. 
 
The Trusts PFI scheme has been assessed and recognised on the Statement of Financial Position under IFRIC 

12.  The PFI scheme has been valued by the District Valuer on a modern equivalent asset (alternative site) 
basis as at 31 March 2017.  The £9.1m unitary charge is based on actual charges made by the PFI provider. 
The Department of Health model has been used to determine the apportionment between the repayment of 
the liability, financing costs, the charges for services and lifecycle maintenance. 
 
In order to report within the government guidelines, the value of patient care activity for the year ended 31 

March 2017 has been estimated based on data available as at 1 April 2017. 

 
Income for an inpatient stay can be recognised from the day of admission, but cannot be precisely calculated 
until after the patient is discharged.  For patients occupying beds as at 31 March 2017, the estimated income 
from partially completed patient spells was £4.0m (year ended 31 March 2016, £6.0m). 
 
The Trust has a financial liability for any annual leave earned by staff but not taken by 31 March 2017, to the 

extent that staff are permitted to carry leave forward in to the next financial year.  The estimated cost of 
untaken annual leave as at 31 March 2017 was £1.5m (year ended 31 March 2016, £1.3m). 
 
Assumptions around the timing of cash flows relating to provisions are based on information from the NHS 
Pensions Agency, expert legal opinion within the Trust and external advisors, regarding when the legal issue 
may be settled. 
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Estimations as to the recoverability of receivables and the valuation of inventories have been made in 

determining the carrying amounts of these assets.  No significant variations are expected. 
 
1.25 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted   
 

The DH GAM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016/17. These 
standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being for implementation 
in 2018/19, and the government implementation date for IFRS 16 still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 
 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is therefore not permitted. 

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  –  Application required for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is therefore 
not permitted. 

 IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, 

but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is therefore not permitted. 
 IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration – Application required for 

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

   

It is unlikely that any of the above would have had a material impact on these accounts had they been 
adopted. 
 

2. Operating income 
 

IFRS 8 requires the disclosure of results of significant operating segments; the Trust considers that it only 
has one operating segment, healthcare. 
 

2.1 Operating Income (by nature)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Income from activities £000 £000

(Restated)

Acute services

Elective income 112,205             183,800             

Non elective income 135,058             118,930             

Outpatient income 153,569             125,820             

A & E income 15,180               12,934               

Other NHS clinical income 218,050             130,170             

Private patient income 7,019                 5,884                 

Other clinical income 4,055                 2,905                 

Total income from activities 645,136             580,443             

Total other operating income 134,400             124,084             

Total operating income 779,536             704,527             

Within the above analysis, significant changes in value between 2016/17 and the prior year reflect a change 

from block contracts for acute services in 2015/16 to a Payment by Results basis in 2016/17. 
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2.2 Operating Income (by source)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Income from activities £000 £000

NHS Foundation Trusts 3,885                 2,716                 

NHS Trusts 4,086                 2,093                 

Public Health England 47                      -                     

Health Education England 6                        -                     

CCGs and NHS England 615,104             553,614             

Local authorities 6                        64                      

Department of Health - other -                     6,000                 

NHS other 5,679                 3,493                 

Non NHS: Private patients 7,019                 5,225                 

Non NHS: Overseas patients (chargeable to patient) 481                    758                    

NHS injury scheme (was RTA) 3,574                 2,303                 

Non NHS: Other   5,249                 4,177                 
Total income from activities related to continuing operations 645,136             580,443             

Other operating income

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Other operating income (Restated)

Research and development 45,216               44,049               

Education and training 34,948               34,289               

Received from NHS charities: Cash donations / grants for the purchase of 

capital assets 39                      1,659                 

Non patient care services to other bodies 8,968                 10,129               

Sustainability and Transformation Fund income 18,152               -                     

Other * 27,077               33,958               

Total other operating income related to continuing operations 134,400             124,084             

Total operating income 779,536             704,527             

 
Other operating income has been restated for the year ended 31 March 2016 to reflect a change in 
accounting policy required by the Department of Health Group Accounting manual.  Profits on disposals of 
property, plant and equipment are now shown on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 

 

* Analysis of other operating income: Other

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Total Total 

£000 £000

Car parking 1,252                 1,222                 

Estates recharges 8,545                 7,756                 

IT recharges 101                    -                    

Pharmacy sales 326                    159                    

Staff accommodation rentals 1,044                 975                    

Clinical tests 259                    496                    

Clinical excellence awards 5,536                 5,642                 

Grossing up consortium arrangements 7,013                 4,959                 

Other 3,001                 12,749               

Total 27,077               33,958               
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2.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the Foundation Trust)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Income recognised this year 481                    758                    

Cash payments received in-year (relating to invoices raised in current and 

previous years) 194                    320                    

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables (relating to 

invoices raised in current and prior years) 283                    32                      

Amounts written off in-year (relating to invoices raised in current and 

previous years) 55                      599                    

 
 

3. Operating expenses (by type)

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

(Restated)

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 4,398                 2,104                 

Employee expenses - executive directors 1,375                 1,562                 
Remuneration of non-executive directors 142                    73                      
Employee expenses - staff 413,591             397,095             

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 148,070             129,908             
Supplies and services - general 21,895               23,112               

Establishment 6,478                 3,175                 

Research and development - (not included in employee expenses) 118                    668                    

Transport (business travel only) 1,012                 1,086                 

Transport (other) 214                    309                    

Premises - business rates payable to local authorities 2,751                 2,823                 

Premises - other 37,368               40,081               

Increase/(decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 601                    (546)                   

Increase in other provisions -                     500                    

Change in provisions discount rate(s) 271                    (16)                     

Drugs Inventories consumed 112,448             100,131             
Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments 8,886                 7,365                 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 15,734               18,075               
Amortisation on intangible assets 3,373                 3,104                 

Impairments of property, plant and equipment -                     6,988                 

Audit services - statutory audit 55                      82                      

audit services -regulatory reporting (external auditor only) 9                        -                     

other auditor remuneration (external auditor only) - analysis in note 5.5 -                     230                    

Clinical negligence - amounts payable to the NHSLA (premiums) 15,721               11,229               

Legal fees 364                    506                    
Consultancy costs 6,041                 4,185                 

Internal audit costs  - (not included in employee expenses) 100                    100                    

Training, courses and conferences 972                    1,063                 

Patient travel 2,281                 3,810                 

Car parking & security 1,699                 1,600                 

Redundancy - (not included in employee expenses) 351                    634                    

Early retirements - (not included in employee expenses) 222                    381                    
Hospitality 62                      123                    

Insurance 575                    520                    

Grossing up consortium arrangements 7,013                 4,959                 

Losses, ex gratia & special payments- (not included in employee expenses) 445                    218                    

Other operating expenses 1,214                 209                    

815,849             767,446             

 
Grossing up of research and consortium arrangements; these arrangements exist where the Trust receives 



 
 

Page 26 

 
 
Accounts year ended 31 March 2017 
 
  

ring fenced funding for research and development, or external funding for hosted consortia 
arrangements.  In these situations income is often received in advance of expenditure being incurred.  At 
year end unspent costs are accrued so that expenditure matches income for the year.   

 
 
 

4. Staff

4.1 Employee Expenses

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Permanently employed

Salaries and wages 312,946             294,221             

Social security costs 32,872               25,575               

Pension cost - defined contribution plans employer's contributions to NHS 

pensions 38,299               35,423               

Other

Temporary staff - external bank 23,229               23,245               

Agency/contract staff 7,620                 20,193               

Total staff costs 414,966             398,657             

 

4.2 Average number of employees (WTE basis)

Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

Total Permanent Other

Number Number Number

Medical and dental 1,273                 1,248                 25                      

Administration and estates 1,623                 1,610                 13                      

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 264                    264                    -                    

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 3,718                 3,718                 -                    

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 1,107                 1,107                 -                    

Agency and contract staff 632                    -                    632                    

Other 136                    136                    -                    

Total average numbers 8,753                 8,083                 670                    

Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

Total Permanent Other

Number Number Number

Medical and dental 1,281                 1,237                 44                      

Administration and estates 1,763                 1,594                 169                    

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 252                    252                    -                    

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 3,614                 3,614                 -                    

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 1,066                 1,065                 1                        

Agency and contract staff 519                    -                    519                    

Other 105                    105                    -                    

Total average numbers 8,600                 7,867                 733                    
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4.3 Early retirements due to ill health

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Number Number 

Number of early retirements on the grounds of ill-health 5                        5                        

£000 £000

Value of early retirements on the grounds of ill-health 222                    381                    

 

4.4 Reporting of other compensation schemes - exit packages year ended 31 March 2017

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies

Cost of 

compulsory 

redundancies

Number £000

Exit package cost band (including any special payment element)

<£10,000 1                        9                        

£10,001 - £25,000 7                        119                    

£25,001 - 50,000 3                        129                    

£50,001 - £100,000 1                        94                      

Total 12                      351                    

4.5 Reporting of other compensation schemes - exit packages year ended 31 March 2016

Number of 

compulsory 

redundancies

Cost of 

compulsory 

redundancies

Number £000

Exit package cost band (including any special payment element)

<£10,000 9                        62                      

£10,001 - £25,000 6                        107                    

£100,001 - £150,000 4                        465                    

Total 19                      634                    

 

5. Operating expenditure Miscellaneous

5.1 Analysis of operating lease expenditure

Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

Total Buildings

Plant & 

machinery

£000 £000 £000 

Minimum lease payments 8,886                 2,251                 6,635                 

Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

Total Buildings

Plant & 

machinery

£000 £000 £000 

Minimum lease payments 7,365                 1,901                 5,464                 
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5.2 Analysis of operating lease expenditure, future minimum payments

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 

On buildings leases:

- not later than one year; 841                    824                    

- later than one year and not later 

than five years; 3,214                 3,065                 

- later than five years. 5,093                 5,810                 

Total 9,148                 9,699                 

On plant and machinery leases:

- not later than one year; 4,949                 4,710                 

- later than one year and not later 

than five years; 10,608               11,849               

- later than five years. 745                    1,436                 

Total 16,302               17,995               

Total 25,450               27,694               

5.3 Limitation on auditor's liability

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 

Limitation on auditor's liability nil 1,000                 

There is no specified limitation on the auditors liability for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

5.4 Other audit remuneration

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor is analysed as follows:

Taxation compliance services -                     230                    

Audit-related assurance services - Quality Accounts 9                        -                     

9                        230                    

The majority of 2015/16 tax compliance fees took the form of a ‘gain share’ arrangement where the financial 
benefit to the Trust significantly exceeds the fees paid. 

 

This disclosure has changed as a result of change in auditor rather than a change in circumstances. 
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6. Finance income and expense 

6.1 Finance revenue

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Interest on bank accounts 58                      85                      

6.2 Finance expenses

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Interest expense

Capital loans from the Department of Health 3,256                 3,622                 

Working capital loans from the Department of Health 2,850                 563                    

Finance costs on PFI and other service concession arrangements (excluding LIFT)

Main finance costs 2,793                 2,891                 

Contingent finance costs 1,612                 1,530                 

Total interest expense 10,511               8,606                 

6.3 Losses on disposal of assets

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Gains on disposal of land and buildings -                     100                    

Gains on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 149                    77                      

Losses on disposal of other property, plant and equipment (244)                   (119)                   

(95)                     58                      

7. Impairments

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit:

Change in valuation basis -                     6,988                 

Total Impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit 6,988                 

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve -                     53,513               

Total impairments -                     60,501               

The 2015-16 impairment resulted from the valuing the Land & buildings on a Modern Equivalent Asset 

(alternative site) basis, the previous valuation was based on a Modern Equivalent Asset (no alternative site) 

basis.  To the extent the impairment loss exceeds the revaluation reserve balance, the remaining loss has 

been recognised as an expense.  This change in valuation basis, whilst a technical paper-based exercise and 

common throughout the NHS provider sector, has the effect of reducing annual Public Dividend Capital 

dividend payments to the Department of Health and therefore maximises the Trust’s resources that are 

available for patient care. 
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8. Intangible assets

8.1  Intangible assets - 2016/17

Software 

£000

Gross cost at 1 April 2016 39,062               

Additions - purchased 2,495                 

Reclassifications (11)                     

Disposals (899)                   

Gross cost at 31 March 2017 40,647               

Amortisation at 1 April 2016 6,766                 

Provided during the year 3,373                 

Disposals (899)                   

Amortisation at 31 March 2017 9,240                 

NBV total at 31 March 2017 31,407               

8.2  Intangible assets - 2015/16

Software 

£000

Gross cost at 1 April 2015 36,228               

Additions - purchased 3,097                 

Disposals (263)                   

Gross cost at 31 March 2016 39,062               

Amortisation at 1 April 2015 3,925                 

Provided during the year 3,104                 

Disposals (263)                   

Amortisation at 31 March 2016 6,766                 

NBV total at 31 March 2016 32,296               

Intangible assets represent a vision to create a comprehensive electronic patient record which we have called 

e-Hospital.   
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9.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2016/17

Total Land Buildings PFI asset

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost or valuation

At 1 April 2016 390,508   35,200   189,441  53,939     5,344            77,866        46              20,535          8,137        

Additions - purchased 23,016     -         13,577    685          1,096            5,861          -             1,711            86             

Reclassifications 11            -         665         -           (665)              -             -             11                 -            

Revaluations (1,214)      1,350     (3,075)     511          -                -             -             -                -            

Disposals (7,048)      -         (47)          -           -                (5,133)        -             (1,744)           (124)          

At 31 March 2017 405,273   36,550   200,561  55,135     5,775            78,594        46              20,513          8,099        

Depreciation

At 1 April 2016 84,526     -         7,027      -           -                54,939        38              16,536          5,986        

Provided during the year 15,734     -         8,015      792 -                5,014          2                1,270            641           

Revaluations (7,857)      -         (7,065)     (792)         -                -             -             -                -            

Disposals (6,953)      -         (47)          -           -                (5,038)        -             (1,744)           (124)          

At 31 March 2017 85,450     -         7,930      -           -                54,915        40              16,062          6,503        

Net book value at 31 March 2016

Owned 250,306   36,550   178,797  -           5,775            23,232        6                4,443            1,503        

On-SoFP PFI contracts 55,135     -         -          55,135     -                -             -             -                -            

Government granted 52            -         -          -           -                51               -             -                1               

Donated 14,330     -         13,834    -           -                396             -             8                   92             

At 31 March 2017 319,823   36,550   192,631  55,135     5,775            23,679        6                4,451            1,596        

 
No assets were held under finance leases or hire purchase contracts, with the exception of the PFI asset, which is financed by a PFI contract recognised on 
the Statement of Financial Position.  
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9.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2015/16

Total Land Buildings PFI asset

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost or valuation

At 1 April 2015 447,651   70,355   202,896  62,493     2,281            80,445        46              21,035          8,100        

Additions - purchased 19,495     -         12,234    688          1,963            3,539          -             940               131           

Additions - assets 

purchased from cash 

donations 1,659       -         559         -           1,100            -             -             -                -            

Impairments charged to 

operating expenses (16,932)    -         (15,870)   (1,062)      -                -             -             -                -            

Impairments charged to 

the revaluation reserve (53,513)    (34,955)  (10,378)   (8,180)      -                -             -             -                -            

Disposals (7,852)      (200)       -          -           -                (6,118)        -             (1,440)           (94)            

At 31 March 2016 390,508   35,200   189,441  53,939     5,344            77,866        46              20,535          8,137        

Depreciation

At 1 April 2015 83,928     -         6,172      -           -                55,875        36              16,490          5,355        

Provided during the year 18,075     -         9,722      1,077       -                5,063          2                1,486            725           

Impairments charged to 

operating expenses (9,944)      -         (8,867)     (1,077)      -                -             -             -                -            

Disposals (7,533)      -         -          -           -                (5,999)        -             (1,440)           (94)            

At 31 March 2016 84,526     -         7,027      -           -                54,939        38              16,536          5,986        

Net book value at 31 March 2016

Owned 235,993   35,200   168,281  -           4,244            22,245        8                3,988            2,027        

On-SoFP PFI contracts 53,939     -         -          53,939     -                -             -             -                -            

Government granted 62            -         -          -           -                58               -             -                4               

Donated 15,988     -         14,133    -           1,100            624             -             11                 120           
At 31 March 2016 305,982   35,200   182,414  53,939     5,344            22,927        8                3,999            2,151        
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10. Investments 
 
Investment relates to The Pathology Partnership and The Uniting Care Partnership LLP (now dormant).  

 
The Pathology Partnership is a joint venture between the Trust and five other NHS Trusts in the East of 

England aimed at transforming and modernising pathology services for hospitals and GP practices, 

initially across Cambridgeshire, Suffolk, Essex and Hertfordshire.  

In initial set-up periods both ventures are loss making, thus in accordance with International Accounting 
Standards 28 & 39 we have impaired the investments in the partnerships to zero by the losses made, and 
recognised the remaining losses as provisions due to the constructive obligation. 
 

 
11. Inventory

11.1 Inventory movements - 2016/17

Total Drugs Consumables Energy

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carrying value

At 1 April 2016 13,047               3,162                 9,729                 156                    

Additions 176,432             111,915             64,326               191                    

Inventories consumed (recognised 

in expenses) (177,417)            (112,448)            (64,828)              (141)                   

At 31 March 2017 12,062               2,629                 9,227                 206                    

11.2 Inventory movements - 2015/16

Total Drugs Consumables Energy

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carrying value

At 1 April 2015 12,660               3,469                 9,070                 121                    

Additions 160,144             99,824               60,178               142                    

Inventories consumed (recognised 

in expenses) (159,757)            (100,131)            (59,519)              (107)                   

At 31 March 2016 13,047               3,162                 9,729                 156                    

12. Trade Receivables 

 

12.1 Trade receivables and other receivables

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

NHS receivables - revenue 23,470               21,566               

Other receivables with related parties - revenue 7,817                 6,397                 

Provision for impaired receivables (3,841)                (3,342)                

Prepayments (non-PFI) 8,688                 8,232                 

Accrued income 25,204               17,015               

PDC dividend receivable -                     1,461                 

VAT receivable 1,896                 1,274                 

Other receivables - revenue 9,820                 9,628                 

Total current trade and other receivables 73,054               62,231               

12.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

At 1 April  3,342                 4,521                 

Increase in provision 1,784                 1,076                 

Amounts utilised (102)                   (633)                   

Unused amounts reversed (1,183)                (1,622)                

At 31 March 3,841                 3,342                 
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12.3 Analysis of impaired receivables

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017  31 Mar 2016 

£000 £000

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

over 180 days 3,841                 3,342                 

31 March 2017  31 Mar 2016 

£000 £000

Ageing of non-impaired trade receivables past their due date

0 - 30 days 18,040               6,711                 

30-60 Days 1,302                 7,589                 

60-90 days 2,557                 3,847                 

90- 180 days 3,442                 5,846                 

over 180 days 3,208                 3,618                 

Total 28,549               27,611               

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017  31 Mar 2016 

£000 £000

Ageing of non-impaired other trade receivables past their due date (Restated)

0 - 30 days 35,817               26,388               

This analysis has been revised to meet the requirements of IFRS 7 paragraph 37 (2013 version). The 

analysis is of all financial assets past due or impaired which should include investments and other 

financial assets. The analysis will also not include all receivables. Those that do not meet the definition of 

a financial asset (such as prepayments and debts arising under statute rather than contract) should be 

excluded.   

There are no non-impaired receivables over 1 year. 

NHS receivables are considered recoverable because the majority of trade is with Clinical Commissioning 

Groups (CCGs), as commissioners for NHS patient care services.  As CCGs are funded by the government 

to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.  Similarly other 

receivables with related parties are with other government bodies, so no credit scoring of them is 

considered necessary.  

Prepayments and accrued income are neither past their due date nor impaired. 
 
Other trade receivables become due immediately as we offer no credit terms.  
 
The Trust recognises impairment losses on other trade receivables when there is a breach of contract. 

This is deemed to have occurred if the outstanding receivable has not been settled within 1 year or more 
of the invoice date or if a medical insurance company has underpaid. 
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13. Cash and cash equivalents

13.1 Cash and cash equivalents movements

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

At 1 April 13,874               35,953               

Net change in year 1,260                 (22,079)              

At 31 March 15,134               13,874               

13.2 Breakdown of cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents balance at period end is broken down into:

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 1,637                 651                    

Cash with the Government Banking Service 13,497               13,223               

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 15,134               13,874               

14. Trade Payables

14.1 Trade and other payables

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Total Total 

£000 £000

Current 

NHS payables - revenue 3,852                 2,175                 

Amounts due to other related parties - revenue 480                    2,108                 

Other trade payables - capital (including capital accruals) 697                    1,021                 

Other trade payables - revenue 9,596                 23,682               

Social security costs 8,882                 7,781                 

Other payables 104                    369                    

Accruals 82,062               67,124               

PDC dividend payable 393                    -                     

Total current trade and other payables 106,066             104,260             

14.2 Early retirements in NHS payables above

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 
- to buy out the liability for early retirements over 5 years 222                    381                    

Number Number 

- number of cases involved 5                        5                        

 This information has been supplied by NHS Pensions. 
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15. Borrowings

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Current 

Capital loans from Department of Health 9,126                 7,398                 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service concession contracts (excl. 

lifecycle) 1,997                 1,964                 

Total current borrowings 11,123               9,362                 

Non-current

Capital loans from Department of Health 90,210               87,237               

Working capital loans from Department of Health 113,224             52,822               

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service concession contracts 49,181               51,177               

Total non current borrowings 252,615             191,236             

16. Other Liabilities

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Total Total 

£000 £000

Deferred income - goods and services 26,235               20,449               

Pension scheme liability 5,374                 5,246                 

31,609               25,695               

17. Provisions

17.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Current

Pensions relating to other staff 148                    166                    

Legal claims 79                      54                      

Other 2,195                 2,150                 

2,422                 2,370                 

Non-current

Pensions relating to other staff 2,483                 2,280                 

Legal claims 59                      59                      

Other 500                    1,503                 

3,042                 3,842                 

Total provisions 5,464                 6,212                 

The provision for pension costs relates to additional pension liabilities arising from early 
retirements.  Unless due to ill health these are not funded by the NHS Pension Scheme.  The full amount 
of such liabilities is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income at the time the Trust commits 

itself to the retirement. 
 
Other provisions include joint arrangements in The Pathology Partnership and the Uniting Care 
Partnership. The joint arrangements are loss making so the investments in the partnerships are impaired 
to zero by the losses made, and remaining losses are recognised as a provision due to the constructive 
obligation. 
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17.2 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis

 Total 

 Pensions: early 

departure costs  Legal claims  Other  

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2016 6,212                 2,446                 113                    3,653                 

Change in the discount rate 271                    271                    -                     -                     

Arising during the year 127                    -                     127                    -                     

Utilised during the year - cash (241)                   (163)                   (78)                     -                     

Reversed unused (989)                   (7)                       (24)                     (958)                   

Unwinding of discount 84                      84                      -                     -                     
At 31 March 2017 5,464                 2,631                 138 2,695                 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

In one year or less 2,422                 148                    79                      2,195                 In more than one year but not 

more than two years 207                    148                    59                      -                     In more than two years but not 

more than five years 441                    441                    -                     -                     

In more than five years 2,394                 1,894                 -                     500                    

5,464                 2,631                 138                    2,695                 

17.3 Clinical negligence liabilities

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000 £000

258,700             214,878             

Amount included in provisions of the NHSLA in respect of clinical negligence 

liabilities of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

18. Related party transactions 

 
The Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health. 

Government Departments and their agencies are considered by HM Treasury as being related parties. 
During the year the Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with other NHS bodies. 
The most significant transactions were with the following NHS bodies: 
 
NHS England 
Department of Health 
Health Education England 

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough CCG 
West Suffolk CCG 
West Essex CCG 
Bedfordshire CCG 
East & North Hertfordshire CCG 
 

In addition, the Trust has had a significant number of material transactions in the ordinary course of its 

business with other Government Departments and other central and local Government bodies.  Most of 
these transactions have been with Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs in respect of deduction and 
payment of PAYE, and Cambridge City Council in respect of payment of rates. 
 
During the year, none of the Board members, members of the key management staff or parties related to 
them have undertaken any material transactions with the Trust, with the exception of the University of 

Cambridge, which is a related party by virtue of the fact that Professor Patrick Maxwell is both a Non-
Executive Director of the Trust and Reguis Professor of Physic with the University.  All transactions 
between the Trust and University are undertaken on an arms-length basis. 
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18.1 Related party transactions

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2017

Revenue Expenditure

£000 £000

Department of Health 36,144               69                      

Other NHS bodies 695,356             28,276               

Subsidiaries / associates / joint ventures 3,887                 19,156               

Other Government bodies 8,018                 76,596               

Total value of transactions with related parties 743,405             124,097             

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2016

Revenue Expenditure

£000 £000

Department of Health 41,386               (5)                       

Other NHS bodies 614,507             23,669               

Subsidiaries / associates / joint ventures 31,416               47,961               

Other Government bodies 3,826                 66,213               

Total value of transactions with related parties 691,135             137,838             

18.2 Related party balances

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2017

Receivables Payables 

£000 £000

Department of Health 297                    911                    

Other NHS bodies 42,950               14,906               

Subsidiaries / associates / joint ventures 1,117                 4,252                 

Other Government bodies 10,433               15,377               

Total value of transactions with related parties 54,797               35,446               

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2016 31 March 2016

Receivables Payables 

£000 £000

Department of Health 1,461                 440                    

Other NHS bodies 33,155               7,997                 

Subsidiaries / associates / joint ventures 2,295                 6,775                 

Other Government bodies 8,606                 14,382               

Total value of transactions with related parties 45,517               29,594               

 
19. Contractual capital commitments

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000

Property, plant and equipment 3,071                 8,123                 
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20. Private Finance Initiative (PFI) scheme 
 
The PFI scheme is to design, build, maintain and operate (through facilities management and related 

services) a 128 bed Elective Care, Genetics and Diabetes Centre at the Trust.  The centre became 
operational in April 2007. The contract start date of the PFI scheme was 13 February 2007 and the end 
date is 12 February 2037. 
 

The facilities within the centre include Diabetes Research Facilities which are utilised by the University of 
Cambridge.  These facilities are funded by the University of Cambridge and the Medical Research Council 
and have no effect on the Trust’s cost structures. 
 
The contract requires the Trust to make a unitary payment that totals £9.1m annually.  It is charged 
monthly and adjusted for any penalties relating to adverse performance against output measures 

describing all relevant aspects of the contract.  The Trust has a voluntary break option subject to 12 
months’ written notice.  
 

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 

Gross PFI liabilities of which liabilities are due

In one year or less 1,997                 1,964                 

In more than one year but not more than two years 1,931                 1,997                 

In more than two years but not more than five years 5,189                 5,413                 

In more than five years 42,061               43,767               

51,178               53,141               

20.1 On-SoFP PFI obligations (finance lease element)

 

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 

In one year or less 9,423                 9,128                 

In more than one year but not more than two years 9,659                 9,356                 

In more than two years but not more than five years 30,450               29,497               

In more than five years 189,284             198,272             

238,816             246,253             

20.2 Total On-SoFP PFI commitments

Total future payments committed in respect of PFI arrangements

 
Under IFRS the £9.1m unitary charge is apportioned between the repayment of the liability, financing 
costs and the charges for services. The service charge is recognised in operating expenses under 
“Premises” and the finance costs are charged to finance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income.  

 

20.3 Analysis of amounts payable

2016/17 2015/16

£000 £000 

Unitary payment payable to PFI operator consisting of:

- Interest charge 2,793                 2,891                 

- Repayment of finance lease liability 1,964                 1,862                 

- Service element 2,075                 2,049                 

- Capital lifecycle maintenance 684                    680                    

- Contingent rent 1,612                 1,530                 

Total amount paid to service concession operator 9,128                 9,012                 

The Trust has not entered into any ‘off-Statement of Financial Position’ arrangements. 
 

 
21. Financial instruments 
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IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or 
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.  Due to the continuing service provider 
relationship that the Trust has with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and NHS England and the way 

those NHS organisations are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by 
business entities.  Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk 
than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. 
 

The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are 
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust 
in undertaking its activities. 
 
The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the Trust’s Standing Financial Instructions and policies agreed by the 

board of directors.  Treasury activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors. 
 
Currency risk 
 
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and 

liabilities being in the UK and sterling based.  The Trust has no overseas operations and therefore has low 
exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 

 
Credit risk 
 
The Trust can borrow within affordable limits and NHS Improvement will assess the affordability of 
material borrowing. The Trust can invest surplus funds in accordance with NHS Improvement's guidance 
on Managing Operating Cash.  This includes strict criteria on permitted institutions, including credit 
ratings from recognised agencies.  Financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational 

activities rather than being held to manage the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Trust's net operating income is received under legally binding contracts with local Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and NHS England, which are financed from resources voted annually by 

Parliament.  The Trust has financed capital expenditure from internally generated resources, and net 
borrowing of £65.1m which is within its affordable limits.  The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to 
significant liquidity risks. 
 
Market risk 
 
The main potential market risk to the Trust is interest rate risk.  The Trust's financial liabilities carry nil or 

fixed rates of interest.  Cash balances are held in interest bearing accounts for which the interest rate is 
linked to bank base rates and changes are notified to the Trust in advance. The Trust is not, therefore, 
exposed to significant interest-rate risk.   
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21.1 Financial assets by category

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Loans and 

receivables

Loans and 

receivables

£000 £000 

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 64,366               53,999               

Cash and cash equivalents 15,134               13,874               

Total 79,500               67,873               

21.2 Financial liabilities by category

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

Other financial 

liabilities

Other financial 

liabilities

£000 £000 

Borrowings excluding finance lease and PFI liabilities 212,560             147,457             

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts 51,178               53,141               

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 97,184               96,479               

Provisions under contract 5,464                 6,212                 

Total 366,386             303,289             

21.3 Maturity of financial liabilities

Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2016

£000 £000 

In one year or less 110,729             108,211             

In more than one year but not more than two years 11,264               9,601                 

In more than two years but not more than five years 143,732             79,358               

In more than five years 100,661             106,119             

Total 366,386             303,289             

21.4 Fair values of non-current financial liabilities as 31 March 2017

Book value Fair value 

£000 £000 

Provisions under contract 3,042                 3,042                 

Loans from Department of Health 203,434             203,434             

PFI 49,181               49,181               

255,657             255,657             

 
 

21.5 Fair values of non-current financial liabilities as 31 March 2016

Book value Fair value 

£000 £000 

Provisions under contract 3,842                 3,842                 

Loans from Department of Health 140,059             140,059             

PFI 51,177               51,177               

195,078             195,078             
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22. Losses and Special Payments

Losses and special payments (approved cases only)

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 March 2017 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2016

Total number of 

cases

Total value of 

cases

Total number of 

cases

Total value of 

cases

Number £000's Number £000's

Losses of cash due to

Overpayment of salaries etc. 1                        14                      7                        12                      

Bad debts and claims abandoned in relation to

Private patients 2                        33                      2                        18                      

Overseas visitors 3                        55                      18                      599                    

Other -                     -                     2                        3                        

Total losses 6                        102                    29                      632                    

Special Payments, Ex gratia payments in respect of

Loss of personal effects 157                    47                      167                    46                      

Personal injury with advice 8                        74                      12                      227                    

165                    121                    179                    273                    

 

 






	Annual report 2017 rgb-digital FRONT COVER
	Annual report 2017 rgb-digital INSIDE FRONT COVER
	FINAL approved Board of Directors 01062017 with comms amends
	Chair’s statement 
	2. Performance report
	Overview
	2.1 Purpose of the overview
	2.2 Statement from the Chief Executive 
	2.3 Purpose and history
	2.4 Key risks
	2.5 Going concern statement 
	Performance analysis
	2.6 Performance management approach
	2.7 Performance analysis for the year 
	2.8 Environmental matters, social, community and human rights issues
	2.9 Significant events after the balance sheet date
	2.10 Associate arrangements

	3. Accountability report 
	Directors report 
	3.1 Board of Directors 
	3.2 Board and committee effectiveness
	3.3 Trust Chair 
	3.4 Non-Executive Directors
	3.5 Executive directors
	3.6 Board advisors
	3.7 Register of Interest
	3.8 Appointment of Chair and Non-Executive Directors
	3.9 Non-Executive Directors’ expenses
	3.10 Attendance at board meetings 2016/17
	3.11 Audit Committee
	3.12 Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors
	3.13 Cost statement
	3.14 Better payment practice code
	3.15 Quality strategy
	3.16 Income statement 
	3.17 Statement regarding disclosure to auditors
	3.18 Patient care 
	3.19 Stakeholder engagement
	3.20 Trust membership 
	3.21 Council of Governors 
	3.22 Remuneration report
	3.23 Staff report 
	3.24 Code of governance 
	3.25 NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework
	3.26 Annual Governance Statement 
	3.27 Equality and diversity report
	3.28 Sustainability and climate change report 
	3.29 Other issues

	The quality report
	4.2.1 Priorities for quality improvement in 2017/18
	4.2.2 Statements of assurance from the board
	4.2.3 Reporting against core indicators


	CUH 2016-17 Accounts (signatures) 25.05.17
	Annual report 2017 rgb-digital BACK
	Blank Page

